# World Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology

World J Obstet Gynecol 2015 November 10; 4(4): 72-123





Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc

# World Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology

A peer-reviewed, online, open-access journal of obstetrics and gynecology

# Editorial Board

#### 2012-2016

The World Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology Editorial Board consists of 178 members, representing a team of worldwide experts in obstetrics and gynecology. They are from 40 countries, including Australia (6), Austria (2), Belgium (5), Brazil (5), Canada (2), Chile (1), China (9), Egypt (3), Finland (2), France (2), Germany (1), Greece (11), Hungary (1), India (3), Iran (3), Israel (6), Italy (13), Japan (6), Jordan (2), Lithuania (1), Malaysia (1), Mexico (1), Moldova (1), Netherlands (3), Nigeria (1), Norway (2), Poland (1), Portugal (1), Qatar (1), Saudi Arabia (3), Serbia (1), Slovenia (1), South Korea (3), Spain (4), Sweden (2), Thailand (3), Turkey (8), United Kingdom (10), United States (46), and Venezuela (1).

#### EDITOR-IN-CHIEF

Bo Jacobsson, Gothenburg

#### GUEST EDITORIAL BOARD MEMBERS

Wing P Chan, Taipei Chie-Pein Chen, Taipei Shi-Yann Cheng, Yulin Song-Nan Chow, Taipei Peng-Hui Wang, Taipei

#### MEMBERS OF THE EDITORIAL BOARD



Ashwini Chand, Melbourne Steven D Fleming, Brisbane Ankit Jain, Coffs Harbour Marjan Khajehei, Como Gavin Sacks, Sydney Jing Sun, Brisbane



Susanne Huber, Vienna Edgar Petru, Graz



Marc FD Baay, Antwerp Christophe Blockeel, Brussels Yves Jacquemyn, Edegem Ekaterine Tskitishvili, Liege Jan Baptist Vermorken, Edegem



Carlos KB Ferrari, Barra do Garças Wellington P Martins, Ribeirão Preto Fernando M Reis, Belo Horizonte Maria Inês Rosa, Criciúma Cicero de Andrade Urban, Curitiba



Emmanuel Bujold, *Québec* Paul James Hoskins, *Vancouver* 







Cherng-Jye Jeng, *Nanjing* Jian-Xin Li, *Nanjing* Ernest Hung Yu Ng, *Hong Kong* Dan Xie, *Guangzhou* 

China



Hesham E Abdel-Hady, Mansoura Ahmed S El Hefnawy, Mansoura Ahmed Nasr, Assiut



Johan O Fellman, Helsinki

Kari Juhani Syrjanen, Turku



Cherif Y Akladios, *Strasbourg* Souhail Alouini, *Orleans* 



Safaa H Al-Hasani, Luebeck



Georgios P Artsinevelos, Athens Byron Asimakopoulos, Alexandroupolis Anastasios Athanasopoulos, Patra Panagiotis Christopoulos, Athens Christos R Iavazzo, Athens Ioannis E Messinis, Larissa Athanasios PG Papatsoris, Athens Kitty Pavlakis, Athens Konstantinos A Toulis, Thessaloniki Panagiotis PT Tsikouras, Alexandroupolis Menelaos Zafrakas, Thessaloniki

#### Hungary

Jozsef Gabor Joo, Budapest



Chinmoy K Bose, Kolkata Pralhad Kushtagi, Mangalore



WJOG | www.wjgnet.com

#### Niraj N Mahajan, Mumbai



Hossein Fallahzadeh, Yazd Abbas A Ghaderi, Shiraz Ramesh Omranipour, Tehran



Zeev Blumenfeld, *Haifa* Sorina Grisaru-Granovsky, *Jerusalem* Alexander Ioscovich, *Jerusalem* Marwan Odeh, *Nahariya* Eyal Sheiner, *Beer-Sheva* Johnny S Younis, *Tiberias* 



SML Chamayou, Sant'Agata Li Battiati Federico Coccolini, Bergamo Erich Cosmi, Padua Vassilios Fanos, Cagliari Roberta Granese, Messina Anna Maria Marconi, Milano Filippo Murina, Milan Felice Petraglia, Siena Giuseppe Rizzo, Rome Emilio Sacco, Rome Giulio Aniello Santoro, Treviso Andrea Tinelli, Lece Emanuela Turillazzi, Foggia



Madoka Furuhashi, Nagoya Takeshi Maruo, Kobe Kaei Nasu, Oita Yuzuru Niibe, Sagamiahra Kenzo Sonoda, Fukuoka Yoshihito Yokoyama, Hirosaki



Moamar I Al-Jefout, Mutah Zouhair O Amarin, Irbid



Linas Rovas, Klaipeda



Malaysia

Geok Chin Tan, Kuala Lumpur



Alfonso Dueñas-González, Mexico City





#### Netherlands

Marieke J Claas, Utrecht Wendy Koster, Utrecht Arnold-Jan Kruse, Maastricht



Chibuike O Chigbu, Enugu



Andrej M Grjibovski, Oslo Svein Rasmussen, Bergen



Andrzej Wincewicz, Kielce



Renato Manuel Natal Jorge, Porto





Saudi Arabia

Ismail Al-Badawi, *Riyadh* Mamdoh Eskandar, *Abha* Hans-Juergen Schulten, *Jeddah* 



Serbia Miroslava G Gojnic Dugalic, Belgrade



Slovenia

Spela Smrkolj, Ljubljana



Kwang-Hyun Baek, Seongnam Min Hyung Jung, Seoul Sue Kyung Park, Seoul



J de la Torre Fernandez de Vega, *Tenerife* Antonio Pinero Madrona, *Murcia* Santiago Palacios, *Madrid*  Faustino R Perez-Lopez, Zaragoza



Eva Marie Wiberg-Itzel, Stockholm



Pisake NA Lumbiganon, Khon Kaen Vorapong Phupong, Bangkok Viroj Wiwanitkit, Bangkok



Metin Akbulut, Denizli Cem Baykal, Istanbul Husnu Celik, Elazig Cem Dane, Istanbul Polat Dursun, Ankara Erdin İlter, İstanbul Mehmet Kefeli, Samsun Kamile Kukulu, Antalya



Mohamed Abdel-fattah, Aberdeen Suha Deen, Nottingham Stergios K Doumouchtsis, London Mona A El-Bahrawy, London Alaa A El-Ghobashy, Wolverhampton Ayman AA Ewies, Birmingham Myra S Hunter, London Paul D Losty, Liverpool Tim Mark Reynolds, Burton-on-Trent Ariel Zosmer, London



Muktar H Aliyu, Nashville M Robyn Andersen, Seattle Priya R Bhosale, Houston Donald P Braun, Zion Chunxia Cao, Gainesville Wally A Carlo, *Birmingham* Linda R Chambliss, Phoenix Teresa P Diaz-Montes, Baltimore Steven M Donn, Ann Arbor Omar F Duenas, New York Marilyn B Escobedo, Oklahoma Robert Freedman, Detroit Sergio G Golombek, Valhall Michael P Goodman, Davis Diane M Harper, Kansas Matthew H Ho, Los Angeles Patricia B Hoyer, Tucson Mei-Hua Huang, Los Angeles William W Hurd, Cleveland Gabor B Huszar, New Haven Amer K Karam, Los Angeles Justin P Lavin, Akron Linda E May, Kansas Zaher Merhi, Bronx Nash S Moawad, Gainesville Lisa Eileen Moore, Albuquerque Robert D Moore, Atlanta



WJOG | www.wjgnet.com

**tar** ın, Doha David Gardner Mutch, St. Louis Nihar R Nayak, Palo Alto Anita L Nelson, Manhattan Beach Farr Nezhat, New York Robert W Powers, Pittsburgh Werner Schaefer, Pittsburgh Gerald Phillip Schatten, Pittsburgh Danny Joseph Schust, Columbia Hen Yitzhak Sela, New York Elizabeth S Ginsburg, New York Sherri Lynn Stewart, Atlanta Robert S Tan, Houston Ping Tang, Rochester Ihab Mohammed Usta, New York Jian-Jun Wei, Chicago Xiuquan Zhang, Salt Lake Chengquan Zhao, Pittsburgh Yulian Zhao, Baltimore Wenxin Zheng, Tucson



María E Aponte-Rueda, Caracas



# World Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology

#### Contents

Quarterly Volume 4 Number 4 November 10, 2015

#### **EDITORIAL**

72 Infertility and ovarian failure in celiac disease

Freeman HJ

#### **MINIREVIEWS**

- 77 Preeclampsia - What is to blame? The placenta, maternal cardiovascular system or both? Vinayagam D, Leslie K, Khalil A, Thilaganathan B
- 86 Universal screening for hemoglobinopathies in today's multi-ethnic societies: How and when Giordano PC
- 95 Emergency contraception: What is new? Kelekci S, Aydogmus S

#### **ORIGINAL ARTICLE**

#### **Retrospective Cohort Study**

102 Outcomes of surrogate pregnancies in California and hospital economics of surrogate maternity and newborn care

Nicolau Y, Purkeypile A, Merritt TA, Goldstein M, Oshiro B

#### SYSTEMATIC REVIEWS

108 Ovarian simple cysts in asymptomatic postmenopausal women detected at transvaginal ultrasound: A review of literature

Alcazar JL, Martinez N, Juez L, Caparros M, Salas A, Errasti T

#### **META-ANALYSIS**

113 Use of hyaluronic acid for sperm immobilisation and selection before intracytoplasmic sperm injection: A systematic review and meta-analysis

Craciunas L, Tsampras N, Kollmann M, Stirbu L, Raine-Fenning NJ



Contents	<i>World Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology</i> Volume 4 Number 4 November 10, 2015			
ABOUT COVER	Editorial Board Member of <i>World Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology</i> , Erich Cosmi, MD, PhD, Assistant Professor, Department of Child and Woman Health, Obstetrics and Gynecology Unit, University of Padua, Via Giustiniani n 3, 35128, Padua, Italy			
AIM AND SCOPE	<ul> <li>World Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology (World J Obstet Gynecol, WJOG, online ISSN 2218-6220, DOI: 10.5317) is a peer-reviewed open access academic journal that aims to guide clinical practice and improve diagnostic and therapeutic skills of clinicians.</li> <li>WJOG covers topics concerning pregnancy complications, obstetric surgical procedures, diagnostic imaging, endoscopy, reproductive endocrinology, tumors, pelvic diseases, evidence-based medicine, epidemiology and nursing.</li> <li>We encourage authors to submit their manuscripts to WJOG. We will give priority to manuscripts that are supported by major national and international foundations and those that are of great basic and clinical significance.</li> </ul>			
INDEXING/ABSTRACTING	World Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology is now	v indexed in Digital Object Identifier.		
FLYLEAF I-III	Editorial Board			
EDITORS FOR Respon THIS ISSUE Proofin	sible Assistant Editor: Xiang Li Responsible Electronic Editor: Cai-Hong Wang Proofing g Editor-in-Chief: Lian-Sheng Ma	sible Science Editor: Jin-Xin Kong g Editorial Office Director: Xin-Xia Song		
NAME OF JOURNAL World Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology ISSN ISSN 2218-6220 (online) LAUNCH DATE June 10, 2012 FREQUENCY Quarterly EDITOR-IN-CHIEF Bo Jacobsson, MD, PhD, Professor, Department Ob- stetrics and Gynecology, Sahlgrenska University Hospi- tal/Ostra, SE-416 85 Gothenburg, Sweden EDITORIAL OFFICE Jin-Lei Wang, Director Xiu-Xia Song, Vice Director World Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology	Room 903, Building D, Ocean International Center, No. 62 Dongsihuan Zhonglu, Chaoyang District, Beijing 100025, China Telephone: +86-10-85381891 Fax: +86-10-85381893 E-mail: editorialoffice@wignet.com Help Desk: http://www.wignet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx http://www.wignet.com <b>PUBLISHER</b> Baishideng Publishing Group Inc 8226 Regency Drive, Pleasanton, CA 94588, USA Telephone: +1-925-223-8242 Fax: +1-925-223-8243 E-mail: bpgoffice@wignet.com Help Desk: http://www.wignet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx http://www.wignet.com	COPYRIGHT © 2015 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. Articles pub- lished by this Open-Access journal are distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non- commercial License, which permits use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited, the use is non commercial and is otherwise in compliance with the license. SPECIAL STATEMENT All articles published in journals owned by the Baishideng Publishing Group (BPG) represent the views and opin- ions of their authors, and not the views, opinions or policies of the BPG, except where otherwise explicitly indicated. INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS Full instructions are available online at http://www. wjgnet.com/2218-6220/g_info_20100722175812.htm.		





Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.5317/wjog.v4.i4.72 World J Obstet Gynecol 2015 November 10; 4(4): 72-76 ISSN 2218-6220 (online) © 2015 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

EDITORIAL

### Infertility and ovarian failure in celiac disease

Hugh James Freeman

Hugh James Freeman, Department of Medicine (Gastroenterology), University of British Columbia, Vancouver V6T 1W5, Canada

Author contributions: Freeman HJ contributed all to this paper.

**Conflict-of-interest statement:** Freeman HJ declares no conflict of interest or potential conflict of interest related to this manuscript.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Correspondence to: Hugh James Freeman, MD, CM, FRCPC, FACP, Department of Medicine (Gastroenterology), University of British Columbia, 2211 Wesbrook, Mall, Vancouver V6T 1W5, Canada. hugfree@shaw.ca Telephone: +1-604-8227216 Fax: +1-604-822236

Received: April 7, 2015 Peer-review started: April 9, 2015 First decision: June 3, 2015 Revised: June 10, 2015 Accepted: July 29, 2015 Article in press: August 3, 2015 Published online: November 10, 2015

#### Abstract

Unexplained infertility in females may be a devastating event for the reproductive-aged female. However, infertility may be due to ovarian failure associated with celiac disease, an immune-mediated disorder that may have few or no symptoms and can be successfully treated. In some prospective serologically-based studies, over 4% of infertile females may prove to have celiac disease. Serological screening for celiac disease is relatively inexpensive and involves testing for antibodies to tissue transglutaminase. If positive, a small intestinal biopsy should be done to confirm the diagnosis. The initial treatment for this disorder is a gluten-free diet. To date, a number of reports have indicated that this treatment for celiac disease may result in successful pregnancy, in spite of prolonged periods of infertility. Celiac disease, when untreated, may also lead to several adverse events following pregnancy including increased risk of recurrent abortions, low birthweight and impaired fetal growth. Recent molecular and pathological studies from different laboratories suggest that altered placental function may be due to binding to cells in the trophoblast by tissue transglutaminase antibodies impairing embryo implantation and leading to failure of early pregnancy or retarded intrauterine growth.

Key words: Celiac disease; Infertility; Ovarian failure; Autoimmune disease; Polyglandular syndrome

© **The Author(s) 2015.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core tip:** Females with unexplained infertility should be screened for celiac disease. This involves use of a simple and inexpensive serological quantitative method for detection of tissue transglutaminase antibodies, a marker for celiac disease. If positive, biopsy evaluation should be done to determine if pathological features of untreated celiac disease are present in the small intestinal mucosa. A gluten-free diet may lead to effective management of celiac disease and may promote a favorable pregnancy outcome.

Freeman HJ. Infertility and ovarian failure in celiac disease. *World J Obstet Gynecol* 2015; 4(4): 72-76 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/2218-6220/full/v4/i4/72.htm DOI: http:// dx.doi.org/10.5317/wjog.v4.i4.72

#### INTRODUCTION

Infertility is a significant, even devastating clinical issue for some reproductive-aged women. Although infertility



may result from a number of factors, premature ovarian failure may be responsible. Ovarian failure normally occurs with the process of aging, premature failure of ovarian function may be defined as the failure of estrogen production by the human ovaries, usually before the age of 35 to 40 years. There may also be other significant long-term health consequences associated with premature ovarian failure including osteoporosis, heart disease, autoimmune disorders and increased risk of mortality<sup>[1]</sup>. There are many causes of premature ovarian failure in adults that need to be considered, including celiac disease.

# FACTORS ASSOCIATED WITH FEMALE INFERTILITY

A number of different factors may lead to investigation of altered female fertility and, traditionally, these may be considered anatomically to include local factors in the cervix (e.g., altered cervical mucus) and uterus (e.g., congenital uterine abnormalities), fallopian tubes (e.g., adhesions) as well as ovarian failure. Ovarian failure per se may have several causes, including polycystic ovary syndrome, hyperprolactinemia or hypothalamic amenorrhea, often associated with pituitary disorders, including tumors, or some medications. Ovulatory dysfunction may also occur in association with endocrine disorders, particularly those associated with an altered autoimmune process, including hypothyroidism or adrenal insufficiency (if together, Schmidt's syndrome, and when coupled with diabetes, Carpenter's syndrome). Either of these, but particularly autoimmune thyroiditis, may be frequently observed with celiac disease. Alternatively, an autoimmune polyglandular syndrome affecting several endocrine tissues can lead to ovarian failure. Polyendocrinopathycandiasis-ectodermal dystrophy syndrome (APECED) is considered a rare autosomal recessive disease caused by mutations in the autoimmune regulator (AIRE) gene. Typical clinical findings include candidiasis, Addision's disease, hypoparathyroidism, diabetes, alopecia, vitiligo, ectodermal dystrophy, autoimmune thyroiditis, pernicious anemia, chronic active hepatitis, celiac disease and premature ovarian failure<sup>[2]</sup>.

#### **CELIAC DISEASE**

Celiac disease is an immunologically-mediated glutensensitive small intestinal mucosal disorder primarily detected in genetically-susceptible persons<sup>[3,4]</sup>. Gluten peptides found in grains appear to be a triggering environmental factor following dietary exposure. Mechanisms involved in the pathogenesis of celiac disease are beyond the scope of this article, but have been recently detailed<sup>[4]</sup>. Chronic diarrhea, malabsorption of major and minor nutrients, and weight loss may occur. Development of serum antibodies to tissue transglutaminase also occurs in celiac disease and quantitation of these antibodies is a useful method for serological screening of populations or case finding in clinical practice. Endoscopic biopsies of the proximal small intestinal mucosa in untreated celiac disease show typical inflammatory changes along with moderate to severe alterations in mucosal architecture. Usually, these clinical, serological and pathological changes in untreated celiac disease respond to a gluten-free diet. Recognition of celiac disease is important because of the potential for later development of other comorbidities, including osteoporosis and malignancy. Extra-intestinal or autoimmune processes may also occur, including dermatological changes, such as dermatitis herpetiformis, and endocrine disorders, including hypothyroidism associated with autoimmune thyroiditis. Often, these extra-intestinal features may be the presenting symptoms to an underlying small intestinal mucosal disorder that may be clinically silent.

#### **CLINICALLY SILENT CELIAC DISEASE**

Celiac disease has now become more often appreciated to have few or limited intestinal symptoms. Minimal diarrhea without weight loss may be evident. Often, females with celiac disease and reproductive disorders have no overt symptoms, or perhaps, only decreased energy with iron deficiency or, if more significant, iron deficiency-associated anemia<sup>[5]</sup>. As a result, impaired female fertility or changes that include delayed onset of menses, amenorrhea and early menopause may conceivably be the initial clinical presentation that eventually leads to recognition of underlying celiac disease. Owing to the increased ability to serologically screen for celiac disease, up to 1% to 2% of individuals in the general population in some countries have been detected with this disorder, especially in women of childbearing age<sup>[4]</sup>. Screening biopsies may also be done and these studies have demonstrated that young adult females, in particular, are the most common adult age group first diagnosed with celiac disease<sup>[6]</sup>. Conceivably, premature ovarian failure leading to infertility could be reflect underlying immune-mediated mechanisms occurring in celiac disease, or alternatively, negative nutritional consequences of impaired absorption in celiac disease per se.

#### CELIAC DISEASE AND POLYCYSTIC OVARY SYNDROME

An important consideration in the broad differential diagnosis of premature ovarian failure is the polycystic ovary syndrome, initially described by Stein and Leventhal in 1935. Since then, this syndrome has been extensively investigated, and appears to be very heterogeneous with clinical features that include menstrual changes, chronic anovulation and excessive androgen levels, often with hirsutism. Anatomically, large cystic ovaries are often detected, but in up to

Baishideng®

WJOG | www.wjgnet.com

#### Freeman HJ. Infertility in celiac disease

Table 1 Celiac screening studies in females with infertility							
Number <sup>1</sup>	Country	Celiac disease <sup>2</sup>	Ref.				
150 (98)	Finland	2.7% (4.1%)	[12]				
99	Italy	3.03%	[14]				
192	Israel	2.65%	[15]				
47	Finland	2.1%	[16]				
$200^{3}$	Italy	2.5%	[18]				
51	United States	5.9%	[20]				
29	Brazil	10%	[21]				

<sup>1</sup>Number with infertility (number in parentheses, unexplained infertility subgroup); <sup>2</sup>Celiac disease suspected with serological screening, usually with tissue transglutaminase or endomysial antibodies, and confirmation with small intestinal biopsy; <sup>3</sup>Infertility group for assisted reproduction technology.

a third of women with the same clinical features, the ovaries appear to be normal. Gonadotropin secretion appears to be abnormal with elevated levels of luteinizing hormone, or LH, combined with normal or low levels of follicle stimulating hormone, or FSH. In some, a mild elevation of serum testosterone is evident. The cause of the polycystic ovary syndrome still requires clarification. An earlier study suggested that the polycystic ovary syndrome may also occur in celiac disease<sup>[7]</sup>. Unfortunately, the data needed to fully examine this relationship (even with development of easy-to-perform serological screening measures) are currently not available. Some patients labeled with the polycystic ovary syndrome, especially with normalappearing ovaries, could also conceivably have occult celiac disease, potentially amenable to a gluten-free diet.

## ALTERED FEMALE FERTILITY IN CELIAC DISEASE

First cases noted a possible relationship between celiac disease and female infertility<sup>[8,9]</sup>. In one, subsequent treatment with a gluten-free diet resulted in pregnancy, confirming observations in 2 other reports<sup>[10,11]</sup>. Later, more extensive population-based studies were done to explore this potential relationship (Table 1). A detailed serological evaluation of 150 women with infertility due to all causes from Tampere, Finland demonstrated an apparent overall rate of celiac disease (i.e., 2.7%)<sup>[12]</sup>, (although subsequent serological screening studies from Finland in otherwise healthy subjects have revealed a relatively high rate of celiac disease in Finland compared to other countries<sup>[13]</sup>). For women with unexplained fertility, however, this study also reported rates of detection of celiac disease of over 4%<sup>[14]</sup>. Similar results were later reported in 99 couples from Northern Sardinia<sup>[15]</sup>, estimated to be a rate of approximately 3%. Using more modern serological assays, a study from Israel employed assays for both tissue transglutaminase and endomysial antibodies in 192 Arab females with unexplained infertility. Among these, positive serological tests were noted in 2.65%<sup>[15]</sup>.

In all, small intestinal biopsies were positive for changes of celiac disease, if serological studies were positive. Like most serological screening studies of populations, however, biopsies in serologically negative patients were not defined. Other studies have provided different results. Interestingly, a different center in Finland<sup>[16]</sup> could not confirm earlier study results from the same country<sup>[12]</sup>. A Czech investigation reported increased serum antibody positivity for celiac disease in women with infertility, but biopsies were not reported<sup>[17]</sup>. In a study from Italy that evaluated a group of infertile women specifically referred for assisted reproduction, a significant association with serology could not be defined<sup>[18]</sup> while a Swedish population-based cohort study of biopsy-defined celiac disease suggested that fertility was not decreased until the final 2 years preceding diagnosis<sup>[19]</sup>. Data from the United States demonstrated a prevalence of celiac disease in 5.9% of patients with unexplained infertility<sup>[20]</sup>, while a Brazilian study evaluated 170 infertile women screened for tissue transglutaminase antibodies followed by small bowel biopsies in serologically-positive patients<sup>[21]</sup>. In this aforementioned Brazilian study, the prevalence of celiac disease was 10.3% in women with unexplained fertility. This contrasted with a prospective primary care study of over 2 million women from the United Kingdom where no overall impairment in fertility was recorded in celiac disease compared to non-celiac disease women<sup>[22]</sup>. However, in the same study<sup>[22]</sup>, infertility rates were over 40% higher in celiac disease patients between ages 25 to 29 years compared to a similar age-matched population without celiac disease. Finally, a recent report<sup>[23]</sup> describing a meta-analysis in 105 relevant studies reported that "all-cause" infertility was 3.5 times higher in women with celiac disease compared to controls while "unexplained infertility" in women with celiac disease was 6 times higher than controls. Thus, recent population-based studies of women with unexplained infertility suggest a significant occurrence of occult celiac disease. Moreover, some of these celiac patients were reported to have a successful pregnancy following treatment with a gluten-free diet.

#### OTHER FERTILITY-RELATED CHANGES IN CELIAC DISEASE

Delayed onset of menses, amenorrhea, early menopause, repeated abortions and diminished pregnancy rates in celiac disease could indicate a possible impairment in fertility. In 74 patients from the United Kingdom<sup>[10]</sup>, the reproductive period appeared to be more prolonged for celiacs on a gluten-free diet compared to celiacs not on a gluten-free diet. Otherwise, maternal health did not appear to be significantly altered. Nonetheless, a lower incidence of spontaneous abortions was noted in celiacs treated with a gluten-free diet. These findings were supported by a subsequent study from Italy<sup>[24]</sup>. A delay in the onset of menarche



WJOG www.wjgnet.com

(13.5 years vs 12.1 years) was also noted compared to age- and "sexual behavior-matched" controls. Amenorrhea and repeated abortions were more frequent in the celiac group, but menopause onset was not affected. A Polish study<sup>[25]</sup> suggested that the age of menarche in celiacs could be regulated by a gluten-free diet, while an Italian study<sup>[26]</sup> suggested that menarche was mainly impacted by the female's maternal history of menses onset. A United Kingdom study showed that celiacs may have limited fertility with a higher incidence of stillbirths and perinatal death<sup>[27]</sup>. However, the rate of miscarriage appeared to be improved after diagnosis of celiac disease and treatment with a gluten-free diet<sup>[27]</sup>. Finally, in a report from Brazil<sup>[28]</sup>, gluten-free diet therapy appeared to be instrumental in promoting a positive nutritional state, relevant to reproductive health in patients with celiac disease.

Some earlier studies have evaluated pregnancy outcomes in celiac disease<sup>[29,30]</sup>. If untreated, celiac disease is associated with an increased risk of recurrent miscarriage and premature deliveries, along with reduced fetal growth and term birthweight<sup>[29]</sup>. In an Italian study<sup>[30]</sup> of 94 untreated and 31 treated celiac patients, relative risks of either abortion or delivery of a low birthweight infant were increased while breast feeding duration was reduced. The investigators noted improvement with a gluten-free diet. Similar observations have been recorded by others  $^{\!\scriptscriptstyle [31]}\!\!$  . Lower birthweight and retarded intrauterine growth have been recorded from European centers<sup>[32-35]</sup>. For example, in a further Italian study<sup>[33]</sup>, celiac disease was more common than most diseases normally screened for during pregnancy in their health care facility. In another European evaluation<sup>[34]</sup>, undiagnosed maternal celiac disease appeared to be a far greater risk factor than diagnosed celiac disease. However, a later report was not able to confirm an unfavorable pregnancy result<sup>[36]</sup>. Later studies also suggested that celiac disease in the father was not a risk factor for an adverse outcome of the pregnancy<sup>[37,38]</sup>.

#### PLACENTAL STUDIES

The precise mechanism for adverse pregnancy outcomes are not clear but have been evaluated to a limited extent. Placentas of some mothers affected with celiac disease, in particular, may be abnormal. Using immunohistochemical methods and in situ hybridization, tissue transglutaminase expression and apoptosis were increased in trophoblast cells<sup>[39]</sup>. This suggested a possible injury mechanism in both fetal and placental portions of the placenta<sup>[39]</sup>. Maternal celiac disease autoantibodies may bind directly to the syncytiotrophoblast and inhibit placental tissue transglutaminase activity leading to an impaired placenta<sup>[40]</sup>. Other studies in female celiacs have raised the issue of early pregnancy loss due to altered coagulation affecting placental or fetal microvascular function<sup>[41]</sup>. Finally, binding of antibodies to tissue transglutaminase by the trophoblast might represent a crucial mechanism causing impaired embryo implantation and pregnancy outcome in pregnant celiacs<sup>[42]</sup>. Additional studies are needed to explore these intriguing early findings in celiac disease.

#### CONCLUSION

A preponderance of evidence from multiple studies indicates that infertility or ovarian failure in females may be increased in immune-mediated disorders, including celiac disease. In celiac disease, an immune-mediated small intestinal mucosal disorder is triggered by glutencontaining peptides found in food grains. The primary treatment of celiac disease involves administration of a strict gluten-free diet. In females with untreated celiac disease and infertility, successful pregnancy may occur solely after treatment of the celiac disease with a gluten-free diet. Widespread use of serological screening in different populations suggests that celiac disease may occur in 4% to 10% of females with unexplained infertility. Serological screening using tissue transglutaminase antibodies represents a very inexpensive method for evaluation, and if positive, should be followed by small intestinal biopsies to define the presence of celiac disease and lead to treatment.

#### REFERENCES

- Kovanci E, Schutt AK. Premature ovarian failure: clinical presentation and treatment. *Obstet Gynecol Clin North Am* 2015; 42: 153-161 [PMID: 25681846 DOI: 10.1016/j.ogc.2014.10.004]
- 2 Fierabracci A, Bizzarri C, Palma A, Milillo A, Bellacchio E, Cappa M. A novel heterozygous mutation of the AIRE gene in a patient with autoimmune polyendocrinopathy-candidiasis-ectodermal dystrophy syndrome (APECED). *Gene* 2012; 511: 113-117 [PMID: 23000069 DOI: 10.1016/j.gene.2012.09.029]
- 3 Freeman HJ. Celiac disease: a disorder emerging from antiquity, its evolving classification and risk, and potential new treatment paradigms. *Gut Liver* 2015; 9: 28-37 [PMID: 25547088 DOI: 10.5009/gnl14288]
- Gujral N, Freeman HJ, Thomson AB. Celiac disease: prevalence, diagnosis, pathogenesis and treatment. *World J Gastroenterol* 2012; 18: 6036-6059 [PMID: 23155333 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v18.i42.6036]
- 5 Freeman HJ. Iron deficiency anemia in celiac disease. World J Gastroenterol 2015; In press
- Freeman HJ. Detection of adult celiac disease with duodenal screening biopsies over a 30-year period. *Can J Gastroenterol* 2013; 27: 405-408 [PMID: 23862172]
- 7 Kuscu NK, Akcali S, Kucukmetin NT. Celiac disease and polycystic ovary syndrome. *Int J Gynaecol Obstet* 2002; 79: 149-150 [PMID: 12427401]
- 8 Morris JS, Adjukiewicz AB, Read AE. Coeliac infertility: an indication for dietary gluten restriction? *Lancet* 1970; 1: 213-214 [PMID: 4189008]
- 9 Wilson C, Eade OE, Elstein M, Wright R. Subclinical coeliac disease and infertility. *Br Med J* 1976; 2: 215-216 [PMID: 974499]
- 10 McCann JP, Nicholls DP, Verzin JA. Adult coeliac disease presenting with infertility. Ulster Med J 1988; 57: 88-89 [PMID: 3420728]
- 11 Ferguson R, Holmes GK, Cooke WT. Coeliac disease, fertility, and pregnancy. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 1982; 17: 65-68 [PMID: 7134839]
- 12 Collin P, Vilska S, Heinonen PK, Hällström O, Pikkarainen P. Infertility and coeliac disease. *Gut* 1996; **39**: 382-384 [PMID:

WJOG | www.wjgnet.com

#### Freeman HJ. Infertility in celiac disease

8949641]

- 13 Mustalahti K, Catassi C, Reunanen A, Fabiani E, Heier M, McMillan S, Murray L, Metzger MH, Gasparin M, Bravi E, Mäki M. The prevalence of celiac disease in Europe: results of a centralized, international mass screening project. *Ann Med* 2010; 42: 587-595 [PMID: 21070098 DOI: 10.3109/07853890.2010.505931]
- 14 Meloni GF, Dessole S, Vargiu N, Tomasi PA, Musumeci S. The prevalence of coeliac disease in infertility. *Hum Reprod* 1999; 14: 2759-2761 [PMID: 10548618]
- 15 Shamaly H, Mahameed A, Sharony A, Shamir R. Infertility and celiac disease: do we need more than one serological marker? *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* 2004; 83: 1184-1188 [PMID: 15548153]
- 16 Kolho KL, Tiitinen A, Tulppala M, Unkila-Kallio L, Savilahti E. Screening for coeliac disease in women with a history of recurrent miscarriage or infertility. *Br J Obstet Gynaecol* 1999; **106**: 171-173 [PMID: 10426684]
- 17 Vanciková Z, Chlumecký V, Sokol D, Horáková D, Hamsíková E, Fucíková T, Janatková I, Ulcová-Gallová Z, Stěpán J, Límanová Z, Dvorák M, Kocna P, Sánchez D, Tucková L, Tlaskalová-Hogenová H. The serologic screening for celiac disease in the general population (blood donors) and in some high-risk groups of adults (patients with autoimmune diseases, osteoporosis and infertility) in the Czech republic. *Folia Microbiol* (Praha) 2002; 47: 753-758 [PMID: 12630332]
- 18 Tiboni GM, de Vita MG, Faricelli R, Giampietro F, Liberati M. Serological testing for celiac disease in women undergoing assisted reproduction techniques. *Hum Reprod* 2006; 21: 376-379 [PMID: 16172142]
- 19 Zugna D, Richiardi L, Akre O, Stephansson O, Ludvigsson JF. A nationwide population-based study to determine whether coeliac disease is associated with infertility. *Gut* 2010; **59**: 1471-1475 [PMID: 20947882 DOI: 10.1136/gut.2010.219030]
- 20 Choi JM, Lebwohl B, Wang J, Lee SK, Murray JA, Sauer MV, Green PH. Increased prevalence of celiac disease in patients with unexplained infertility in the United States. *J Reprod Med* 2011; 56: 199-203 [PMID: 21682114]
- 21 Machado AP, Silva LR, Zausner B, Oliveira Jde A, Diniz DR, de Oliveira J. Undiagnosed celiac disease in women with infertility. J Reprod Med 2013; 58: 61-66 [PMID: 23447921]
- 22 Dhalwani NN, West J, Sultan AA, Ban L, Tata LJ. Women with celiac disease present with fertility problems no more often than women in the general population. *Gastroenterology* 2014; 147: 1267-1274.e1; quiz e13-14 [PMID: 25157666 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2014.08.0325]
- 23 Singh P, Arora S, Lal S, Strand TA, Makharia GK. Celiac Disease in Women With Infertility: A Meta-Analysis. *J Clin Gastroenterol* 2015 Jan 1; Epub ahead of print [PMID: 25564410]
- 24 Molteni N, Bardella MT, Bianchi PA. Obstetric and gynecological problems in women with untreated celiac sprue. *J Clin Gastroenterol* 1990; **12**: 37-39 [PMID: 2303686]
- 25 **Rujner J**. Age at menarche in girls with celiac disease. *Ginekol Pol* 1999; **70**: 359-362 [PMID: 10462981]
- 26 Sferlazzas C, Arrigo T, Salzano G, Pellegrino S, La Fauci G, Rulli I, Magazzù G, De Luca F. Menarcheal age in celiac disease may not be delayed and may be irrespective of age at diagnosis and dietary management. *J Endocrinol Invest* 2008; **31**: 432-435 [PMID: 18560261]
- 27 Sher KS, Mayberry JF. Female fertility, obstetric and gynaecological history in coeliac disease. A case control study. *Digestion* 1994; 55:

243-246 [PMID: 8063029]

- 28 Kotze LM. Gynecologic and obstetric findings related to nutritional status and adherence to a gluten-free diet in Brazilian patients with celiac disease. *J Clin Gastroenterol* 2004; 38: 567-574 [PMID: 15232359]
- 29 **Ogborn AD**. Pregnancy in patients with coeliac disease. *Br J Obstet Gynaecol* 1975; **82**: 293-296 [PMID: 1125150]
- 30 Ciacci C, Cirillo M, Auriemma G, Di Dato G, Sabbatini F, Mazzacca G. Celiac disease and pregnancy outcome. Am J Gastroenterol 1996; 91: 718-722 [PMID: 8677936]
- 31 Smecuol E, Mauriño E, Vazquez H, Pedreira S, Niveloni S, Mazure R, Boerr L, Bai JC. Gynaecological and obstetric disorders in coeliac disease: frequent clinical onset during pregnancy or the puerperium. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 1996; 8: 63-89 [PMID: 8900911]
- 32 Nørgård B, Fonager K, Sørensen HT, Olsen J. Birth outcomes of women with celiac disease: a nationwide historical cohort study. *Am J Gastroenterol* 1999; 94: 2435-2440 [PMID: 10484005]
- 33 Martinelli P, Troncone R, Paparo F, Torre P, Trapanese E, Fasano C, Lamberti A, Budillon G, Nardone G, Greco L. Coeliac disease and unfavourable outcome of pregnancy. *Gut* 2000; 46: 332-335 [PMID: 10673293]
- 34 Ludvigsson JF, Montgomery SM, Ekbom A. Celiac disease and risk of adverse fetal outcome: a population-based cohort study. *Gastroenterology* 2005; 129: 454-463 [PMID: 16083702]
- 35 Khashan AS, Henriksen TB, Mortensen PB, McNamee R, McCarthy FP, Pedersen MG, Kenny LC. The impact of maternal celiac disease on birthweight and preterm birth: a Danish population-based cohort study. *Hum Reprod* 2010; 25: 528-534 [PMID: 19939833]
- 36 Greco L, Veneziano A, Di Donato L, Zampella C, Pecoraro M, Paladini D, Paparo F, Vollaro A, Martinelli P. Undiagnosed coeliac disease does not appear to be associated with unfavourable outcome of pregnancy. *Gut* 2004; 53: 149-151 [PMID: 14684590]
- 37 Ludvigsson JF, Montgomery SM, Ekbom A. Coeliac disease in the father and risk of adverse pregnancy outcome: a population-based cohort study. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 2006; **41**: 178-185 [PMID: 16484123]
- 38 Khashan AS, Kenny LC, McNamee R, Mortensen PB, Pedersen MG, McCarthy FP, Henriksen TB. Undiagnosed coeliac disease in a father does not influence birthweight and preterm birth. *Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol* 2010; 24: 363-369 [PMID: 20618726]
- 39 Hadziselimovic F, Geneto R, Buser M. Celiac disease, pregnancy, small for gestational age: role of extravillous trophoblast. *Fetal Pediatr Pathol* 2007; 26: 125-134 [PMID: 17886023]
- 40 Anjum N, Baker PN, Robinson NJ, Aplin JD. Maternal celiac disease autoantibodies bind directly to syncytiotrophoblast and inhibit placental tissue transglutaminase activity. *Reprod Biol Endocrinol* 2009; 7: 16 [PMID: 19228395 DOI: 10.1186/1477-7827-7-16]
- 41 Ciacci C, Tortora R, Scudiero O, Di Fiore R, Salvatore F, Castaldo G. Early pregnancy loss in celiac women: The role of genetic markers of thrombophilia. *Dig Liver Dis* 2009; **41**: 717-720 [PMID: 19395327 DOI: 10.1016/j.dld.2009.02.050]
- 42 Di Simone N, Silano M, Castellani R, Di Nicuolo F, D'Alessio MC, Franceschi F, Tritarelli A, Leone AM, Tersigni C, Gasbarrini G, Silveri NG, Caruso A, Gasbarrini A. Anti-tissue transglutaminase antibodies from celiac patients are responsible for trophoblast damage via apoptosis in vitro. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2010; 105: 2254-2261 [PMID: 20571491 DOI: 10.1038/ajg.2010.233]

P- Reviewer: Blumenfeld Z, McCarthy RJ, Rodrigo L S- Editor: Ji FF L- Editor: A E- Editor: Wu HL





WJOG www.wjgnet.com



Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.5317/wjog.v4.i4.77 World J Obstet Gynecol 2015 November 10; 4(4): 77-85 ISSN 2218-6220 (online) © 2015 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

MINIREVIEWS

# Preeclampsia - What is to blame? The placenta, maternal cardiovascular system or both?

Dimuthu Vinayagam, Karin Leslie, Asma Khalil, Baskaran Thilaganathan

Dimuthu Vinayagam, Karin Leslie, Asma Khalil, Baskaran Thilaganathan, Fetal Maternal Medicine Unit, Lanesborough Wing, St George's Hospital, Tooting, London SW17 0QT, United Kingdom

Author contributions: All authors contributed equally to the preparation of this manuscript; The preparation of the manuscript, tables and figures was done by Vinayagam D and Leslie K; Khalil A provided further input and guidance to the preparation of the manuscript; Thilaganathan B designed the outline of the manuscript and coordinated the writing and revision of the manuscript prior to final submission.

**Conflict-of-interest statement:** The authors report no conflict of interest with regards to the contents of this minireview.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Correspondence to: Baskaran Thilaganathan, MD, PhD, FRCOG, Professor of Fetal Medicine, Fetal Maternal Medicine Unit, Lanesborough Wing, St George's Hospital, Tooting, London SW17 0QT, United Kingdom. basky@pobox.com Telephone: +44-20-87250071 Fax: +44-20-87250079

Received: May 29, 2015 Peer-review started: June 3, 2015 First decision: August 4, 2015 Revised: September 3, 2015 Accepted: October 1, 2015 Article in press: October 8, 2015 Published online: November 10, 2015

#### Abstract

Preeclampsia (PE) is a pregnancy-specific syndrome,

complicating 2%-8% of pregnancies. PE is a major cause of maternal mortality throughout the world with 60000 maternal deaths attributed to hypertensive disorders of pregnancy. PE also results in fetal morbidity due to prematurity and fetal growth restriction. The precise aetiology of PE remains an enigma with multiple theories including a combination of environmental, immunological and genetic factors. The conventional and leading hypotheses for the initial insult in PE is inadequate trophoblast invasion which is thought to result in incomplete remodelling of uterine spiral arteries leading to placental ischaemia, hypoxia and thus oxidative stress. The significant heterogeneity observed in pre-eclampsia cannot be solely explained by the placental model alone. Herein we critically evaluate the clinical (risk factors, placental blood flow and biomarkers) and pathological (genetic, molecular, histological) correlates for PE. Furthermore, we discuss the role played by the (dysfunctional) maternal cardiovascular system in the aetiology of PE. We review the evidence that demonstrates a role for both the placenta and the cardiovascular system in early- and late-onset PE and highlight some of the key differences between these two distinct disease entities.

Key words: Preeclampsia; Placenta; Maternal cardiac function; Cardiovascular; Aetiology

© **The Author(s) 2015.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core tip:** The conventional paradigm is that preeclampsia (PE) is solely due to placental dysfunction. However not all cases of placental dysfunction result in the syndrome of PE. Equally, placental dysfunction - as evidenced by impaired uterine artery Doppler indices, low birth weight and abnormal histology - is not always present in PE. Therefore, the heterogeneity observed in PE cannot be solely explained by placental dysfunction. There is now strong evidence supporting the role of the maternal cardiovascular system in PE. In this minireview, we evaluate the evidence supporting a dual

www.wjgnet.com

aetiology of PE, involving both the placenta and the maternal cardiovascular system.

Vinayagam D, Leslie K, Khalil A, Thilaganathan B. Preeclampsia - What is to blame? The placenta, maternal cardiovascular system or both? *World J Obstet Gynecol* 2015; 4(4): 77-85 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/2218-6220/full/v4/i4/77.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.5317/wjog.v4.i4.77

Preeclampsia (PE) is a pregnancy-specific syndrome, complicating 2%-8% of pregnancies<sup>[1]</sup>. PE is a major cause of maternal mortality throughout the world. Over half a million women die during or after childbirth every year, and it is estimated that 60000 of these maternal deaths worldwide are attributable to hypertensive disorders of pregnancy<sup>[1,2]</sup>. In the United Kingdom, PE/eclampsia was the fourth leading cause of direct maternal deaths between 2009-2011<sup>[3]</sup>. In the triennium 2009-2011, 10 deaths in the United Kingdom were attributable to PE, giving a mortality rate of 0.42 per 100000<sup>[3]</sup>, considerably lower than the mortality figures worldwide. The management of hypertension in conjunction with the use of national and local guidelines are credited with the reduction in morbidity and mortality observed in the developed world.

PE can also result in morbidity to the fetus, including fetal growth restriction, placental abruption and stillbirth. In addition, there is a considerable financial burden as a result of increased antenatal surveillance, investigations and hospital admissions along with an increased risk of operative intervention and peripartum monitoring. Following delivery, prematurity and the associated care costs, both in the short and long term, further contribute to the financial burdens associated with PE. At present, the only recognised cure for PE is delivery of the placenta. As a result, PE is the leading cause for iatrogenic preterm birth<sup>[4]</sup>, which is associated with greater neonatal morbidity than delivery at term.

The importance and magnitude of PE on maternal health and neonatal morbidity is well accepted. Despite this being such an important disease, our knowledge of its aetiology is still incomplete. Forming a better understanding will aid us in making an accurate diagnosis, perform better screening and improve our ability to triage disease severity, offer targeted preventative and therapeutic measures and formulate appropriate short- and long-term postpartum management plans.

PE is a heterogenous disease exhibiting a diverse range of both fetal and maternal disease presentations. At present, we aim to identify and diagnose PE based on organ dysfunction both in the mother and in the fetus. The timing of onset of PE is as diverse as its organ involvement and can occur from the late second trimester, through to term and can even present in the postnatal period.

Although often classified as mild, moderate and severe, a newer and perhaps more relevant method of clinical classification would be based upon timing of onset. Early onset PE is thus defined as PE occurring prior to and requiring delivery before 34 wk gestation and late onset PE developing and requiring delivery after this gestational age. There are distinct differences between these two types of PE, in terms of their pathophysiological basis, effects on mother and fetus as well as their long term implications. Late PE accounts for approximately 75% of cases, whilst the remaining 25% are early onset PE<sup>[5,6]</sup>.

Ten percent to fifteen percent of pregnant women will develop some form of hypertensive disease that requires further assessment and follow up. Currently, United Kingdom guidelines on screening for identification of those at high risk of developing PE is performed in the first trimester and is based on maternal demographics and obstetric/medical risk factors<sup>[7]</sup>. The NICE model recommends commencing preventative measures (*e.g.*, low dose aspirin) and formulation of an appropriate antenatal management plan in high risk women. However the NICE model categorises more than 60% of women as high risk, but predicts less than 30% of those destined to develop PE<sup>[8]</sup>.

#### PATHOPHYSIOLOGY - THE ROLE OF THE PLACENTA

The precise pathophysiological basis of PE remains an enigma with multiple, plausible aetiological theories involving a combination of environmental, immunological and genetic factors.

The conventional, leading hypotheses, which has stood the test of time, for the initial pathophysiological insult in PE is inadequate trophoblast invasion and thus incomplete remodelling of uterine spiral arteries This leads to placental ischaemia, hypoxia and thus oxidative stress<sup>[9,10]</sup>. The placental hypoxaemia sets off a biochemical cascade of angiogenic/antiangionic factors which leads to subsequent endothelial cell dysfunction with its observed maternal signs and symptoms of PE. Whilst placental hypoxaemia and the subsequent oxidative stress is a significant contributing factor, we acknowledge that a definitive link between PE and placental hypoxia is not confirmed and further research is required.

However not every pregnancy characterised by abnormal placentation results in PE - fetal growth restriction is one such example in where there is suboptimal placentation with detrimental fetal effects but minimal maternal effects. Others will go on to develop the syndrome of PE which is characterised by hypertension and proteinuria and multiple organ involvement. One possible reason for the development of PE is that there is a concurrent maladaption of the maternal cardiovascular system along with abnormal placentation, and this predisposes an individual to developing PE. This would also explain why not all women with poor placentation with its sequalae (such as fetal growth restriction) develop PE; their cardiovascular system adapts appropriately to the ongoing pregnancy and associated haemodynamic changes.

# IS PE SOLELY DUE TO PLACENTAL DYSFUNCTION?

The development of PE does not necessarily require a uterus or indeed a fetus, as the condition has been reported in abdominal<sup>[11]</sup> and molar pregnancies<sup>[12]</sup> respectively. However, a placenta is essential for the disease to occur, and is therefore central in the pathogenesis. Furthermore, it is well documented that the cure for PE is delivery of the placenta, further supporting the crucial role played by the placenta in the development of PE.

The paradigm is that the "placenta causes PE". Whilst we firmly believe that the placenta is a prerequisite and therefore crucial to the development of PE, herein we critically review the evidence that the placenta is indeed the only organ of causality in PE.

#### CLINICAL EVIDENCE FOR THE AETIOLOGY OF PE

The majority of the evidence for the placental origin hypothesis of PE is based on the clinical features of the disorder. Broadly speaking, they constitute clinical risk factors, placental blood flow evaluation, fetal growth restriction and placental biomarkers.

#### **Risk factors for PE**

Both PE and fetal growth restriction (FGR) are thought to share clinical risk factors such as increased maternal age, ethnic origin, increased body mass index (BMI), diabetes and other co-morbidities. These associations are conventionally advocated by national guidelines<sup>[7,13]</sup> as a method to screen routine populations for their risk of developing PE. However, analysis of data from 40000 pregnancies collected for the World Health Organization Antenatal care trial<sup>[14]</sup> showed that surprisingly, PE and fetal growth restriction had different risk factor profiles. Mothers with PE compared with those with fetal growth restriction were more likely to have a history of diabetes, renal or cardiac disease, chronic hypertension, previous PE, increased BMI and extremes of maternal age. Conversely, fetal growth restriction was associated with higher risk of low birth weight in previous pregnancies, but not with previous PE. The same analysis demonstrated that PE

and gestational hypertension shared many risk factors - conventionally associated with cardiovascular disease in the non-pregnant population. These data infer that the aetiology of PE is not necessarily as a result of placental dysfunction.

#### Placental blood flow

The pathological hallmark of placental insufficiency is incomplete spiral artery remodelling, and this is seen in both fetal growth restriction as well as in some, but not all cases of PE. Uterine artery Doppler waveform studies have been shown to aid in the prediction of pregnancies that will be complicated by fetal growth restriction or  $PE^{[8,15-17]}$ . Increased uterine artery resistance indices are related to incomplete trophoblast invasion of maternal spiral arteries, which results in a high-resistance placental circulation and therefore an underperfused fetoplacental unit. This placental hypoperfusion is a feature seen in both PE and fetal growth restriction.

The association with increased uterine artery Doppler resistance indices and a higher propensity to develop PE and FGR is widely reported and used in current clinical practice in the management of high risk pregnancies. Velauthar et al<sup>[17]</sup> carried out a meta-analysis of over 55000 patients looking at the predictive value of performing uterine artery Doppler measurements in the first trimester. The authors reported a sensitivity and specificity of 47.8% and 92.1% respectively for the detection of early onset PE. The sensitivities and specificities for detection of late onset PE were 21.5% and 90.3%; for PE at any gestation these were 26.4% and 93.4%. Although first trimester uterine artery Doppler screening is a highly specific means of screening for early PE, it is less so for late PF.

Verlohren *et al*<sup>[18]</sup> have corroborated this finding in their published data of second trimester uterine artery Doppler screening. The investigators looked at outcomes in over 27000 cases that had uterine artery measurements in the second trimester. They reported that the prevalence of resistance indices above the 90<sup>th</sup> centile were present in 63.6% of early PE, 15.5% of late PE and 8.8% in the control group. This significant finding shows that increased uterine artery Doppler indices, are a poor predictor of late onset PE.

It is well recognised that increased uterine artery dopplers are an index for inadequate placentation, and thereby a surrogate marker for increased risk of PE and FGR. Data from these large-scale, high quality studies indicate that inadequate placentation is a key feature of early onset PE and FGR. The reduced prevalence of increased uterine artery indices observed in late-onset PE lends further support to the argument that the heterogeneity observed in PE, is due to early onset PE being related to a dysfunctional placenta, whilst late onset PE may not be associated with placental insufficiency.



#### Fetal growth

The fetal effects of a dysfunctional placenta include fetal growth restriction, and this is seen in many cases of early-onset PE, but less so in cases of late PE. The majority of neonates in late PE are of normal size<sup>[18]</sup>. This observation is consistent with the notion that whilst early PE due to placental insufficiency is also closely correlated to FGR, there is an additional aetiological factor to placental insufficiency in late onset PE.

Verlohren *et al*<sup>[18]</sup> reported on the distribution of small-for-gestational-age (SGA) neonates in their large cohort. They found the incidence of SGA to be 66.2% in the early PE group, 16.7% in the late PE group and 10.8% in the control group.

The distribution of large-for-gestational age neonates did not observe a similar pattern; the prevalence being greatest in the late PE group as compared to all other groups. Interestingly, both SGA and large-forgestational-age (LGA) births were more prevalent in the late PE group, demonstrating a bimodal skewed birth weight distribution in late PE. Whilst the association between PE and LGA babies has been observed previously, the bimodal distribution is certainly a novel finding.

The increased incidence of SGA births in earlyonset PE, associated with increased uterine artery impedances, is an expected finding given the underlying placental insufficiency, unlike the reported increased prevalence of both SGA and LGA in lateonset PE. The authors postulate that this finding implies that whilst the SGA form of late-onset PE is due to placental insufficiency, the LGA form (with its associated normal uterine artery impedance measurements) is secondary to the inability of the maternal heart to meet the demands of the (oversized) placenta. The subsequent placental hypoperfusion as a result of the inadequate pump action, leads to placental hypoxia and the biochemical cascade that leads to endothelial cell dysfunction observed in PE.

#### **Placental biomarkers**

The oxidative stress in the placenta leads to an imbalance in angiogenic and antiangiogenic factors. An imbalance in these factors can adversely affect vascular homeostasis, and therefore contribute to the array of symptoms displayed in PE. The angiogenic factors that are believed to play a role include vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and placental growth factor (PIGF)<sup>[10,19,20]</sup>, the latter being used as a potential diagnostic biomarker for PE<sup>[19,20]</sup>. PIGF is produced by trophoblasts and interacts with cell surface receptors such as Flt-1. The soluble form of this, soluble fms-like tyrosine kinase-1 (sFlt-1) is an antiangiogenic factor which has also emerged as a key factor and potential biomarker in PE. sFlt-1 has been shown to block PIGF and therefore play a causative role in the development of PE<sup>[10,21]</sup>. Maynard *et al*<sup>[10]</sup> demonstrated a rise in arterial pressures and proteinuria with exogenous

administration of sFlt-1. Furthermore, uteroplacental ischaemia has been shown to increase sFlt-1 levels in experimental models, as well as a decrease in VEGF/ PIGF<sup>[22,23]</sup>.

Another biological factor that has been studied and may have a role in PE is Heme Oxygenase-1 (HO-1). HO-1 and its metabolites carbon monoxide (CO) and bilirubin exert protective effects against oxidative stimuli, and *in vitro* studies have reported that HO-1 downregulates sFlt-1<sup>[24]</sup>. HO-1 has been shown to inhibit sFlt-1 release<sup>[24,25]</sup> and it is possible that a loss of HO-1 plays a part in the pathophysiology of PE. There are no published studies looking at the differences in the expression of HO-1 in early-onset *vs* late-onset PE.

Poon et al<sup>[26]</sup> conducted a first trimester screening study using uterine artery Doppler indices, serum pregnancy associated plasma protein A (PAPP-A) and placental growth factor measurements in a large cohort of over 57000 cases. They found that in the pre-term SGA group, serum PAPP-A and PIGF were reduced, indicating an underlying pathology of impaired placentation. The authors reported that for a false-positive rate of 5%, the detection of earlyonset PE (< 34 wk gestation) using PIGF was 59.3%, however in all cases of PE below 42 wk gestation, the detection rate was significantly lower at 29.1% this figure included all of the early-onset along with late-onset cases of PE. The evidence suggests that placental biomarkers have a good performance for screening for early-onset PE, but a poor performance when screening for late-onset PE.

The biomarkers discussed above have been used in clinical trials as a potential screening tool for the detection of PE. Elevated sFlt-1/PIGF ratios have been observed in early-onset  $PE^{[19,20]}$ . Chappell *et al*<sup>[19]</sup> published data from a multicentre trial using a PIGF assay (Triage, Alere, California, United States). PIGF concentrations below the 5<sup>th</sup> centile had a sensitivity of 96% and a negative predictive value of 98% for PE requiring delivery within the next fourteen days, in gestational ages below 35 wk. Beyond 35 wk, the test was not as good at excluding PE. This further strengthens the argument for a role of placental insufficiency in early cases of PE, with a weaker association between PIGF and late-onset PE.

#### PATHOLOGICAL EVIDENCE FOR THE AETIOLOGY OF PE

Many scientific evaluations of the pathology associated with PE have been used to justify the placental origins hypothesis of PE. These may be genetic, molecular or histological in nature.

#### Genetic

There is an unquestionable link between the development of PE and subsequent cardiovascular disease. Despite the incomplete understanding of the aetiology



of PE, familial clustering has been observed<sup>[27,28]</sup> and reported in PE and therefore supports a genetic link. Many susceptibility genes for PE have been reported in the literature - the function of the majority of these loci remain unknown. The very few PE genetic loci with known associations have previously been implicated in adult cardiovascular disease. Despite further work in this field being required, it does seem entirely plausible that due to the similarities between PE and cardiovascular disease with clinical risk factors and postpartum cardiovascular legacy, there is indeed a shared genetic link between PE and cardiovascular disease.

#### Molecular

Recently published data on the molecular biology, also provide insightful evidence. Yung et al<sup>[29]</sup> investigated whether there was molecular evidence of a difference in placental stress response between cases of early and late PE. Investigating multiple stress-signalling pathways, the investigators demonstrated that activation of stress-signalling pathways was negatively correlated with gestational age, with a clear inflection for placentae beyond 34 wk gestation. Activation of these pathways was significantly higher in early PE than in late PE or controls. The authors reported no difference between placentas in late PE and normotensive controls. It appears that this group of investigators have provided the first molecular evidence of placental stress response in early PE with a lack of such a response in cases of late PE. This supports a placental cause for early PE, but further suggests that placental dysfunction may not necessarily be implicated in late onset PE.

#### Histological

Histopathological studies of placentae have also reported a difference between early and late  $PE^{[30-32]}$ . Whilst in the majority of cases of PE the placentae are histologically normal, it is also found that histopathological lesions are mainly seen in preterm  $PE^{[22]}$ . Pathak *et al*<sup>[33]</sup> carried out a blinded analysis and reported that placental hypoperfusion in the form of massive perivillous fibrin deposition was much more frequent in those with PET (OR 20.2) and SGA (8.9). However we acknowledge that this was in a small sample of pathological cases. Ogge *et al*<sup>[32]</sup> demonstrated the prevalence of placental hypoperfusion lesions were greatest in cases of earlyonset PE (58%), as compared to 33% in late onset PE and 16% in term controls.

An interesting, recent study investigated placental perfusion using magnetic resonance imaging in early and late PE<sup>[34]</sup>. The study reports that women with early PE did indeed show smaller placental perfusion fractions when compared to controls. Interestingly, women with late onset PE had a larger placental perfusion fraction when compared to matched controls for gestational age. The increased placental perfusion

fraction seen in late PE further supports the argument that late-onset PE is associated with larger placentae and babies, and therefore is unlikely to be due to placental insufficiency.

#### PATHOPHYSIOLOGY - THE ROLE OF THE CARDIOVASCULAR SYSTEM

The maternal cardiovascular system undergoes a series of changes in pregnancy, all of which have a role in ensuring adequate uterine perfusion, oxygen delivery and provision of nutrients to meet the demands of the growing fetus. These adaptations enable the pregnancy and the growth of the fetus to continue unimpaired. They include a rise in cardiac output, heart rate and plasma volume and a concomitant fall in total vascular resistance (TVR).

Despite a significant volume of literature regarding placental dysfunction in PE, data regarding the cardiac changes associated with PE are more scant, and also more controversial. The conventional belief was that early-onset PE is associated with reduced cardiac output and increased total vascular resistance, with maternal cardiac function succumbing early in the disease process. With regard to late-onset PE, the original data implied that this was a condition of raised cardiac output and reduced total vascular resistance, however this model has not been reported consistently<sup>[35,36]</sup>. The discrepancies reported in the cardiovascular profiles in women who present with PE can be attributed to certain confounding factors antihypertensive medication, co-morbidities, different gestational ages and stages of labour.

Another significant reason for the discrepancies reported in the literature with regards to haemodynamics in PE is the use of cardiac output instead of the corrected index for body surface area, cardiac index. Cardiac index (CI) represents the cardiac output per square meter of body surface area. We believe that using this corrected index is superior to using cardiac output, which does not factor in height or weight of the subject. As human beings come in different shapes and sizes, with varied metabolic demands, we feel that comparison of cardiac output without correcting for body surface area is both inadequate and inaccurate.

Prior to the onset of symptoms of early-onset PE, there is a shift towards a reduced cardiac index in conjunction with a raised total vascular resistance, increased mean arterial pressure, contracted intravascular volume and reduced venous reserve capacity<sup>[37-42]</sup>. These findings suggest that the high resistance/low volume haemodynamic profile observed in women destined to develop early-onset PE is observed in the latent phase of the disease at mid-gestation<sup>[39,40]</sup>.

In a study by Melchiorre *et al*<sup>(39)</sup> women who subsequently developed late-onset PE presented withraised total vascular resistance, but importantly, therewas no difference in cardiac index between late-onset</sup> PE and control groups. Whilst these findings have not been reported consistently in the literature, it is worth noting that in studies that did not corroborate the findings observed by Melchiorre *et al*<sup>[41]</sup>, corrected cardiac indices were not employed.

In preeclamptics medicated with anti-hypertensives, the CI normalises and is comparable to CI in normotensive controls. The observed reduction in arterial compliance, has also been shown to be corrected following antihypertensive treatment in patients with  $PE^{[42]}$ .

Although some of the initial work into cardiac changes in PE showed conflicting results, more recent work has demonstrated a more consistent collection of findings. This is in part due to improved and newer techniques such as colour tissue Doppler and 2-dimensional speckle tracking derived strain and strain rate imaging, which are able to detect early and subtle changes in myocardial function in an objective manner, when used in conjunction with validated diagnostic algorithms.

Prior to the onset of clinical symptoms in women who develop early onset PE, there is an abnormal remodelling of the left ventricle which consists of concentric remodelling and hypertrophy<sup>[39,41]</sup>. Moreover in this group of women, there is evidence of mild diastolic dysfunction as well as impaired myocardial relaxation<sup>[39,41]</sup>. This impaired diastolic function is thought to be associated with the increased cardiac afterload (increased TVR) and abnormal left ventricular remodelling<sup>[39,41]</sup>. The abnormal pattern of remodelling observed in PE is similar to that observed in nonpregnant individuals with essential hypertension and is consistent with an impairment that is afterloadinduced<sup>[39,41,43]</sup>.

Studies assessing early myocardial changes, have reported that mild-moderate isolated left ventricular diastolic dysfunction is seen in approximately half of women with early onset  $PE^{[39,41,43]}$  with one in five women having biventricular systolic dysfunction with associated left ventricular hypertrophy<sup>[41,43]</sup>. Melchiorre *et a*<sup>[39,41]</sup> have also demonstrated impairment in myocardial contractility in early onset PE using colour tissue Doppler and 2-D speckle tracking. Left atrial remodelling in PE has also been reported. These findings suggest that the pregnant heart in PE is working at its maximum potential capacity, and any additional stress could result in a deterioration of cardiovascular function.

Other authors have suggested raised intraabdominal pressure (IAP) as a major aetiological factor to the development of PE<sup>[44,45]</sup>. They hypothesize that women with raised IAP will have compromised venous return to the heart, which will result in decreased blood flow in the vascular beds of the placenta, uterus, kidneys and liver. The result of this impaired blood flow and venous congestion would include placental ischaemia, oedema of the lower extremities, glomerulopathy associated with hypertension and proteinuria and hepatic dysfunction<sup>[44,46]</sup>. This hypothesis is in concordance with the cardiovascular origin of PE proposed in this review. The myocardial dysfunction of PE noted in many studies will also compound the compromised venous return to the heart. These two theories are therefore not mutually exclusive.

# WHAT IS THE CARDIAC LEGACY OF HAVING PE?

Although we have classically believed that treatment of PE is by delivery of the placenta in order to avoid impending maternal harm, the subtle, subclinical cardiac changes associated with a diagnosis of PE are not cured by birth of the infant or delivery of the placenta. Melchiorre *et al*<sup>[47]</sup> showed that at 1 year postpartum 56% of women with early onset PE had asymptomatic left ventricular dysfunction compared to 14% of women with late onset PE and 8% of healthy controls. The same authors also reported a 40% incidence of essential hypertension at 2 years postdelivery.

Indeed a diagnosis of PE is considered a risk factor for long term cardiovascular disease<sup>[48,49]</sup>. Following a diagnosis of PE, in particular early onset PE, it therefore seems prudent that these patients are adequately risk assessed in the years following pregnancy, in order to address and mitigate future cardiovascular risks.

#### CONCLUSION

Herein we argue that in order for PE to manifest in an expectant mother, there is an element of both a dysfunctional placenta as well as an abnormal cardiac response. Figure 1 depicts the common and specific key components of impaired placentation and cardiovascular dysfunction. We cannot ignore the role of the maternal cardiovascular system in the development of PE, and thus PE must be recognised and managed, both in the acute and in the long term phases, as a cardiovascular-placental syndrome.

PE is a heterogenous disorder. There is an abundance of evidence supporting the role of the placenta in PE. The evidence indicates that placental dysfunction is prevalent in early-onset PE, however this is not as clear in cases of late-onset PE, as evidenced by uterine artery Doppler indices, birthweight distribution, placental biomarkers, histological and pathological studies. Table 1 summarises the main differences in placental and cardiovascular parameters observed in early-onset vs late-onset pre-eclampsia

The majority of PE is late-onset, and has classically been described as "maternal" or "heterogenous" PE. By and large, maternal PE remains unexplained. Several theories involving an exaggerated maternal systemic inflammatory response and increased systemic levels of oxidative stress have been published in the past<sup>[50]</sup>.





Figure 1 Illustration of the key components, both specific and common to impaired placentation and cardiovascular dysfunction and their presence in fetal growth restriction, early-onset and late-onset preeclampsia. FGR: Fetal growth restriction; PE: Preeclampsia; PIGF: Placental growth factor; sFIt-1: Soluble fms-like tyrosine kinase-1; SGA: Small-for-gestational-age; BMI: Body mass index.

 Table 1
 A summary of the key differences observed in placental and cardiovascular parameters in early-onset vs late-onset preeclampsia

Fetal growth restriction $\uparrow\uparrow\uparrow$ $\uparrow$ Hormones - PIGF $\downarrow$ $\leftrightarrow$ Hormones - sFlt-1 $\uparrow$ $\leftrightarrow$ Hormones - PAPP-A $\downarrow$ $\leftrightarrow$ Uterine artery Doppler resistance $\uparrow\uparrow\uparrow$ $\uparrow/\leftrightarrow$ Molecular stress response $\uparrow$ $\leftrightarrow$ Histological evidence of hypoperfusion $\uparrow\uparrow/\leftrightarrow$ Haemodynamics - Cardiac index $\downarrow$ $\leftrightarrow$
Hormones - PIGF $\downarrow$ $\leftrightarrow$ Hormones - sFlt-1 $\uparrow$ $\leftrightarrow$ Hormones - PAPP-A $\downarrow$ $\leftrightarrow$ Uterine artery Doppler resistance $\uparrow\uparrow\uparrow$ $\uparrow/\leftrightarrow$ Molecular stress response $\uparrow$ $\leftrightarrow$ Histological evidence of hypoperfusion $\uparrow\uparrow$ $\uparrow/\leftrightarrow$ Haemodynamics - Cardiac index $\downarrow$ $\leftrightarrow$
Hormones - sFlt-1 $\uparrow$ $\leftrightarrow$ Hormones - PAPP-A $\downarrow$ $\leftrightarrow$ Uterine artery Doppler resistance $\uparrow\uparrow\uparrow$ $\uparrow/\leftrightarrow$ Molecular stress response $\uparrow$ $\leftrightarrow$ Histological evidence of hypoperfusion $\uparrow\uparrow$ $\uparrow/\leftrightarrow$ Haemodynamics - Cardiac index $\downarrow$ $\leftrightarrow$
Hormones - PAPP-A $\downarrow$ $\leftrightarrow$ Uterine artery Doppler resistance $\uparrow\uparrow\uparrow$ $\uparrow/\leftrightarrow$ Molecular stress response $\uparrow$ $\leftrightarrow$ Histological evidence of hypoperfusion $\uparrow\uparrow$ $\uparrow/\leftrightarrow$ Haemodynamics - Cardiac index $\downarrow$ $\leftrightarrow$
Uterine artery Doppler resistance $\uparrow\uparrow\uparrow$ $\uparrow/\leftrightarrow$ Molecular stress response $\uparrow$ $\leftrightarrow$ Histological evidence of hypoperfusion $\uparrow\uparrow$ $\uparrow/\leftrightarrow$ Haemodynamics - Cardiac index $\downarrow$ $\leftrightarrow$
Molecular stress response $\uparrow$ $\leftrightarrow$ Histological evidence of hypoperfusion $\uparrow\uparrow$ $\uparrow/\leftrightarrow$ Haemodynamics - Cardiac index $\downarrow$ $\leftrightarrow$
Histological evidence of hypoperfusion $\uparrow\uparrow$ $\uparrow/\leftrightarrow$ Haemodynamics - Cardiac index $\downarrow$ $\leftrightarrow$
Haemodynamics - Cardiac index $\leftrightarrow$
Haemodynamics - TVR index $\uparrow\uparrow$ $\uparrow$
Left Ventricular geometry –
concentric remodelling
Left Ventricular geometry – $\uparrow$ $\downarrow$
concentric hypertrophy
Chamber diastolic function $\downarrow \downarrow \downarrow \downarrow$
Chamber systolic function $\downarrow \qquad \leftrightarrow$

PE: Preeclampsia; PIGF: Placental growth factor; sFlt-1: Soluble fms-like tyrosine kinase-1; PAPP-A: Pregnancy associated plasma protein A; TVR: Total vascular resistance.

Whilst this is supported by the observed increase in PE in women with certain pro-inflammatory systemic conditions (autoimmune disease, renal disease, *etc.*)<sup>[51]</sup>, another, and we believe stronger, argument can be made for the role of the maternal cardiovascular system in the development of PE.

PE is a complex disorder which is no doubt closely related to placental insufficiency. However we strongly believe that the placenta is not the only culprit; the inability of the maternal heart to adapt to placental dysfunction also forms a significant, however as yet incompletely understood, part of the enigma.

We propose that whilst intrinsic placental dysfunction

and the mal-adaptation of the maternal cardiovascular system leads to early-onset PE, late PE is associated with an acquired placental dysfunction as a result of the maternal heart not being able to meet the demands of the placenta. Both the intrinsic and acquired placental dysfunction results in placental hypoxia which sets off a cascade of events result in the multisystem disorder of PE. In view of the evidence, we propose a paradigm shift of our current understanding of pre-eclampsia, as a disease entity not solely due to the placenta, but as a cardiovascular-placental syndrome. In answer to our original question which forms the title of this review, the answer is both - as an element of dysfunction in both the cardiovascular system and the placenta are required in order for PE to develop.

#### REFERENCES

- Duley L. The global impact of pre-eclampsia and eclampsia. Semin Perinatol 2009; 33: 130-137 [PMID: 19464502 DOI: 10.1053/ j.semperi.2009.02.010]
- 2 Bhutta ZA, Chopra M, Axelson H, Berman P, Boerma T, Bryce J, Bustreo F, Cavagnero E, Cometto G, Daelmans B, de Francisco A, Fogstad H, Gupta N, Laski L, Lawn J, Maliqi B, Mason E, Pitt C, Requejo J, Starrs A, Victora CG, Wardlaw T. Countdown to 2015 decade report (2000-10): taking stock of maternal, newborn, and child survival. *Lancet* 2010; **375**: 2032-2044 [PMID: 20569843 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(10)60678-2]
- 3 Knight M, Kenyon S, Brocklehurst P, Neilson J, Shakespeare J, Kurinczuk JJ, editors. on behalf of MBRRACE-UK. Saving lives, Improving Mother's Care Lessons learned to inform future maternity care from the UK and Ireland Confidential Enquiries into Maternal deaths and morbidity 2009-2012. Oxford: National Perinatal Epidemiology Unit, University of Oxford, 2014
- 4 **Meis PJ**, Goldenberg RL, Mercer BM, Iams JD, Moawad AH, Miodovnik M, Menard MK, Caritis SN, Thurnau GR, Bottoms SF, Das A, Roberts JM, McNellis D. The preterm prediction study: risk factors for indicated preterm births. Maternal-Fetal Medicine

Units Network of the National Institute of Child Health and Human Development. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1998; **178**: 562-567 [PMID: 9539527 DOI: 10.1016/S0002-9378(98)70439-9]

- 5 Brown MA, Lindheimer MD, de Swiet M, Van Assche A, Moutquin JM. The classification and diagnosis of the hypertensive disorders of pregnancy: statement from the International Society for the Study of Hypertension in Pregnancy (ISSHP). *Hypertens Pregnancy* 2001; 20: IX-XIV [PMID: 12044323 DOI: 10.3109/106 41950109152635]
- 6 Wright D, Akolekar R, Syngelaki A, Poon LC, Nicolaides KH. A competing risks model in early screening for preeclampsia. *Fetal Diagn Ther* 2012; **32**: 171-178 [PMID: 22846473 DOI: 10.1159/000338470]
- 7 National Collaborating Centre for Women's and Children's Health (UK). Hypertension in pregnancy: the management of hypertensive disorders during pregnancy. National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence: Guidance. London: RCOG Press, 2010
- 8 Papageorghiou AT, Yu CK, Erasmus IE, Cuckle HS, Nicolaides KH. Assessment of risk for the development of pre-eclampsia by maternal characteristics and uterine artery Doppler. *BJOG* 2005; **112**: 703-709 [PMID: 15924523 DOI: 10.1111/j.1471-0528.2005.00519.x]
- 9 Steegers EA, von Dadelszen P, Duvekot JJ, Pijnenborg R. Preeclampsia. *Lancet* 2010; 376: 631-644 [PMID: 20598363 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(10)60279-6]
- 10 Maynard SE, Min JY, Merchan J, Lim KH, Li J, Mondal S, Libermann TA, Morgan JP, Sellke FW, Stillman IE, Epstein FH, Sukhatme VP, Karumanchi SA. Excess placental soluble fms-like tyrosine kinase 1 (sFlt1) may contribute to endothelial dysfunction, hypertension, and proteinuria in preeclampsia. *J Clin Invest* 2003; 111: 649-658 [PMID: 12618519 DOI: 10.1172/JCI17189]
- 11 Seki H, Kuromaki K, Takeda S, Kinoshita K. Ovarian pregnancy diagnosed in the third trimester: a case report. *J Obstet Gynaecol Res* 1997; 23: 543-546 [PMID: 9433046 DOI: 10.1111/j.1447-0756.1997. tb00884.x]
- 12 Brittain PC, Bayliss P. Partial hydatidiform molar pregnancy presenting with severe preeclampsia prior to twenty weeks gestation: a case report and review of the literature. *Mil Med* 1995; 160: 42-44 [PMID: 7746435]
- 13 American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists; Task Force on Hypertension in Pregnancy. Hypertension in pregnancy. Report of the American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists' Task Force on Hypertension in Pregnancy. *Obstet Gynecol* 2013; **122**: 1122-1131 [PMID: 24150027 DOI: 10.1097/01.AOG.0000437382.03963.88]
- 14 Villar J, Carroli G, Wojdyla D, Abalos E, Giordano D, Ba'aqeel H, Farnot U, Bergsjø P, Bakketeig L, Lumbiganon P, Campodónico L, Al-Mazrou Y, Lindheimer M, Kramer M. Preeclampsia, gestational hypertension and intrauterine growth restriction, related or independent conditions? *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2006; **194**: 921-931 [PMID: 16580277 DOI: 10.1016/j.ajog.2005.10.813]
- 15 Kleinrouweler CE, Bossuyt PM, Thilaganathan B, Vollebregt KC, Arenas Ramírez J, Ohkuchi A, Deurloo KL, Macleod M, Diab AE, Wolf H, van der Post JA, Mol BW, Pajkrt E. Value of adding second-trimester uterine artery Doppler to patient characteristics in identification of nulliparous women at increased risk for preeclampsia: an individual patient data meta-analysis. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol* 2013; **42**: 257-267 [PMID: 23417857 DOI: 10.1002/ uog.12435]
- 16 Spencer K, Yu CK, Savvidou M, Papageorghiou AT, Nicolaides KH. Prediction of pre-eclampsia by uterine artery Doppler ultrasonography and maternal serum pregnancy-associated plasma protein-A, free beta-human chorionic gonadotropin, activin A and inhibin A at 22 + 0 to 24 + 6 weeks' gestation. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol* 2006; 27: 658-663 [PMID: 16493628 DOI: 10.1002/uog.2676]
- 17 Velauthar L, Plana MN, Kalidindi M, Zamora J, Thilaganathan B, Illanes SE, Khan KS, Aquilina J, Thangaratinam S. First-trimester uterine artery Doppler and adverse pregnancy outcome: a metaanalysis involving 55,974 women. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol* 2014; 43: 500-507 [PMID: 24339044 DOI: 10.1002/uog.13275]
- 18 Verlohren S, Melchiorre K, Khalil A, Thilaganathan B. Uterine

artery Doppler, birth weight and timing of onset of pre-eclampsia: providing insights into the dual etiology of late-onset pre-eclampsia. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol* 2014; **44**: 293-298 [PMID: 24448891 DOI: 10.1002/uog.13310]

- 19 Chappell LC, Duckworth S, Seed PT, Griffin M, Myers J, Mackillop L, Simpson N, Waugh J, Anumba D, Kenny LC, Redman CW, Shennan AH. Diagnostic accuracy of placental growth factor in women with suspected preeclampsia: a prospective multicenter study. *Circulation* 2013; **128**: 2121-2131 [PMID: 24190934 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.113.003215]
- 20 Chappell LC, Bramham K, Shennan AH. Short-term prediction of preeclampsia: how close are we? *Biomark Med* 2014; 8: 455-458 [PMID: 24796609 DOI: 10.2217/bmm.14.22]
- 21 Levine RJ, Maynard SE, Qian C, Lim KH, England LJ, Yu KF, Schisterman EF, Thadhani R, Sachs BP, Epstein FH, Sibai BM, Sukhatme VP, Karumanchi SA. Circulating angiogenic factors and the risk of preeclampsia. *N Engl J Med* 2004; **350**: 672-683 [PMID: 14764923 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa031884]
- 22 Makris A, Thornton C, Thompson J, Thomson S, Martin R, Ogle R, Waugh R, McKenzie P, Kirwan P, Hennessy A. Uteroplacental ischemia results in proteinuric hypertension and elevated sFLT-1. *Kidney Int* 2007; **71**: 977-984 [PMID: 17377512 DOI: 10.1038/sj.ki.5002175]
- 23 Gilbert JS, Babcock SA, Granger JP. Hypertension produced by reduced uterine perfusion in pregnant rats is associated with increased soluble fms-like tyrosine kinase-1 expression. *Hypertension* 2007; 50: 1142-1147 [PMID: 17923588 DOI: 10.1161/ HYPERTENSIONAHA.107.096594]
- 24 Cao J, Inoue K, Li X, Drummond G, Abraham NG. Physiological significance of heme oxygenase in hypertension. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol* 2009; 41: 1025-1033 [PMID: 19027871 DOI: 10.1016/ j.biocel.2008.10.025]
- 25 George EM, Cockrell K, Aranay M, Csongradi E, Stec DE, Granger JP. Induction of heme oxygenase 1 attenuates placental ischemiainduced hypertension. *Hypertension* 2011; 57: 941-948 [PMID: 21383306 DOI: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.111.169755]
- 26 Poon LC, Syngelaki A, Akolekar R, Lai J, Nicolaides KH. Combined screening for preeclampsia and small for gestational age at 11-13 weeks. *Fetal Diagn Ther* 2013; **33**: 16-27 [PMID: 22986844 DOI: 10.1159/000341712]
- 27 Arngrímsson R, Sigurõardóttir S, Frigge ML, Bjarnadóttir RI, Jónsson T, Stefánsson H, Baldursdóttir A, Einarsdóttir AS, Palsson B, Snorradóttir S, Lachmeijer AM, Nicolae D, Kong A, Bragason BT, Gulcher JR, Geirsson RT, Stefánsson K. A genome-wide scan reveals a maternal susceptibility locus for pre-eclampsia on chromosome 2p13. *Hum Mol Genet* 1999; 8: 1799-1805 [PMID: 10441346 DOI: 10.1093/hmg/8.9.1799]
- 28 van Dijk M, Mulders J, Poutsma A, Könst AA, Lachmeijer AM, Dekker GA, Blankenstein MA, Oudejans CB. Maternal segregation of the Dutch preeclampsia locus at 10q22 with a new member of the winged helix gene family. *Nat Genet* 2005; **37**: 514-519 [PMID: 15806103 DOI: 10.1038/ng1541]
- 29 Yung HW, Atkinson D, Campion-Smith T, Olovsson M, Charnock-Jones DS, Burton GJ. Differential activation of placental unfolded protein response pathways implies heterogeneity in causation of early- and late-onset pre-eclampsia. *J Pathol* 2014; 234: 262-276 [PMID: 24931423 DOI: 10.1002/path.4394]
- 30 Nelson DB, Ziadie MS, McIntire DD, Rogers BB, Leveno KJ. Placental pathology suggesting that preeclampsia is more than one disease. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2014; 210: 66.e1-66.e7 [PMID: 24036400 DOI: 10.1016/j.ajog.2013.09.010]
- 31 van der Merwe JL, Hall DR, Wright C, Schubert P, Grové D. Are early and late preeclampsia distinct subclasses of the disease--what does the placenta reveal? *Hypertens Pregnancy* 2010; 29: 457-467 [PMID: 20701467 DOI: 10.3109/10641950903572282]
- 32 **Ogge G**, Chaiworapongsa T, Romero R, Hussein Y, Kusanovic JP, Yeo L, Kim CJ, Hassan SS. Placental lesions associated with maternal underperfusion are more frequent in early-onset than in late-onset preeclampsia. *J Perinat Med* 2011; **39**: 641-652 [PMID: 21848483 DOI: 10.1515/JPM.2011.098]

- 33 Pathak S, Lees CC, Hackett G, Jessop F, Sebire NJ. Frequency and clinical significance of placental histological lesions in an unselected population at or near term. *Virchows Arch* 2011; 459: 565-572 [PMID: 22038509 DOI: 10.1007/s00428-011-1157-z]
- 34 Sohlberg S, Mulic-Lutvica A, Lindgren P, Ortiz-Nieto F, Wikström AK, Wikström J. Placental perfusion in normal pregnancy and early and late preeclampsia: a magnetic resonance imaging study. *Placenta* 2014; 35: 202-206 [PMID: 24529946 DOI: 10.1016/ j.placenta.2014.01.008]
- 35 Bosio PM, McKenna PJ, Conroy R, O'Herlihy C. Maternal central hemodynamics in hypertensive disorders of pregnancy. *Obstet Gynecol* 1999; 94: 978-984 [PMID: 10576186 DOI: 10.1016/ S0029-7844(99)00430-5]
- 36 Easterling TR, Benedetti TJ, Schmucker BC, Millard SP. Maternal hemodynamics in normal and preeclamptic pregnancies: a longitudinal study. *Obstet Gynecol* 1990; 76: 1061-1069 [PMID: 2234714]
- 37 Aardenburg R, Spaanderman ME, Courtar DA, van Eijndhoven HW, de Leeuw PW, Peeters LL. A subnormal plasma volume in formerly preeclamptic women is associated with a low venous capacitance. *J Soc Gynecol Investig* 2005; 12: 107-111 [PMID: 15695105 DOI: 10.1016/j.jsgi.2004.09.002]
- 38 Valensise H, Vasapollo B, Gagliardi G, Novelli GP. Early and late preeclampsia: two different maternal hemodynamic states in the latent phase of the disease. *Hypertension* 2008; 52: 873-880 [PMID: 18824660 DOI: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.108.117358]
- 39 Melchiorre K, Sutherland G, Sharma R, Nanni M, Thilaganathan B. Mid-gestational maternal cardiovascular profile in preterm and term pre-eclampsia: a prospective study. *BJOG* 2013; 120: 496-504 [PMID: 23190437 DOI: 10.1111/1471-0528.12068]
- 40 Jia RZ, Liu XM, Wang X, Wu HQ. Relationship between cardiovascular function and fetal growth restriction in women with pre-eclampsia. *Int J Gynaecol Obstet* 2010; 110: 61-63 [PMID: 20362985 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijgo.2010.02.007]
- 41 Melchiorre K, Sharma R, Thilaganathan B. Cardiovascular implications in preeclampsia: an overview. *Circulation* 2014; **130**: 703-714 [PMID: 25135127 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.113.003664]
- 42 Khalil A, Jauniaux E, Harrington K. Antihypertensive therapy and central hemodynamics in women with hypertensive disorders in pregnancy. *Obstet Gynecol* 2009; 113: 646-654 [PMID: 19300330 DOI: 10.1097/AOG.0b013e318197c392]
- 43 **Melchiorre K**, Sutherland GR, Watt-Coote I, Liberati M, Thilaganathan B. Severe myocardial impairment and chamber

dysfunction in preterm preeclampsia. *Hypertens Pregnancy* 2012; **31**: 454-471 [PMID: 23030711 DOI: 10.3109/10641955.2012.697951]

- 44 Sugerman HJ. Hypothesis: preeclampsia is a venous disease secondary to an increased intra-abdominal pressure. *Med Hypotheses* 2011; **77**: 841-849 [PMID: 21862236 DOI: 10.1016/ j.mehy.2011.07.051]
- 45 Bloomfield GL, Blocher CR, Fakhry IF, Sica DA, Sugerman HJ. Elevated intra-abdominal pressure increases plasma renin activity and aldosterone levels. *J Trauma* 1997; 42: 997-1004; discussion 1004-1005 [PMID: 9210531 DOI: 10.1097/00005373-199706000-0 0002]
- 46 Gyselaers W, Mullens W, Tomsin K, Mesens T, Peeters L. Role of dysfunctional maternal venous hemodynamics in the pathophysiology of pre-eclampsia: a review. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol* 2011; 38: 123-129 [PMID: 21611996 DOI: 10.1002/ uog.9061]
- 47 Melchiorre K, Sutherland GR, Liberati M, Thilaganathan B. Preeclampsia is associated with persistent postpartum cardiovascular impairment. *Hypertension* 2011; 58: 709-715 [PMID: 21844489 DOI: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.111.176537]
- 48 Mosca L, Benjamin EJ, Berra K, Bezanson JL, Dolor RJ, Lloyd-Jones DM, Newby LK, Piña IL, Roger VL, Shaw LJ, Zhao D, Beckie TM, Bushnell C, D'Armiento J, Kris-Etherton PM, Fang J, Ganiats TG, Gomes AS, Gracia CR, Haan CK, Jackson EA, Judelson DR, Kelepouris E, Lavie CJ, Moore A, Nussmeier NA, Ofili E, Oparil S, Ouyang P, Pinn VW, Sherif K, Smith SC, Sopko G, Chandra-Strobos N, Urbina EM, Vaccarino V, Wenger NK. Effectiveness-based guidelines for the prevention of cardiovascular disease in women--2011 update: a guideline from the american heart association. *Circulation* 2011; 123: 1243-1262 [PMID: 21325087 DOI: 10.1161/CIR.0b013e31820faaf8]
- 49 Fraser A, Nelson SM, Macdonald-Wallis C, Cherry L, Butler E, Sattar N, Lawlor DA. Associations of pregnancy complications with calculated cardiovascular disease risk and cardiovascular risk factors in middle age: the Avon Longitudinal Study of Parents and Children. *Circulation* 2012; **125**: 1367-1380 [PMID: 22344039 DOI: 10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.111.044784]
- 50 Redman CW, Sacks GP, Sargent IL. Preeclampsia: an excessive maternal inflammatory response to pregnancy. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1999; 180: 499-506 [PMID: 9988826 DOI: 10.1016/ S0002-9378(99)70239-5]
- 51 Duckitt K, Harrington D. Risk factors for pre-eclampsia at antenatal booking: systematic review of controlled studies. *BMJ* 2005; 330: 565 [PMID: 15743856 DOI: 10.1136/bmj.38380.674340.E0]

P- Reviewer: Wong RJ, Xu XH S- Editor: Ji FF L- Editor: A E- Editor: Wang CH





WJOG www.wjgnet.com



Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.5317/wjog.v4.i4.86 World J Obstet Gynecol 2015 November 10; 4(4): 86-94 ISSN 2218-6220 (online) © 2015 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

MINIREVIEWS

# Universal screening for hemoglobinopathies in today's multi-ethnic societies: How and when

#### Piero C Giordano

**Piero C Giordano,** Department of Human and Clinical Genetics, Leiden University Medical Center, 2300 RC Leiden, The Netherlands

Author contributions: The author solely contributed to this paper.

**Conflict-of-interest statement:** The author declares that this review is not subjected to submission to ethical codes and that no conflicts of interest are present.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Correspondence to: Piero C Giordano, PhD, Emeritus Associated Professor, Clinical Biochemical Molecular Geneticist, Consultant at the Hemoglobinopathies Laboratory, Department of Human and Clinical Genetics, Leiden University Medical Center, Einthovenweg 20, 2300 RC Leiden, The Netherlands. p.c.giordano@lumc.nl Telephone: +31-71-5269800 Fax: +31-71-5268276

Received: July 19, 2015 Peer-review started: July 27, 2015 First decision: September 17, 2015 Revised: September 27, 2015 Accepted: October 16, 2015 Article in press: October 19, 2015 Published online: November 10, 2015

#### Abstract

Increasing multi-ethnicity in countries endemic or non-endemic for hemoglobinopathies has brought fundamental changes to the screening strategies

for these traits. While in the past pre-screening on microcytosis was a reasonable method to economize upon follow up analysis, selecting low mean corpuscular volume means today missing all those normocytic carriers of common traits associated with severe conditions. Therefore, blood count should not be considered as a pre-selection tool but as additional information to be used for the interpretation of the provisional results, obtained by routine high throughput separation and measurement of the hemoglobin (Hb) fractions. Moreover, the moment of screening should be well planned depending on the social and cultural situation. Screening for genetic diseases in a modern multi-ethnic society should be offered to couples seeking progeny when both partners are more likely to be equally concerned with the good health of their children. In several societies screening before marriage and changing partner choice is culturally accepted. However, new generations are bound to disagree with these more or less imposed conditions and may decide not to renounce the choice of their partner asking for other preventive methods. In addition, a carrier state during pre-marital screening may in some cultures stigmatize the carrier, mostly the female with adverse social consequences. Therefore, screening for hemoglobinopathies early in pregnancy is the most sensible alternative in modern countries. Adding hemoglobinopathies to the routine rhesus screening using a simple separation of the Hb fractions on dedicated devices (high performance liquid chromatography or capillary electrophoresis) will virtually identify all female carriers of all common traits responsible for the severe conditions mainly sickle cell disease and thalassemia major in time for partner analysis, counseling and primary prevention.

Key words: Sickle cell disease; Thalassemia; Diagnosis; Prevention

© **The Author(s) 2015.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.



**Core tip:** All women in most modern countries are offered screening for rhesus antagonism and infectious diseases early in pregnancy. Hemoglobinopathy (HBP) screening done together with rhesus screening using an inexpensive routine high performance liquid chromatography or capillary electrophoresis analysis could identify all women carriers of the frequent traits associated with the severe forms of HBP. Subsequent partner analysis could identify all couples at risk to be confirmed by molecular analysis in time for prenatal diagnosis when requested. This procedure will allow the prevention task to be offered at the most logical moment and by the most specialized hands of the gynecologists and obstetricians in collaboration with the local labs and the genetic counselors.

Giordano PC. Universal screening for hemoglobinopathies in today's multi-ethnic societies: How and when. *World J Obstet Gynecol* 2015; 4(4): 86-94 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/2218-6220/full/v4/i4/86.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.5317/wjog.v4.i4.86

#### INTRODUCTION

While up to a recent past were the Mediterranean countries those concerned with endemic hemoglobinopathy (HBP), with the thalassemia syndromes being the almost exclusive traits to be identified, today both Southern and Northern Europe are becoming a melting pot of different cultures from Africa, Middle and Far East, with different HBP traits to be identified<sup>[1]</sup>. In fact the same ethnic changes are observed all over the world and without prevention strategies many immigration countries will be confronted with a dramatic increases of severe HBP leading to human suffering and to increased costs of public health for the management of these incurable and expensive diseases<sup>[2,3]</sup>. To prevent all this, a broader spectrum screening for relevant HBP would have to be done in the endemic countries of Southern Europe and new national screening and managing strategies would have to be introduced in all other nonendemic countries experiencing massive immigration<sup>[4]</sup>.

Over the past decades, regular beta thalassemia trait screening was based upon pre-selection of healthy but slightly anemic and microcytic carriers by measuring their low mean corpuscular volume (MCV) eventually persisting after iron therapy. This preselective screening method was considered practical and economically justifiable due to the fact that a complete blood count (CBC) was less expensive than screening by hemoglobin (Hb) electrophoresis and manual measurement of the HbA2 fraction<sup>[5]</sup>. This strategy might still be practical for large population screening campaigns for thalassemia in emerging countries. However, for screening and regular diagnostics in (non-endemic) developed countries this pre-selective

Table 1 Cross table indicating the risk for the progeny of carriers of the common $\beta$ globin gene defects									
β traits	β minor	HbS	HbE	HbC	HbD	HbY			
β minor	β major								
HbS	SCD	SCD							
HbE	β major	SCD	β minor						
HbC	β minor?	SCD	β minor	β minor					

 $\beta$  minor

?

Normal Normal

?

?

Hb: Hemoglobin; SCD: Sickle cell disease; HbD: HbD<sup>Punjab</sup>.

SCD

?

HbD

HbX

β minor

?

strategy is inefficient and not cheaper at all.

In fact, even if well applied, this procedure implies at least two visits of the anemic carrier to the general practitioner (GP), two CBC's and at least one iron prescription. Moreover, healthy but slightly anemic thalassemia carriers are often kept on iron therapy for a long time before the hemoglobinopathy option is considered and investigated. In this scenario, delayed diagnosis of beta thalassemia carrier status in couples at risk might easily happen, resulting in the birth of a first severely affected child.

To avoid this unfortunate way of (mis) managing diagnostics and prevention, carrier screening campaigns at school, before obtaining the marriage certificate and before or early in pregnancy have been organized for several decades in most endemic Mediterranean countries, but often following the same strategy, being CBC as the first step followed by Hb separation and HbA2 measurement in case of low MCV<sup>(6-13)</sup>.

Today these methods are inappropriate. Dedicated high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) and/ or capillary electrophoresis (CE) devices are available in all modern laboratories where separation and estimation of all normal and abnormal Hb fractions is obtained automatically (Figure 1). These automatic methods are much faster and cheaper to public health than the procedure mentioned above, involving GP visits, inadequate iron therapies and repetitions of nonconclusive laboratory analyses. Moreover, carriers of common traits like HbS and HbC or less common traits like HbD<sup>Punjab</sup> or HbO<sup>Arab</sup>, all associated with sickle cell disease (SCD), are not anemic or microcytic unless an independently inherited alpha thalassemia trait is also present. As a matter of fact, those few SCD carriers diagnosed today are identified just by chance, because of their border line MCV due to a coexisting alpha + thalassemia trait  $(-\alpha/\alpha\alpha)$  or because of diabetes control with HbA1c later in life. Moreover, carriers of HbE, at risk for both severe beta thalassemia and SCD in their progeny, are often just border line microcytic, especially if vitamin B12 deficiency is also present. Therefore, pre-selecting by MCV in a multi-ethnic society, means missing the majority of the carriers of relevant traits associated with severe conditions in the progeny (Table 1). Screening should also not be based upon ethnic origin selection but should be offered at



Figure 1 Examples of putative diagnostic results identifying carriers of the common  $\beta$  globin gene defects associated with sickle cell disease and  $\beta$ -thalassemia major on different high performance liquid chromatography or capillary electrophoresis devices. From left to right separations on Sebia CE and Bio-Rad, Menarini, Tosoh and Ultra2 HPLC devices. HPLC: High performance liquid chromatography; CE: Capillary electrophoresis; Hb: Hemoglobin.

the national level and at the most logical moment. Ethnic selection has been matter of discussion since HBP in some non-endemic European countries has been considered as a rare "import" disease, too infrequent in the general population to justify universal screening. Indeed HBP are not found very frequently in the so called "low risk" North-European populations but low risk is not "no risk" and carriers of beta thalassemia, alpha thalassemia and HbD<sup>Punjab</sup> are regularly diagnosed in North-Europeans and not only because of distant (forgotten) "ethnic ancestors" but also due to "local" mutations. In fact, selecting for ethnic origin means discriminating both the included and the excluded ones, and adds to the risk when having found a carrier in the high risk population, the low risk partners in mixed couples are not checked, just supposing that for them the chance of being a carrier is "very low".

Because of all these considerations newborn screening (NBS) is universal in most countries that offer this option. However, NBS is not providing primary prevention and not even retrospective primary prevention to couples at risk if they are not properly counseled<sup>[4,5,14]</sup>.

For primary prevention, in the new multi-ethnic societies, screening should be offered to couples at risk before the first affected child is born and how and when universal screening should be organized starting with separation and measurement of the Hb fractions on HPLC or CE and using CBC as auxiliary data is further explained in this review.

#### The HBP's in a nutshell

To understand the HPLC/CE and CBC results one should keep in mind that thalassemias and abnormal hemoglobins are both HBP.

Thalassemias are caused by mutations on the globin genes that impair the expression of the genes reducing the amount of globin which is needed to form normal hemoglobin. This explains the microcytic hypochromic state of the red cells, the typical erythromorphology and the qualitatively normal HPLC/CE separations.

Abnormal hemoglobins (like the common HbS, HbC, HbE and HbD) are caused by mutations on the (beta) globin genes that change the structure of the globins and herewith of the more or less normally expressed abnormal hemoglobins. This explains the normocytic normochromic state of the red cells and the abnormal HPLC/CE separation. An exception among the common variants is HbE which is an abnormal hemoglobin with lower expression (approximately 25%) with a mild thalassemic phenotype in the carrier.

The genes involved in Hb expression during pre and postnatal life are the embryonic epsilon and zeta ( $\varepsilon$ and  $\zeta$ ), the fetal gamma ( $\gamma$ ), the full expression beta ( $\beta$ ) and alpha genes ( $\alpha$ ) and the low expression delta ( $\delta$ ) genes. All Hb molecules expressed during embryonic, fetal and postnatal life are tetramers. From the fetal life on, these tetramers are formed by 2 alpha and 2 non-alpha like globin chains. In normal conditions, the expression of postnatal hemoglobin HbA ( $\alpha 2/\beta 2$ ) and HbA2 ( $\alpha 2/\delta 2$ ) is coded by two  $\beta$ -globin genes (one of paternal and one of maternal origin) located on chromosome 11, four  $\alpha$ -genes (two of maternal and two of paternal origin) located on chromosome 16 and two  $\delta$  genes, adjacent to the  $\beta$ -genes. The four  $\gamma$ genes needed for fetal HbF ( $\alpha 2/\gamma 2$ ) expression during fetal life, are silenced during the first year of life. Therefore the expected expression of the Hb fractions in normal adults will be approximately 96%-97% HbA 2.5%-3% HbA2 and 0.5%-1% HbF. All changes found in these parameters can be associated with a relevant hemoglobinopathy.

#### **METHODS: SCREENING HOW**

#### The samples

Materials and methods for "basic" HBP carrier screening are very simple and available in virtually all laboratories<sup>[15]</sup>. Screening should always include separation and estimation of the Hb fractions on automated HPLC or CE and the separation results should be compared for compatibility with the CBC parameters. Samples should be collected in EDTA and be processed directly for the best CBC and Hb separation results. However, samples kept refrigerated and processed a few days later are still valid for separation and measurement of the fractions and for DNA extraction if required. Dry samples, as eventually used for newborn screening, are suitable for obtaining a provisional result from the separation on HPLC or CE but are obviously not suitable for CBC and DNA extraction from dry samples requires special methods.

#### Separation of the Hb fractions on dedicated devices

Separation and measurement of the Hb fraction has been done automatically for more than two decades using dedicated devices. The most popular HPLC and capillary electrophoresis devices (CE) evaluated by Van Delft *et al*<sup>[16]</sup> are available in virtually all laboratories.

These devices identify rapidly and at very low cost all carriers of high HbA2 beta thalassemia and of the common and relevant HbS, HbC, HbE and HbD which will represent most of the positive results to be expected in a multi-ethnic population<sup>[16]</sup>.

HbA2 levels above 4% are diagnostic for beta thalassemia trait with HbF levels that may or may not be slightly elevated<sup>[15]</sup>. Some cases of beta thalassemia trait may however present with HbA2 levels lower than 4%. In these cases, if the CBC remains microcytic, alpha and beta thalassemia should be further investigated at the molecular level, especially when risk is suspected in a putative carrier couple. In some cases, interfering delta globin gene defects may cause low HbA2 ( $\delta 2/\alpha 2$ ) levels and especially delta thalassemia may interfere with the diagnosis of high HbA2 beta thalassemia<sup>[17]</sup>.

Carriers of the common Hb variants (HbS, HbC, HbE and HbD) are identified at 100% sensitivity and over 95% specificity (Figure 1)<sup>[16]</sup>. The high specificity is partially due to the precise positions in which these fractions migrate but mainly due to the fact that these variants are the most common. To exclude rare variants moving in the same position as HbS the fraction can be confirmed with 100% specificity using the sickle test<sup>[18]</sup>. For all presumed couples at risk confirmation should be performed at the molecular level. All rare variants not corresponding to the common one should also be investigated at the molecular level to exclude genetic risk. Table 2 Genotype/phenotype correlation, indicative MCV/MCH values, HPLC/CE separations and presence of HbH or Hb Bart's and genetic risk in alpha thalassemia

Genotype	α-thalassemia	Phenotype	MCV	НРІС	HbH (adult)	Genetic risk for the
Genotype	Condition name	T nenotype	мсн	CE	Hb Bart's (newborn)	progeny of carriers
αα/αα	Normal	Normal	Normal	Normal	Absent	None
					Absent	
-α/αα	$\alpha^{+}$ heterozygous	Eventually anemic	borderline	Normal	Absent	HbH
					0%-5%	
-α/-α	$\alpha^{\dagger}$ homozygous	Mildly anemic	Low	Normal	Absent	HbH
				HbA2↓	5%-10%	
$/\alpha\alpha^{1}$	α° heterozygous	Mildly anemic	Low	Normal	Absent	HbH or Hb Bart's HF
				HbA2↓	5%-10%	
$/-\alpha^2$	HbH disease	Intermediate	Lower	HbH	0%-10%	HbH or Hb Bart's HF
		hemolytic anemia		Hb Bart's	10%-30%	
				HbA2↓↓		
/	Hb Bart's	Severe intrauterine	Severe	No HbA or HbF in	Hb Portland	Lethal to newborn.
	Hydrops Fetalis	hemolytic anemia	morphology	newborn	Hb Bart's	Life threatening for mother

<sup>1</sup>Rare positive cells after inclusion bodies staining; <sup>2</sup>Many positive cells after inclusion bodies staining (Figure 2). MCV: Mean corpuscular volume; MCH: Mean corpuscular hemoglobin; Hb: Hemoglobin; HPLC: High performance liquid chromatography; CE: Capillary electrophoresis.

Table 3 Indicative parameters usually associated with carrier states											
Carrier of	Hb	MCV	мсн	RBC	HbA2	HbF	Approximately HbS (%)	Approximately HbC (%)	Approximately HbE (%)	Approximately HbD (%)	Smear
Alpha thal	$L^2$	L <sup>2</sup>	$L^2$	Ν	$N^1$	Ν					TC, APC
Beta thal	L	L	L	N or E	$E^4$	N or E					TC, APC
HbS	$N^1$	$N^1$	$N^1$	Ν	$N^3$	Ν	45-256				Normal <sup>5</sup>
HbC	$N^1$	$N^1$	$N^1$	Ν	Ν	Ν		45-25 <sup>6</sup>			TC
HbE	L-N	L-N	L-N	Ν	Ν	N or E			± 25		TC, APC
HbD	$N^1$	$N^1$	$N^1$	Ν	Ν	Ν				± 45	Normal

<sup>1</sup>Could be lower in case of alpha thal; <sup>2</sup>Low depending on the form of the defect (see Table 2); <sup>3</sup>Could be higher due to HPLC artifact; <sup>4</sup>Some rare beta thal carriers have normal HbA2; <sup>5</sup>Positive on sickle test; <sup>6</sup>%HbS or C reduced in the presence of alpha thal. L: Low; N: Normal; E: Elevated; MCV: Mean corpuscular volume; MCH: Mean corpuscular hemoglobin; RBC: Red blood cell; TC: Target cells; APC: Anisopoikilocytosis; Hb: Hemoglobin.

#### Results of HPLC/CE screening and prevention

Screening with HPLC/CE methods will practically identify all carriers of "beta gene defects" that are important for offering primary prevention of severe hemoglobinopathies in a multi-ethnic society. Adult carriers of mild alpha gene defects are not identified on HPLC/CE but can be easily identified during newborn screening by the presence of Hb Bart's (Table 2).

Due to the lethal outcome of homozygous alpha zero defects and the usually mild to intermediate phenotype of HbH disease, carriers of alpha gene defects represent a relatively less severe problem to public health. However, and also because of maternal risk, screening for these traits, common in Southeast Asian and Chinese populations, should be taken into serious consideration (read further).

#### Correlation between HPLC/CE and CBC parameters

The CBC parameters should be compatible with the HPLC or CE results. As mentioned above, carriers of thalassemia are characterized by a mild microcytic (MCV $\downarrow$ ) hypochromic (MCH $\downarrow$ ) anemia (Hb $\downarrow$ ) not improving on iron therapy. Conversely, carriers of the common Hb variants, separable on HPLC or CE are not microcytic, unless also carriers of coexisting alpha

thalassemia. In addition, a low MCV value tends to increase with time and in case of borderline values measured often in mild alpha thalassemia, one can better rely on the MCH value which remains more constant. The best discriminating CBC parameter to differentiate between iron deficiency and thalassemia will be the red blood cell (RBC) count, which is often elevated in the compensated beta thalassemia carrier with sufficient folic acid intake. Indicative parameters are summarized in Table 3.

The microcytic anemic condition is less evident in carriers of mild alpha thalassemia. This depends from the presence of 4 alpha genes and from the number of alpha genes left active. CBC can then be nearly normal in the mildest alpha thalassemia forms and strongly abnormal in the severe HbH disease form (Table 2).

#### Erythromorphology

While often disregarded in modern laboratories because time consuming and because it requires trained observers, the smear gives away the diagnosis of thalassemia to the expert eye who will identify the typical erythromorphology of the target cells and anisopoikylocytosis (last column in Table 3), the last being the visual equivalent of the differential



WJOG | www.wjgnet.com



Figure 2 Typical hemoglobin H inclusion bodies found sporadically in carriers of alpha zero thalassemia (--/ $\alpha\alpha$ ) and abundantly in patients with hemoglobin H disease (--/- $\alpha$ ).

parameter "red cell distribution width" (RDW). Moreover, smears stained with supravital brilliant cresyl blue (reticulocytes staining), will identify the rare HbH inclusion body cells, specific to the alpha zero thalassemia carrier (at risk for hydrops fetalis in the progeny) (Figure 2).

#### Significance of HbA2 and HbF measurement

As mentioned above, an adult  $\beta$ -thalassemia carrier will usually show 4% or more HbA2. Then, if matching with the expected microcytic hypochromic CBC parameters, the provisional diagnosis will be "carrier of  $\beta$ -thalassemia". However, some rare  $\beta$ -thalassemia mutations show HbA2 values in the "grey zone" (3.5%-3.9%) or even normal levels. In these cases excluding a  $\beta$ -thalassemia trait because of a value just below the normal cut of, trusting on the presumed precision of the measurement is very imprudent, especially when CBC indicates persistent microcytosis in absence of iron depletion. In these cases further investigation is needed as one may have a borderline HbA2  $\beta$ -thalassemia, an  $\alpha$ -thalassemia or a large  $\beta$  deletion thalassemia defect<sup>[19]</sup>. Some HbF (up to approximately 7%-8%) will eventually be present in the beta thalassemia carrier. Higher HbF levels are usually associated with delta/beta thalassemia deletion defects that will present with normal HbA2 levels and masked microcytosis due to the larger size of the HbF cells.

Dedicated devices may overestimate or underestimate the HbA2 levels in the presence of Hb variants. However, measurement of HbA2 in the presence of HbA and any  $\beta$  variant is obsolete. When both HbA and the  $\beta$  variants are expressed (in non-transfused patients) it means that both  $\beta$  genes are expressed and that there is no need to measure HbA2 to establish the presence of a non-expressed  $\beta$  thalassemia gene.

#### HbA2 and alpha thalassemia

Adult  $\alpha$ -thal carriers will show no specific characteristics on HPLC or CE except for a marginal reduction in HbA2 expression. The only exception is HbH disease, which

will usually present with significantly low HbA2 and a rapid migrating or eluting but unstable and quickly disappearing HbH fraction.

When suspecting  $\alpha$ -thal because of the CBC parameters in the absence of iron depletion and low HbA2, then molecular analysis is needed to detect the common deletions or point mutations. On the other hand,  $\alpha$ -thal can easily be detected at birth by the presence of Hb Bart's. The presence of Hb Bart's observed during newborn screening should be reported to avoid a more laborious diagnosis later in life.

In the presence of a single non active  $\alpha$  gene Hb Bart's value between 0% to 5% is usually measured. The rates rises from 5% to 10% when two  $\alpha$  genes are compromised (either in *cis* --/ $\alpha\alpha$  or *trans* - $\alpha$ /- $\alpha$ ), while in HbH disease (- $\alpha$ /--), Hb Bart's level can go from 10% to 30%. In case of the lethal hydrops fetalis syndrome (--/--) no HbF is present in the fetus or in the severely compromised newborn but traces of HbH ( $\beta$ 4), Hb Bart's ( $\gamma$ 4), ( $\epsilon$ 4), Hb Gower-I ( $\zeta$ 2 $\epsilon$ 2) and the embryonic Hb Portland ( $\zeta$ 2 $\gamma$ 2) are detected (Table 2).

#### The folic acid issue

Together with iron are vitamin B12 and folic acid essential for erythropoiesis. Folic acid is prescribed before and during pregnancy also to prevent neural tube defects like spina bifida. Folic acid is a vitamin with limited body storage that can be rapidly exhausted during increased cell division, a condition not only present in pregnancy but also chronic in thalassemia carriers. As mentioned above, the RBC count tends to be elevated in well compensated beta thalassemia carriers. Compensation is folic acid dependent and anemia may become more pronounced in beta thalassemia carriers in case of low folic acid intake. If folic acid is sufficiently present, RBC counts tend to be higher and by this compensatory mechanism Hb levels tend to be higher as well, while the packed red cells (PCV) value remains within normal levels. Measurement of serum folic acid gives no clue since it is the limited reserve of this vitamin which determines maintenance of the compensating mechanism. Therefore a folic acid prescription for anemic thalassemia carriers with poor dietary intake can be beneficial.

#### SCREENING WHEN

#### Newborn screening

Although SCD and thalassemia major do not need special treatment during the first 5-6 mo of life, several immigration countries have included HBP in the ongoing newborn screening (NBS) originally intended for treatment of metabolic diseases directly after birth<sup>[20-24]</sup>. Although NBS comes one child too late, one could expect some retrospective and prospective primary prevention for couples who had an affected or a carrier child. Unfortunately, after 7 years of NBS in the Netherlands no changes in the incidence of these severe diseases and in the requests for prenatal

Giordano PC. Hemoglobinopathies in today's multi-ethnic societies



Figure 3 Genetic risk for hemoglobinopathies and practical prevention flow chart after carrier screening early in pregnancy. HPLC: High performance liquid chromatography; CE: Capillary electrophoresis; HBP: Hemoglobinopathy; CBC: Complete blood count.

diagnoses have been registered<sup>[14]</sup>.

#### More efficient screening

To introduce a more efficient screening for primary prevention in multi-ethnic societies, one needs to identify healthy couples at risk before the birth of the first affected child. Moreover, one needs to choose the most logical moment, to provide the most consistent structure and to apply the most economically and socially convenient strategy<sup>[24]</sup>. If we look at the experience from decades of prevention in endemic countries<sup>[7-13]</sup>, we see mandatory screening options before marriage which are not likely to become recommended in modern multi-ethnic societies unless prescribed by specific cultures. Screening when planning a pregnancy would be ideal but no structures are available to deal with different cultures at this stage except perhaps the scarcely experienced and reluctant GP's. In fact, pre-pregnancy counseling is not available in most of the non-endemic immigration areas where little awareness is present in the daily healthcare structures and in the public. Putting up such a structure would take lot of efforts, lot of time and money. Regarding PGD, most countries offer this only in case of fertility problems and/or embryo selection when a suitable stem cells donor is needed for an affected child.

Screening early in pregnancy has been proven to be most effective and requested by well-informed couples in the endemic countries of Southern Europe and it is bound to be the most sensible options in most immigration countries (Figure 3). Screening early in pregnancy comes at a time when both parents are concerned with the good health of their progeny. Both parents are generally involved and the female partner has lesser chances to be stigmatized. Pregnancy care structures are usually well organized in most immigration countries where dedicated midwifes or obstetricians can provide information and offer screening and prevention<sup>[25]</sup>. The most practical option would then be to anticipate the first pregnancy visit and to offer hemoglobinopathy screening together with the rhesus and infectious diseases screening which is routinely offered to all pregnant women in most developed countries.

#### Screening results: Information vs counseling

An important task for the obstetrician/gynecologist and for the laboratory analyzing the blood is to provide a thorough explanation. This can be done verbally and by using a standard letter when offering screening. Once the (pregnant) female carrier is diagnosed, short term partner analysis should be advised and to avoid anxiety it should be explained that being a carrier is not a disease but a recessive hereditary trait that only if present in both parents may affect their children with a chance of 1 in 4 causing a severe condition. Couples at risk should be made aware of the fact that the risk of 1 on 4 goes for every pregnancy and that having had one affected child does not mean that the next 3 should be healthy. Carriers should be reassured by explaining that each human is a carrier of several recessive traits and that knowing which one is an advantage that allows prevention if necessary.

Once the partner of a carrier of a relevant trait is found positive, then the putative couples at risk should be confirmed at the molecular level and counseled by a genetic counselor well informed about the severity of the diseases and the prognosis to be expected in the progeny. If the parents opt for prevention, prenatal diagnosis should be provided. Counseling should not be directive, neither toward treatment nor prevention,



but based upon thorough and realistic information and should not be provided by doctors that may propose very expensive treatment without any hope of a definitive cure<sup>[3]</sup>. Parents should be counseled about the difference between treatment and cure. They should be made aware of the fact that the disease can be treated but cannot be cured and that, in spite of the best treatment, the severity of the disease will only progress until premature death. Bone marrow (stem cells) transplant (BMT) the only available "cure" today, may also fail causing severe graft versus host diseases and even when "successful" may leave the patient in a chronic post BMT condition requiring lifelong treatment and monitoring.

#### Some bottlenecks

Information on genetic risk can be interpreted in different ways in different cultures. In some cultures, when the pregnant female is diagnosed as a carrier and the male partner is asked to be checked, he might refuse to comply. In some culture the male might blame the female for getting a sick child. There have been cases of pregnant HbS carriers who had a child affected with SCD because the father did not show up, leaving the mother alone to take care of the sick child. It would therefore be ethically correct to offer prenatal diagnosis to female carriers also in absence of the father and in particular when the supposed father belongs to an ethnic group of high prevalence.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The author is grateful to Ing. Luca Giordano for providing the audio version of the "Core tip" paragraph.

#### REFERENCES

- 1 Weatherall DJ. The inherited diseases of hemoglobin are an emerging global health burden. *Blood* 2010; **115**: 4331-4336 [PMID: 20233970 DOI: 10.1182/blood-2010-01-251348]
- 2 Modell B, Darlison M, Birgens H, Cario H, Faustino P, Giordano PC, Gulbis B, Hopmeier P, Lena-Russo D, Romao L, Theodorsson E. Epidemiology of haemoglobin disorders in Europe: an overview. *Scand J Clin Lab Invest* 2007; 67: 39-69 [PMID: 17365984 DOI: 10.2471/BLT.06.036673]
- Koren A, Profeta L, Zalman L, Palmor H, Levin C, Zamir RB, Shalev S, Blondheim O. Prevention of β Thalassemia in Northern Israel - a Cost-Benefit Analysis. *Mediterr J Hematol Infect Dis* 2014; 6: e2014012 [PMID: 24678389]
- 4 Giordano PC, Harteveld CL, Bakker E. Genetic epidemiology and preventive healthcare in multiethnic societies: the hemoglobinopathies. *Int J Environ Res Public Health* 2014; 11: 6136-6146 [PMID: 24921462 DOI: 10.3390/ijerph110606136]
- 5 Giordano PC. Prospective and retrospective primary prevention of hemoglobinopathies in multiethnic societies. *Clin Biochem* 2009; 42: 1757-1766 [PMID: 19591814 DOI: 10.1016/j.clinbiochem.2009.06. 027]
- 6 Loukopoulos D. Haemoglobinopathies in Greece: prevention programme over the past 35 years. *Indian J Med Res* 2011; 134: 572-576 [PMID: 22089622]
- 7 Lena-Russo D, Erny N, Serradimigni F, Badens C, Aubinaud M, Merono F, Paolasso C, Mattei JF, Giraud F. [Genetic hemoglobin

diseases. Prevention at centers for family planning and education of maternal-child protection in Marseille]. *Presse Med* 1996; **25**: 151-153 [PMID: 8728899]

- Angastiniotis M, Modell B, Englezos P, Boulyjenkov V. Prevention and control of haemoglobinopathies. *Bull World Health Organ* 1995; 73: 375-386 [PMID: 7614670]
- 9 Koren A, Zalman L, Palmor H, Zamir RB, Levin C, Openheim A, Daniel-Spiegel E, Shalev S, Filon D. Sickle cell anemia in northern Israel: screening and prevention. *Isr Med Assoc J* 2009; 11: 229-234 [PMID: 19603597]
- 10 Tarazi I, Al Najjar E, Lulu N, Sirdah M. Obligatory premarital tests for beta-thalassaemia in the Gaza Strip: evaluation and recommendations. *Int J Lab Hematol* 2007; 29: 111-118 [PMID: 17474883 DOI: 10.1111/j.1751-553X.2006.00836.x]
- 11 Canatan D, Aydınok Y, Kılınç Y, Karakaş Z, Saşmaz I, Apak H, Sarper N. National thalassemia prevention campaign: the talotır project. *Turk J Haematol* 2013; **30**: 91-92 [PMID: 24385764 DOI: 10.4274/tjh.2012.0121]
- 12 El-Beshlawy A, Youssry I. Prevention of hemoglobinopathies in Egypt. *Hemoglobin* 2009; **33** Suppl 1: S14-S20 [PMID: 20001619 DOI: 10.3109/03630260903346395]
- 13 Cousens NE, Gaff CL, Metcalfe SA, Delatycki MB. Carrier screening for beta-thalassaemia: a review of international practice. *Eur J Hum Genet* 2010; 18: 1077-1083 [PMID: 20571509 DOI: 10.1038/ejhg.2010.90]
- 14 Kaufmann JO, Krapels IP, Van Brussel BT, Zekveld-Vroon RC, Oosterwijk JC, van Erp F, van Echtelt J, Zwijnenburg PJ, Petrij F, Bakker E, Giordano PC. After the introduction into the national newborn screening program: who is receiving genetic counseling for hemoglobinopathies in the Netherlands? *Public Health Genomics* 2014; 17: 16-22 [PMID: 24216604 DOI: 10.1159/000355223]
- 15 Giordano PC. Strategies for basic laboratory diagnostics of the hemoglobinopathies in multi-ethnic societies: interpretation of results and pitfalls. *Int J Lab Hematol* 2013; **35**: 465-479 [PMID: 23217050 DOI: 10.1111/ijlh.12037]
- 16 Van Delft P, Lenters E, Bakker-Verweij M, de Korte M, Baylan U, Harteveld CL, Giordano PC. Evaluating five dedicated automatic devices for haemoglobinopathy diagnostics in multi-ethnic populations. *Int J Lab Hematol* 2009; **31**: 484-495 [PMID: 19486364 DOI: 10.1111/j.1751-553X.2009.01158.x]
- 17 Phylipsen M, Gallivan MV, Arkesteijn SG, Harteveld CL, Giordano PC. Occurrence of common and rare δ-globin gene defects in two multiethnic populations: thirteen new mutations and the significance of δ-globin gene defects in β-thalassemia diagnostics. *Int J Lab Hematol* 2011; **33**: 85-91 [PMID: 20678137 DOI: 10.1111/j.1751-553X.2010.01255.x]
- 18 Harteveld CL, Ponjee G, Bakker-Verweij M, Arkesteijn SG, Phylipsen M, Giordano PC. Hb Haaglanden: a new nonsickling β7Glu& gt; Val variant. Consequences for basic diagnostics, screening, and risk assessment when dealing with HbS-like variants. *Int J Lab Hematol* 2012; **34**: 551-555 [PMID: 22494447 DOI: 10.1111/j.1751-553X.2012.01424.x]
- 19 Mosca A, Paleari R, Ivaldi G, Galanello R, Giordano PC. The role of haemoglobin A(2) testing in the diagnosis of thalassaemias and related haemoglobinopathies. *J Clin Pathol* 2009; 62: 13-17 [PMID: 19103851 DOI: 10.1136/jcp.2008.056945]
- 20 Bouva MJ, Mohrmann K, Brinkman HB, Kemper-Proper EA, Elvers B, Loeber JG, Verheul FE, Giordano PC. Implementing neonatal screening for haemoglobinopathies in the Netherlands. *J Med Screen* 2010; 17: 58-65 [PMID: 20660432 DOI: 10.1258/ jms.2010.009075]
- Streetly A, Latinovic R, Henthorn J. Positive screening and carrier results for the England-wide universal newborn sickle cell screening programme by ethnicity and area for 2005-07. *J Clin Pathol* 2010; 63: 626-629 [PMID: 20591912 DOI: 10.1136/jcp.2010.077560]
- 22 Thuret I, Sarles J, Merono F, Suzineau E, Collomb J, Lena-Russo D, Levy N, Bardakdjian J, Badens C. Neonatal screening for sickle cell disease in France: evaluation of the selective process. J Clin Pathol 2010; 63: 548-551 [PMID: 20498028 DOI: 10.1136/

#### Giordano PC. Hemoglobinopathies in today's multi-ethnic societies

jcp.2009.068874]

- 23 Bain BJ. Neonatal/newborn haemoglobinopathy screening in Europe and Africa. J Clin Pathol 2009; 62: 53-56 [PMID: 19103862 DOI: 10.1136/jcp.2008.060624]
- 24 **Giordano PC**, Rachmilewitz E. The Price of Mercy: Comment to the Paper Entitled "Prevention of Beta Thalassemia In Northern Israel - A Cost-Benefit Analysis" by Koren et Al. recently published in Mediterranean Journal of Hematology and Infectious Diseases.

*Mediterr J Hematol Infect Dis* 2014; **6**: e2014022 [PMID: 24678399 DOI: 10.4084/mjhid]

25 Kaufmann JO, Demirel-Güngör G, Selles A, Hudig C, Steen G, Ponjee G, Holleboom C, Freeman LM, Hendiks J, Wijermans P, Giordano PC, Kerkhoffs JL. Feasibility of nonselective testing for hemoglobinopathies in early pregnancy in The Netherlands. *Prenat Diagn* 2011; **31**: 1259-1263 [PMID: 22031467 DOI: 10.1002/ pd.2882]

> P- Reviewer: Messinis IE, Mohammed Usta I S- Editor: Gong XM L- Editor: A E- Editor: Wang CH







Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.5317/wjog.v4.i4.95 World J Obstet Gynecol 2015 November 10; 4(4): 95-101 ISSN 2218-6220 (online) © 2015 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

MINIREVIEWS

#### **Emergency contraception: What is new?**

Sefa Kelekci, Serpil Aydogmus

Sefa Kelekci, Serpil Aydogmus, Ataturk Research and Training Hospital, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, School of Medicine, Izmir Katip Celebi University, 35150 Izmir, Turkey

Author contributions: Kelekci S and Aydogmus S contrubuted to this paper; Kelekci S also designed the outline and coordinated the writing of the paper.

**Conflict-of-interest statement:** There is no conflict of interest associated with any of the senior author or other coauthors contributed their efforts in this manuscript.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Correspondence to: Sefa Kelekci, MD, Ataturk Research and Training Hospital, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, School of Medicine, Izmir Katip Celebi University, Polat St., Karabaglar, 35150 Izmir, Turkey. sefakelekci@gmail.com Telephone: +90-232-2444444

Received: May 11, 2015 Peer-review started: May 18, 2015 First decision: July 10, 2015 Revised: August 14, 2015 Accepted: September 7, 2015 Article in press: September 8, 2015 Published online: November 10, 2015

#### Abstract

Unintended pregnancy rates remain high throughout the World and increase the risk of poor maternal and infant outcomes. Most of unintended pregnancies occur in women who were not using contraception

or who became pregnant despite the reported use of contraception. Women who have had recent unprotected intercourse including those who have had another form of contraception fail are potential candidates for this intervention. Currently used emergency contraceptive methods are pills that contain combined estrogen-progesterone, only progestin, antiprogestins and copper intrauterine devices. The most common form of this type of contraception is oral progestin-only pills (levonorgestrel). The most effective method is copper intrauterine devices followed by anti-progestins and oral progestin-only pills. The major pathogenesis of oral emergency contraceptives is the prevention or delay of ovulation. Although conception is possible on only a few days of the cycle, emergency contraception is offered when indicated without regard to the timing of the menstrual cycle because of uncertainty in the timing of the ovulation. Levonorgestrel and E/P regimes are most effective as soon as possible after unprotected sexual intercourse. A linear relationship has been shown between effectiveness and the time of dose. The effectiveness continues for 120 h, but it is recommended to be used within 72 h after intercourse. Intrauterine devices may prevent pregnancy when 5 d after ovulation.

Key words: Emergency contraception; Levonorgestrel; Mifepristone; Ovulation; Ulipristal acetate

© **The Author(s) 2015.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core tip:** Emergency contraception methods have varying ranges of effectiveness depending on the method and timing of administration. The major pathogenesis of oral emergency contraceptives is the prevention or delay of ovulation or prevention of fertilisation. Combined and progestin-based emergency contraceptives should be used as soon as possible to enhance the efficacy. Emergency contraception offers a final chance to prevent pregnancy.



Kelekci S, Aydogmus S. Emergency contraception: What is new? *World J Obstet Gynecol* 2015; 4(4): 95-101 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/2218-6220/full/v4/i4/95.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.5317/wjog.v4.i4.95

#### INTRODUCTION

Emergency contraception is defined as contraceptive methods used after unprotected sexual intercourse or sexual assault and in cases with contraceptive failure. Currently used emergency contraceptive methods are pills that contain combined estrogen-progesterone, only progestin, antiprogestins and copper intrauterine devices.

The most common form of this type of contraception is progestin-only pills (levonorgestrel). The most effective method is copper intrauterine devices followed by anti-progestins and oral progestin-only pills. The major pathogenesis of oral emergency contraceptives are presumed to be a delay or prevention of ovulation. Levonorgestrel in particular is ineffective as emergency contraception after ovulation. The major role of copper-induced intrauterine devices in emergency contraception is the prevention of fertilization<sup>[1]</sup>. There is much evidence suggesting that implantation of the fertilized ovule cannot be prevented by emergency contraception.

The possibility of pregnancy after unprotected sexual intercourse changes between 12%-30% in a population of young couples in their mid-twenties depending on the day of the menstrual cycle<sup>[2]</sup>. While the possibility of pregnancy is higher on the day of ovulation, emergency contraception can be used at any time of the menstrual cycle. It is independent of the day of ovulation. The most widely used EC methods are summarised in Table 1.

Indications for possible emergency contraception fallow as<sup>[3]</sup>: When no contraceptive was used during sexual intercourse within the previous 120 h; When there is a contraceptive failure or incorrect use of a contraceptive within the previous 120 h, including: (1) condom breakage, slippage, or incorrect use; (2) three or more 30 to 35 mcg ethinyl estradiol pills have been missed (or two or more 20 to 25 mcg pills); (3) progestin-only pill (minipill) taken more than three hours late; (4) more than two weeks late for injection of depot-medroxyprogesterone acetate; (5) dislodgment, breakage, tearing, or early removal of a diaphragm or cervical cap; (6) dislodgment, delay in placing, or early removal of a contraceptive hormonal skin patch or vaginal ring; (7) failed coitus interruptus (e.g., ejaculation in vagina or on external genitalia); (8) failure of a spermicide tablet or film to melt before sexual intercourse; (9) miscalculation of the periodic abstinence method or failure to abstain on fertile day of cycle; and (10) expulsion of intrauterine contraception.

#### Table 1 Summary of emergency contrception methods

Contraceptive methods	Mechanism of action	Effective time	Most common side effects
Contraceptive	Inhibition	72 h	Same as COC
Pills	or delay of	recommended	
(Yuzpe	ovulation	(Up to 120 h)	
Regimen)			
Progestin-only	Inhibition	72 h	Nausea and
ECP	or delay of	recommended	vomiting
	ovulation	(Up to 120 h)	Irregular bleeding
Ullipristal	Inhibition	Up to 120 h	Nausea and
	or delay of		vomiting
	ovulation		Abdominal pain
Copper	Prevention of	Up to 5 d	Genital infection
induced IUD	İmplantation	(recommended)	Bleeding with
			unknown etiology
			Abnormalities of
			the uterus
			Wilson disease

ECP: Emergency contraceptive pills; IUD: Intrauterine devices; COC: Combined oral contraceptives.

#### COMBINED EMERGENCY CONTRACEPTIVE PILLS (YUZPE REGIMEN)

Many clinical studies have shown that ovulation can be prevented or delayed with emergency contraceptive pills that contain estrogen (E) and progesterone  $(P)^{[4,5]}$ . After the first studies showing prevention of pregnancy with high dose of estrogen in 1974, Yuzpe *et al*<sup>[6]</sup> defined a low dose regime containing 200 mcg ethinyl estradiol and 1 mg levonorgestrel.

Some studies suggested that emergency contraceptive pills (ECP) prevent the implantation of the fertilized ovule by changing the endometrial receptivity in addition to the biochemical and histological changes in the endometrium after use of this regime. However, these suggestions were not confirmed in recent studies. Other possible mechanisms of ECP include changes to the function of the corpus luteum, thickening of cervical mucus, changes in tubal transport and prevention of fertilization<sup>[7-9]</sup>.

Preven was approved for emergency contraception by Food and Drug Administration (FDA) in 1998 and was withdrawn in 2004. However, combined oral contraceptives (COC) that are not packed for emergency contraception can be used as 100 mcg ethinyl estradiol and 0.50 mg levonorgestrel with the same dose repeated in 12 h<sup>[10]</sup>. Levonorgestrel and E/P regimes are most effective after as soon as possible after unprotected sexual intercourse. There is a linear relationship between efficacy and the dose time. The efficacy continues for 120 h, but use within 72 h is recommended. Patients must be warned about this reduction in efficacy - especially after 96 h. In a meta-analysis of 3800 women, the success of the Yuzpe regime in the prevention of unwanted pregnancies was found to be 56%-89%<sup>[11]</sup>. However,

WJOG | www.wjgnet.com

the Yuzpe regimen is not recommended because side effects are more common, and the efficacy of ECP is approximately half of the use of only levonorgestrel<sup>[12]</sup>.

#### **PROGESTIN-ONLY ECP**

Early studies showed that levonorgestrel disrupts ovulation and the luteal functions. No effect on the endometrium was reported in these studies despite a study suggesting that the use of levonorgestrel glycodelin just before the luteinizing hormone (LH) surge changes the luteal phase secretory pattern. Levonorgestrel has no effect on the endometrial implantation of the embryo and endometrial receptivity markers<sup>[13-18]</sup>. The original prescription is the use of 0.75 mg oral levonorgestrel in the first 72 h with a repeated identical dose after 12 h. The same efficacy was reported with a 1.5 mg single dose in different studies. In addition to the studies supporting the same side effects for the two methods, most studies reported more headaches and breast sensitivity in the single dose regime<sup>[19,20]</sup>. In another study, 2 doses of 0.75 mg levonorgestrel repeated at 24 h had the same efficacy. Levonorgestrel is more effective than the Yuzpe regime in the prevention of pregnancy (RR = 0.51, 95%CI: 0.31-0.83) with fewer side effects (nausea RR = 0.43, 95%CI: 0.39-0.48; vomiting RR = 0.24, 95%CI: 0.18-0.31; headache RR = 0.83, 95%CI: 0.69-1.00; breast tenderness RR = 0.84, 95%CI:  $0.69-1.01)^{[21]}$ .

#### **ANTIPROGESTINS**

Ullipristal and mifepristone are similar antiprogestins with similar chemical structures. The major mechanism is *via* prevention or delay of ovulation in addition to the effects on endometrium causing disruption of implantation<sup>[22]</sup>.

#### MIFEPRISTONE

Mifepristone is a first-generation progesterone receptor modulator and is approved for use in many countries for first trimester abortion. In randomized studies, a dose of 5-600 mg mifepristone (RU-486) has the same or better efficacy in the prevention of pregnancy than oral emergency contraceptives (up to 99%-100%)<sup>[23-26]</sup>.

The optimal dose is not clearly defined but may be 25-50 mg with no serious side effects. A delay in menstrual bleeding after the use of antiprogestins decreases doubts of pregnancy and anxiety<sup>[27,28]</sup>. The use of mifepristone in pill form is prevented for widespread use as emergency contraception. Mifepristone is only approved in Armenia, China, Russia and Vietnam as an emergency contraceptive.

#### ULLIPRISTAL

A selective progesterone receptor modulator with

antiprogestin effects that can cause 5 d in delay of ovulation. There are studies showing that it can cause endometrial changes, however it remains controversial if it inhibits implantation. Ullipristal is used as a single dose of 30 mg. It is the most effective ECP in Europe and United States with an efficacy of 62%-85%<sup>[29-31]</sup>. Ullipristal is effective in the late follicular phase in which a rise in the level of LH has begun but no peak was achieved. In a meta-analysis comparing the efficiencies of levonorgestrel and ullipristal, the latter was shown to be higher at 0-24, 0-72 and 0-120 h after intercourse with no differences in side effect profiles<sup>[31]</sup>.

#### COPPER-INDUCED INTRAUTERINE DEVICES

Implantation occurs 6-12 d following ovulation. Intrauterine devices may prevent pregnancy when applied 5 d after ovulation. Copper induced intrauterine devices (IUD) are the most effective emergency contraceptives with a major advantage for continuous contraceptive effect. In a multi-centre study with 1013 patients, its efficiency was 96.9% when used 120 h after intercourse<sup>[32]</sup>. The contraindications of applying an IUD at the same day of intercourse are acute cervicitis and other known medical contraindications. It should be applied 5 d after unprotected sexual intercourse, however there is limited data suggesting that the efficiency continues to 7 d<sup>[33]</sup>.

# OTHER INTRAUTERINE CONTRACEPTIVE METHODS

No data was found in the literature about the use of LNG-IUDs in emergency contraception. It was not recommended for this indication<sup>[34,35]</sup>. The LNG-IUDs can only be applied after the exclusion of pregnancy and only if the patient is 7 d or more into the menstruel cycle. If not, an additional contraceptive method or ECP for 7 d is recommended<sup>[35]</sup>.

The frameless copper IUDs produced for adolescents and nullipar women (GyneFix<sup>®</sup> 330) have the same efficiency as ordinary copper IUDs in emergency contraception<sup>[36]</sup>.

#### THE FACTORS CHANGING THE EFFICIENCY OF EMERGENCY CONTRACEPTIVES

#### Timing of treatment

Combined and progestin-based emergency contraceptives should be used as soon as possible (0-72 h) to enhance the efficacy<sup>[37]</sup>. Both drugs can be started up to 120 h after sex, but patients must be informed about the reduced activity after 96  $h^{[38]}$ . Ullipristal is the only approved oral agent for emergency contraception

from 72-120 h. Copper IUDs can be used for up to 5 d because of the post-fertilization effects. A systematic review reported the efficiency of IUDs up to 7 d, but there is limited data supporting this claim<sup>[39]</sup>.

#### Body mass index

The efficiency of levonorgestrel ECP is decreased in obese women with an increase in unwanted pregnancies; however, no such effect was seen for ullipristal<sup>[39]</sup>. Because of these results, one commercial form of levonorgestrel added a warning of reduced efficiency in patients over 75 kg. After revision of the study, the European Medicines Agency described no reduction, and the warning was removed<sup>[40]</sup>.

#### SAFETY

There is no physical examination or laboratory testing required before the use of oral progestin-based emergency contraceptives beyond the unnecessary pregnancy test unless there is no doubt of pregnancy due to symptoms or last menstruation date. No teratogenic effects on the foetus or side effects have been reported, however pregnancy must be excluded in cases using ullipristal or IUD.

Emergency contraception did not show any causal connection to death or serious complications. According to profit and loss rate data from the United States Medical Eligibility Criteria for Contraceptive Use (US MEC), no risk factors were reported to prevent the use of combined ECP and progestin-only pills<sup>[34,35]</sup>. ECP can be used in patients with lactation or a history of ectopic pregnancy, cardiovascular disease, migraine, and liver disease. ECPs can be used in patients contraindicated for combined oral contraceptives because of the short use time and lower total hormone dose<sup>[35]</sup>. Ullipristal acetate, progestin-only ECP, or copper-induced IUDs are preferred in women with changes in coagulation factors or a history of venous thromboembolism (VTE) or pulmonary embolism (PE). Repeated ECP use is safer than pregnancy even if there is no sufficient data for repeated ECP use. A warning to not repeat the dose in one menstrual cycle is included in the prospectus of ullipristal asetate<sup>[41]</sup>.

#### CONTRAINDICATIONS

The contraindications for hormonal contraceptives cannot be adapted to women using emergency contraception. This is especially true in cases with cardiovascular diseases, thrombotic diseases, migraine, and liver disease. The advantages of use overpower the potential risks<sup>[42,43]</sup>. These guides do not include ullipristal. The contraindications for use of ullipristal are suspected pregnancy, uncontrolled asthma and liver diseases. The contraindications for IUD are uterine distortion, active pelvic infection, allergy to copper, and suspected pregnancy.

#### SIDE EFFECTS

Nausea-vomiting, abdominal pain, breast tenderness, headache, dizziness and weakness that regressed spontaneously in 24 h are the major side effects. Nausea and vomiting are seen in nearly half and 20% of the patients using combined ECP, respectively. Nausea and vomiting are less common in levonorgestrel than in combined ECP<sup>[12]</sup>.

Some authors suggest a repeated dose in case of vomiting. This should be given 2 h later. In combined ECPs containing E/P, a repeated oral levonorgestrel and ullipristal dose is given at 1 h and 3 h after vomiting, respectively. Meclisine can be used to prevent nausea but it has no effect on dizziness. Vaginal administration is described, but the efficiency remains unclear. The application of the IUD is preferred instead.

ECPs containing levonorgestrel may shorten menstrual cycle when used in the early days of the cycle. ECPs have no effect on the duration of the cycle, but the duration of bleeding may extend to the next cycle. The duration of the menstrual cycle extends when used in periovulatory and postovulatory phases. Inter menstrual bleeding is seen in 15% of patients.

#### **EFFECTS ON PREGNANCY**

In a study of 332 pregnant women who used levonorgestrel in during the conception phase, there was no rise in birth defects<sup>[44]</sup>. ECPs do not increase the risk of extrauterine pregnancy in future pregnancies<sup>[45,46]</sup>.

#### **USE IN LACTATION**

There is no restriction on the use of levonorgestrel or combined ECPs in lactating women<sup>[44]</sup>. In a study researching the pharmacokinetics of the use of 1.5 mg levonorgestrel for emergency contraception in lactating women, it is recommended to break from breastfeeding for 8 h during the excretion of levonorgestrel to breast milk. Feeding should restart in 24  $h^{[47]}$ .

In a study comparing efficiencies of progestin-only oral contraceptives and progestin-only ECPs in lactating women, no difference was detected in maternal and foetal effects<sup>[48]</sup>. Seven days hiatus from breastfeeding is advised after a single dose of ullipristal. The milk must be collected and discarded during this time to continue to stimulate lactation<sup>[49]</sup>.

#### DRUG INTERACTIONS

Drugs that induce liver enzymes may reduce the efficiency of levonorgestrel and ullipristal. Therefore, IUDs may be recommended for emergency contraception in patients using drugs inducing liver enzymes such as anti-epileptics and antiviral agents in the last 28 d<sup>[50]</sup>. In addition, ullipristal should not be



used with drugs increasing gastric pH.

#### PROCEEDING OR STARTING HORMONAL CONTRACEPTION

Because of the unknown duration of emergency contraceptive effects, it is unclear how to proceed with continuous contraception at the same menstrual cycle. The patient must be informed about using a safe contraceptive method<sup>[51]</sup>. According to pharmacokinetic studies and expert opinions, barrier methods and hormonal contraceptives may be started after application of emergency contraception. In the first seven days of hormonal contraceptives, an additional failsafe method must be used.

The use of long-term contraceptives is not recommended prior to exclusion of pregnancy. The efficiency of hormonal contraceptives may decrease in patients using ullipristal depending on the progesterone antagonistic effect. The FDA does not recommend the use of hormonal contraceptives within 5 d of ullipristal<sup>[52]</sup>.

#### **EXPERIMENTAL METHODS**

#### Prostaglandin inhibitors

Cyclooxygenase enzyme (COX-1 and COX-2) inhibitors have female reproductive functions of oocyte maturation and ovulation. Many studies targeting this effect in emergency contraception are still underway. Studies have shown 15 mg of meloxicam with 1.5 mg levonorgestrel is more effective on follicular rupture in 5 d in patients with a follicular size over 15 mm than levonorgestrel only<sup>[53,54]</sup>. In addition, a 400 mg dose of celecoxib may delay or prevent luteal changes<sup>[55]</sup>.

#### CONCLUSION

Emergency contraception is the last chance to prevent pregnancy after unprotected sexual intercourse or contraceptive failure. The efficiency increases by starting the medication as soon as possible. It is important to remember the rate of unsuccessful contraception and to exclude pregnancy especially in obese or drug-contraindicated patients. Of course, patients must be informed and encouraged to use regular and effective contraception.

#### REFERENCES

- Stanford JB, Mikolajczyk RT. Mechanisms of action of intrauterine devices: update and estimation of postfertilization effects. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2002; 187: 1699-1708 [PMID: 12501086 DOI: 10.1067/mob.2002.128091]
- 2 Trussell J, Rodríguez G, Ellertson C. New estimates of the effectiveness of the Yuzpe regimen of emergency contraception. *Contraception* 1998; 57: 363-369 [PMID: 9693395 DOI: 10.1016/ S0010-7824(98)00042-0]
- 3 World Health Organization. Fact sheet No. 244 on Emergency Contraception. 2005. Available from: URL: http://www.who.int/ mediacentre/factsheets/fs244/en/

- 4 Ling WY, Robichaud A, Zayid I, Wrixon W, MacLeod SC. Mode of action of DL-norgestrel and ethinylestradiol combination in postcoital contraception. *Fertil Steril* 1979; **32**: 297-302 [PMID: 488410]
- 5 Rowlands S, Kubba AA, Guillebaud J, Bounds W. A possible mechanism of action of danazol and an ethinylestradiol/norgestrel combination used as postcoital contraceptive agents. *Contraception* 1986; 33: 539-545 [PMID: 3533419 DOI: 10.1016/0010-7824(86)9 0042-9]
- 6 Yuzpe AA, Thurlow HJ, Ramzy I, Leyshon JI. Post coital contraception--A pilot study. *J Reprod Med* 1974; 13: 53-58 [PMID: 4844513]
- 7 Ling WY, Wrixon W, Acorn T, Wilson E, Collins J. Mode of action of dl-norgestrel and ethinylestradiol combination in postcoital contraception. III. Effect of preovulatory administration following the luteinizing hormone surge on ovarian steroidogenesis. *Fertil Steril* 1983; 40: 631-636 [PMID: 6628707]
- 8 Croxatto HB, Devoto L, Durand M, Ezcurra E, Larrea F, Nagle C, Ortiz ME, Vantman D, Vega M, von Hertzen H. Mechanism of action of hormonal preparations used for emergency contraception: a review of the literature. *Contraception* 2001; 63: 111-121 [PMID: 11368982 DOI: 10.1016/S0010-7824(01)00184-6]
- 9 Croxatto HB, Ortiz ME, Müller AL. Mechanisms of action of emergency contraception. *Steroids* 2003; 68: 1095-1098 [PMID: 14668003 DOI: 10.1016/j.steroids.2003.07.007]
- 10 Ellertson C, Webb A, Blanchard K, Bigrigg A, Haskell S, Shochet T, Trussell J. Modifying the Yuzpe regimen of emergency contraception: a multicenter randomized controlled trial. *Obstet Gynecol* 2003; **101**: 1160-1167 [PMID: 12798518 DOI: 10.1016/ S0029-7844(03)00353-3]
- 11 Trussell J, Rodríguez G, Ellertson C. Updated estimates of the effectiveness of the Yuzpe regimen of emergency contraception. *Contraception* 1999; **59**: 147-151 [PMID: 10382076 DOI: 10.1016/ S0010-7824(99)00018-9]
- 12 Randomised controlled trial of levonorgestrel versus the Yuzpe regimen of combined oral contraceptives for emergency contraception. Task Force on Postovulatory Methods of Fertility Regulation. *Lancet* 1998; **352**: 428-433 [PMID: 9708750 DOI: 10.1016/ S0140-6736(98)05145-9]
- 13 Durand M, del Carmen Cravioto M, Raymond EG, Durán-Sánchez O, De la Luz Cruz-Hinojosa M, Castell-Rodríguez A, Schiavon R, Larrea F. On the mechanisms of action of short-term levonorgestrel administration in emergency contraception. *Contraception* 2001; 64: 227-234 [PMID: 11747872 DOI: 10.1016/S0010-7824(01)00250-5]
- 14 Marions L, Hultenby K, Lindell I, Sun X, Ståbi B, Gemzell Danielsson K. Emergency contraception with mifepristone and levonorgestrel: mechanism of action. *Obstet Gynecol* 2002; 100: 65-71 [PMID: 12100805]
- 15 Marions L, Cekan SZ, Bygdeman M, Gemzell-Danielsson K. Effect of emergency contraception with levonorgestrel or mifepristone on ovarian function. *Contraception* 2004; 69: 373-377 [PMID: 15105059 DOI: 10.1016/j.contraception.2003.11.018]
- 16 Okewole IA, Arowojolu AO, Odusoga OL, Oloyede OA, Adeleye OA, Salu J, Dada OA. Effect of single administration of levonorgestrel on the menstrual cycle. *Contraception* 2007; 75: 372-377 [PMID: 17434019 DOI: 10.1016/j.contraception.2007.01.019]
- 17 do Nascimento JA, Seppala M, Perdigão A, Espejo-Arce X, Munuce MJ, Hautala L, Koistinen R, Andrade L, Bahamondes L. In vivo assessment of the human sperm acrosome reaction and the expression of glycodelin-A in human endometrium after levonorgestrel-emergency contraceptive pill administration. *Hum Reprod* 2007; 22: 2190-2195 [PMID: 17537781 DOI: 10.1093/humrep/dem119]
- 18 Palomino WA, Kohen P, Devoto L. A single midcycle dose of levonorgestrel similar to emergency contraceptive does not alter the expression of the L-selectin ligand or molecular markers of endometrial receptivity. *Fertil Steril* 2010; 94: 1589-1594 [PMID: 19909947]
- 19 von Hertzen H, Piaggio G, Ding J, Chen J, Song S, Bártfai G, Ng E, Gemzell-Danielsson K, Oyunbileg A, Wu S, Cheng W, Lüdicke F, Pretnar-Darovec A, Kirkman R, Mittal S, Khomassuridze A,

Apter D, Peregoudov A. Low dose mifepristone and two regimens of levonorgestrel for emergency contraception: a WHO multicentre randomised trial. *Lancet* 2002; **360**: 1803-1810 [PMID: 12480356]

- 20 Arowojolu AO, Okewole IA, Adekunle AO. Comparative evaluation of the effectiveness and safety of two regimens of levonorgestrel for emergency contraception in Nigerians. *Contraception* 2002; 66: 269-273 [PMID: 12413624 DOI: 10.1016/S0010-7824(02)00337-2]
- 21 Ngai SW, Fan S, Li S, Cheng L, Ding J, Jing X, Ng EH, Ho PC. A randomized trial to compare 24 h versus 12 h double dose regimen of levonorgestrel for emergency contraception. *Hum Reprod* 2005; 20: 307-311 [PMID: 15567882 DOI: 10.1093/humrep/deh583]
- 22 Glasier A. Emergency postcoital contraception. N Engl J Med 1997; 337: 1058-1064 [PMID: 9321535 DOI: 10.1056/ NEJM199710093371507]
- 23 Glasier A, Thong KJ, Dewar M, Mackie M, Baird DT. Mifepristone (RU 486) compared with high-dose estrogen and progestogen for emergency postcoital contraception. *N Engl J Med* 1992; 327: 1041-1044 [PMID: 1522839 DOI: 10.1056/ NEJM199210083271501]
- 24 Webb AM, Russell J, Elstein M. Comparison of Yuzpe regimen, danazol, and mifepristone (RU486) in oral postcoital contraception. *BMJ* 1992; 305: 927-931 [PMID: 1458074 DOI: 10.1136/ bmj.305.6859.927]
- 25 Comparison of three single doses of mifepristone as emergency contraception: a randomised trial. Task Force on Postovulatory Methods of Fertility Regulation. *Lancet* 1999; **353**: 697-702 [PMID: 10073511 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(98)07190-6]
- 26 Hamoda H, Ashok PW, Stalder C, Flett GM, Kennedy E, Templeton A. A randomized trial of mifepristone (10 mg) and levonorgestrel for emergency contraception. *Obstet Gynecol* 2004; **104**: 1307-1313 [PMID: 15572495 DOI: 10.1097/01.AOG.0000146286.60138.47]
- 27 **Mittal S**. Interventions for emergency contraception: RHL commentary. The WHO Reproductive Health Library; Geneva: World Health Organization, 2008
- 28 Cheng L, Che Y, Gülmezoglu AM. Interventions for emergency contraception. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2012; 8: CD001324 [PMID: 22895920]
- 29 Creinin MD, Schlaff W, Archer DF, Wan L, Frezieres R, Thomas M, Rosenberg M, Higgins J. Progesterone receptor modulator for emergency contraception: a randomized controlled trial. *Obstet Gynecol* 2006; **108**: 1089-1097 [PMID: 17077229 DOI: 10.1097/01. AOG.0000239440.02284.45]
- 30 Fine P, Mathé H, Ginde S, Cullins V, Morfesis J, Gainer E. Ulipristal acetate taken 48-120 hours after intercourse for emergency contraception. *Obstet Gynecol* 2010; 115: 257-263 [PMID: 20093897 DOI: 10.1097/AOG.0b013e3181c8e2aa]
- 31 Glasier AF, Cameron ST, Fine PM, Logan SJ, Casale W, Van Horn J, Sogor L, Blithe DL, Scherrer B, Mathe H, Jaspart A, Ulmann A, Gainer E. Ulipristal acetate versus levonorgestrel for emergency contraception: a randomised non-inferiority trial and meta-analysis. *Lancet* 2010; **375**: 555-562 [PMID: 20116841]
- 32 Zhou L, Xiao B. Emergency contraception with Multiload Cu-375 SL IUD: a multicenter clinical trial. *Contraception* 2001; 64: 107-112 [PMID: 11704087 DOI: 10.1016/S0010-7824(01)00231-1]
- 33 Cleland K, Zhu H, Goldstuck N, Cheng L, Trussell J. The efficacy of intrauterine devices for emergency contraception: a systematic review of 35 years of experience. *Hum Reprod* 2012; 27: 1994-2000 [PMID: 22570193 DOI: 10.1093/humrep/des140]
- 34 Emergency Contraception: A Last Chance to Prevent Unintended Pregnancy. [accessed Mar 2015]. Available from: URL: http:// ec.princeton.edu/questions/ec-review
- 35 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. U S. Medical Eligibility Criteria for Contraceptive Use, 2010. *MMWR Recomm Rep* 2010; 59: 1-86 [PMID: 20559203]
- 36 D'Souza RE, Masters T, Bounds W, Guillebaud J. Randomised controlled trial assessing the acceptability of GyneFix versus Gyne-T380S for emergency contraception. *J Fam Plann Reprod Health Care* 2003; 29: 23-29 [PMID: 12681033]
- 37 **Piaggio G**, von Hertzen H, Grimes DA, Van Look PF. Timing of emergency contraception with levonorgestrel or the Yuzpe

regimen. Task Force on Postovulatory Methods of Fertility Regulation. *Lancet* 1999; **353**: 721 [PMID: 10073517 DOI: 10.1016/ S0140-6736(98)05718-3]

- 38 Piaggio G, Kapp N, von Hertzen H. Effect on pregnancy rates of the delay in the administration of levonorgestrel for emergency contraception: a combined analysis of four WHO trials. *Contraception* 2011; 84: 35-39 [PMID: 21664508 DOI: 10.1016/ j.contraception.2010.11.010]
- 39 Glasier A, Cameron ST, Blithe D, Scherrer B, Mathe H, Levy D, Gainer E, Ulmann A. Can we identify women at risk of pregnancy despite using emergency contraception? Data from randomized trials of ulipristal acetate and levonorgestrel. *Contraception* 2011; 84: 363-367 [PMID: 21920190 DOI: 10.1016/j.contraception.2011.02.0 09]
- 40 European Medicines Agency. [accessed 2014 Jul 24]. Available from: URL: http://www.ema.europa.eu/ema/index.jsp?curl=pages/ news\_and\_events/news/2014/07/news\_detail\_002145.jsp&mid=WC 0b01ac058004d5c1
- 41 **Food and Drug Administration**. Highlights of prescribing information. [accessed 2010 Aug 17]. Available from: URL: http://www.accessdata. fda.gov/drugsatfda\_docs/label/2010/022474s000lbl.pdf
- 42 World Health Organization. Sexual and reproductive health. [accessed 2005 Dec 06]. Available from: URL: http://www.who. int/reproductive-health/publications/mec/
- 43 van Rooijen M, Silveira A, Thomassen S, Hansson LO, Rosing J, Hamsten A, Bremme K. Rapid activation of haemostasis after hormonal emergency contraception. *Thromb Haemost* 2007; 97: 15-20 [PMID: 17200765 DOI: 10.1016/s0049-3848(07)70114-7]
- 44 Zhang L, Chen J, Wang Y, Ren F, Yu W, Cheng L. Pregnancy outcome after levonorgestrel-only emergency contraception failure: a prospective cohort study. *Hum Reprod* 2009; 24: 1605-1611 [PMID: 19336440 DOI: 10.1093/humrep/dep076]
- 45 Trussell J, Hedley A, Raymond E. Ectopic pregnancy following use of progestin-only ECPs. *J Fam Plann Reprod Health Care* 2003; 29: 249 [PMID: 14662065 DOI: 10.1783/147118903101197944]
- 46 Cleland K, Raymond E, Trussell J, Cheng L, Zhu H. Ectopic pregnancy and emergency contraceptive pills: a systematic review. *Obstet Gynecol* 2010; 115: 1263-1266 [PMID: 20502299 DOI: 10.1097/AOG.0b013e3181dd22ef]
- 47 Gainer E, Massai R, Lillo S, Reyes V, Forcelledo ML, Caviedes R, Villarroel C, Bouyer J. Levonorgestrel pharmacokinetics in plasma and milk of lactating women who take 1.5 mg for emergency contraception. *Hum Reprod* 2007; 22: 1578-1584 [PMID: 17337471 DOI: 10.1093/humrep/dem034]
- 48 Polakow-Farkash S, Gilad O, Merlob P, Stahl B, Yogev Y, Klinger G. Levonorgestrel used for emergency contraception during lactation-a prospective observational cohort study on maternal and infant safety. *J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med* 2013; 26: 219-221 [PMID: 22928541 DOI: 10.3109/14767058.2012.722730]
- 49 Faculty of Sexual and Reproductive Healthcare, Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists. Use of Ulipristal Acetate (ellaOne®) in Breastfeeding Women. Clinical Effectiveness Unit, 2013
- 50 Faculty of Sexual and Reproductive Healthcare Clinical Guidance. Emergency contraception. [accessed 2012 Jan 26]. Available from: URL: http://www.fsrh.org/pdfs/CEUguidanceEmergencyContraception11. pdf
- 51 Salcedo J, Rodriguez MI, Curtis KM, Kapp N. When can a woman resume or initiate contraception after taking emergency contraceptive pills? A systematic review. *Contraception* 2013; 87: 602-604 [PMID: 22995538 DOI: 10.1016/j.contraception.2012.08.013]
- 52 Ulipristal acetate. US FDA approved product information. National Library of Medicine. [Accessed 2015 Mar 18]. Available from: URL: http://www.dailymed.nlm.nih.gov
- 53 Massai MR, Forcelledo ML, Brache V, Tejada AS, Salvatierra AM, Reyes MV, Alvarez F, Faúndes A, Croxatto HB. Does meloxicam increase the incidence of anovulation induced by single administration of levonorgestrel in emergency contraception? A pilot study. *Hum Reprod* 2007; 22: 434-439 [PMID: 16980507 DOI: 10.1093/humrep/del369]



#### Kelekci S et al. Emergency contraception

- 54 Brache V, Cochon L, Deniaud M, Croxatto HB. Ulipristal acetate prevents ovulation more effectively than levonorgestrel: analysis of pooled data from three randomized trials of emergency contraception regimens. *Contraception* 2013; 88: 611-618 [PMID: 23809278 DOI: 10.1016/j.contraception.2013.05.010]
- Edelman AB, Jensen JT, Hennebold JD. A nonhormonal model for emergency contraception: prostaglandin synthesis inhibitor effects on luteal function and lifespan, a pilot study. *Contraception* 2010; 81: 496-500 [PMID: 20472116 DOI: 10.1016/j.contraception.2010.0 1.004]

P- Reviewer: Yokoyama Y, Zhang XQ S- Editor: Ji FF L- Editor: A E- Editor: Wang CH







Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.5317/wjog.v4.i4.102 World J Obstet Gynecol 2015 November 10; 4(4): 102-107 ISSN 2218-6220 (online) © 2015 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

#### **Retrospective Cohort Study**

# Outcomes of surrogate pregnancies in California and hospital economics of surrogate maternity and newborn care

Yona Nicolau, Austin Purkeypile, T Allen Merritt, Mitchell Goldstein, Bryan Oshiro

Yona Nicolau, Austin Purkeypile, T Allen Merritt, Mitchell Goldstein, Bryan Oshiro, Department of Pediatrics, Division of Neonatology, Loma Linda University Children's Hospital, Loma Linda, CA 92354, United States

Yona Nicolau, Austin Purkeypile, T Allen Merritt, Mitchell Goldstein, Bryan Oshiro, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Loma Linda University Children's Hospital, Loma Linda, CA 92354, United States

Yona Nicolau, Austin Purkeypile, T Allen Merritt, Mitchell Goldstein, Bryan Oshiro, Office of Finance, Loma Linda University Children's Hospital, Loma Linda, CA 92354, United States

Author contributions: Nicolau Y designed research, performed research, analyzed data and wrote the paper; Purkeypile A designed research, performed research and contributed to analytic tools; Merritt TA designed research, performed research, analyzed data and wrote the paper; Goldstein M designed research, performed research and analyzed data; Oshiro B designed research, performed research and wrote the paper.

Institutional review board statement: The research was approved by the Institutional Review Board of Loma Linda University School of Medicine.

Informed consent statement: Written Informed consent was waived by Institutional Review Board of Loma Linda School of Medicine.

**Conflict-of-interest statement:** The authors declare not conflicts of interest.

Data sharing statement: The data contained in this manuscript has been approved for this use and cleared by all concerned parties.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on

different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Correspondence to: Yona Nicolau, MD, Department of Pediatrics, Division of Neonatology, Loma Linda University Children's Hospital, 11175 Campus St, Coleman Pavilion 11121, Loma Linda, CA 92354, United States. ynicolau@llu.edu Telephone: +1-909-5587448 Fax: +1-909-5580298

Received: March 26, 2015 Peer-review started: March 28, 2015 First decision: June 3, 2015 Revised: June 15, 2015 Accepted: August 4, 2015 Article in press: August 7, 2015 Published online: November 10, 2015

#### Abstract

**AIM:** To describe maternity and newborn charges for an economic analysis of surrogate pregnancies on the health care resource utilization.

**METHODS:** A retrospective chart review of all women identified as being surrogates and the infants born from these pregnancies was performed between January 1, 2012 and December 31, 2013. Selected maternity diagnoses, mode of delivery, duration of hospitalization, and hospital charges were collected together with infants' birth weights, gestational age, length of hospital stay, and hospital charges. Charges associated with the *in vitro* fertilization cycles, artificial insemination, or embryo(s) transfer into the surrogate were not considered in the maternity charges. A ratio contrasting the maternity hospital charges for the surrogate carrier was compared as a ratio to the mean charges for 2540 infants delivered in 2013 after natural



WJOG www.wjgnet.com

conception and adjusted to the baseline hospital charges for both maternity and newborn care.

**RESULTS:** Analysis of sixty-nine infants delivered from both gestational and traditional surrogate women found an increased in multiple births, NICU admission, and length of stay with hospital charges several multiples beyond that of a term infant conceived naturally and provided care in our nursery. Among singletons and twins (per infant) hospital charges were increased 26 times (P < 0.001) and in triplets charges were increased 173 times (P < 0.0001) when compared to a term infant provided care in a normal nursery at our center.

**CONCLUSION:** Maternity costs for surrogates exceed those of women who conceive naturally, and these costs are especially magnified in women with triplets and multiple births.

Key words: Surrogacy pregnancy; Assisted reproductive technologies; Prematurity; Multiple gestations

© **The Author(s) 2015.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core tip:** Surrogate pregnancies result in higher maternity and newborn costs with increased rates of multiple births and creates a moral hazard for hospitals. This increase occurs despite of the fact that surrogate mothers are prescreened for health and reproductive ability. Reduction in multiple embryo transfer would reduce the adverse economic impact of surrogate pregnancy, maternity and newborn costs.

Nicolau Y, Purkeypile A, Merritt TA, Goldstein M, Oshiro B. Outcomes of surrogate pregnancies in California and hospital economics of surrogate maternity and newborn care. *World J Obstet Gynecol* 2015; 4(4): 102-107 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/2218-6220/full/v4/i4/102.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.5317/wjog.v4.i4.102

#### INTRODUCTION

In the United States approximately 7.4% of married couples are affected by infertility<sup>[1]</sup>. The causes of infertility are multiple and range from advanced maternal age, uterine malformation, hysterectomy, fallopian tube blockage, previous tubal ligation, lack of oocyte reserve in women, male factor infertility associated with oligospermia, pervious vasectomy with failed reconstruction, and other causes. In addition to fertility, in our evolving society where non-traditional family models are increasingly accepted, more and more single adults, or adults in same-sex relationships or marriage also desire to become parents and rear a family. In many such situations prospective parents may enter into an agreement to obtain oocytes or

sperm, or use the surrogate's own egg and serve as a traditional surrogate for a pregnancy<sup>[2]</sup>. In other situations, a couple that has genetically related embryos created through *in vitro* fertilization (IVF) requires another women, a gestational carrier, in whom an embryo(s) and fetus(es) may develop. After birth, through a contractual relationship arranged prior to pregnancy, the gestational carrier relinquishes the infant(s) to the intended parents<sup>[2]</sup>.

In many countries and in some United States states, traditional and gestational surrogacy is illegal. In the United States and its territories, a patchwork of laws regarding surrogacy exists<sup>[3]</sup>. Some United States states, limit the use of surrogacy, or permit surrogate pregnancies or use of gestational carriers only among married couples or the use of gametes from relatives, and in most states surrogacy contracts and their enforcement are determined by case law. Nevertheless, surrogacy is gaining greater societal acceptance in the United States. For instance, in California, one of the most liberal United States states in this respect, the law permits both traditional and gestational surrogacy in exchange for payment, and designates independent legal counsel for the surrogate and the intended parents, and the creation of a contract with judicial review and approval under the Uniform Parentage Act as amended in 2012<sup>[4]</sup>. However, the recruitment of women as traditional or as gestational surrogate carriers is unregulated in California. Further informed consent with thorough discussion of the risks associated with oocyte retrieval for some embryo transfers used in gestational surrogacy is unregulated in all states except California, and significant gaps have been identified in adherence to state statutes<sup>[5]</sup>. Despite the growing popularity of surrogacy, the medical complications associated with surrogacy and the related costs have not been precisely quantified to date. While anecdotal evidence suggests that these complications and costs are much higher than in normal pregnancies no peer reviewed data are available for documentation. This is a critical question to explore since such complications have not only financial and social costs, but may raise ethical issues for prospective parents, physicians, and hospitals. These issues need to be quantified and clarified, so that proper information and counseling/ guidance can be provided to the potential parents and to women wishing to be surrogates.

In 2012, the Society for Assisted Reproductive Technology reported that among 379 of their member clinics, 165172 cycles or procedures involving *in vitro* fertilization were performed, and that infants conceived using *in vitro* fertilization procedures constituted 1.5% of all births in the United States<sup>[6]</sup>. However, the number of infants being born using either traditional or gestational surrogacy is not known. For 2009, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) released information regarding 145244 assisted reproductive procedures performed



in the United States. California ranked the highest with 18405 procedures performed, with 7545 infants born from the use of these technologies. Only 52.7% of the infants born were singletons - in contrast to 96.8% of naturally conceived infants<sup>[7]</sup>, and these data did not distinguish between surrogate and other IVF births.

IVF pregnancies are considered high-risk pregnancies due to the increased risk of prematurity, pregnancy related complications, and increased incidence of multiple gestations. These factors may directly relate to the increased medical charges associated with these pregnancies<sup>[8]</sup>. There are multiple costs specific to surrogacy, many of which are beyond the purview of this report, which focuses on the hospital costs associated with surrogate births. For example, the costs of acquisition of surrogate or gestational carrier women (often through the use of agencies who advertise for eligible women), attorneys who specialize in preparing contracts between prospective parents and the surrogate, and other costs such as specialized social services, psychological counseling for the intended parents and often for the surrogate herself.

We hypothesized that hospital charges for maternity and newborn care would be significantly greater for women serving as surrogates than those delivering after natural conception and that the hospital charges for the infants would also be significantly greater than for infants delivered after natural conception and at term among naturally conceived infants. As a major medical center in Southern California we believe that baseline data from our center may be useful in informing those contemplating surrogacy pregnancies.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

The Institutional Review Board of Loma Linda University evaluated this study and determined that it was exempt from informed consent. Selected maternity diagnosis, mode of delivery, duration of hospitalization, and hospital charges were collected from women who were identified by their obstetrical provider as being a surrogate (traditional or gestational carrier). Infants born of these pregnancies had their birth weights, gestational age, length of hospital stay, and hospital charges tabulated, as well as their stay in either the normal nursery or neonatal intensive care unit between January 1, 2012 and December 31, 2013 tabulated from medical chart review. All hospital charges data were independently tabulated by the Office of Finance based on the surrogate's or infant's medical record number, as well as, the source of payment such as private payment, third party insurer, or charged to a national health insurance scheme for international surrogacy arrangements.

Charges associated with the IVF cycles, artificial insemination, or embryo(s) transfer into the surrogate were not considered in the maternity charges. A ratio contrasting the maternity hospital charges for the surrogate carrier was compared as a ratio to the mean

Table 1	Characteristics of Surrogate Women prior to surrogate
pregnan	cy: mean, range and SD

Surrogates	Age (yr)	Gravidity	Parity
n = 45	27	2.7	2.3
Range	20-43	1-8	1-7
SD	4.6	3.6	3.3

charges for 2540 infants delivered in 2013 after natural conception. 2013 was chosen as the baseline hospital charges for both maternity and newborn care, as the electronic medical system and financial accounting system change occurred in late December 2012. Between 2012 and 2013 there was a 9% increase in hospital charges. Therefore hospital charges for both maternity care for 2012 were adjusted by this increase in hospital charges. Charges for infant care in "normal nursery" or in the Neonatal Intensive Care unit were similarly tabulated and charges for 2012 adjusted to charges in 2013 because of the increase in hospital charges.

#### RESULTS

According to the CDC, in 2011 and 2012 there were 1766 cycles in gestational carriers in the State of California that resulted in the birth of 1067 infants of whom 36% (in 2011) and 39% (in 2012) were born prematurely. Approximately 15% were multiple births (CDC)<sup>[9]</sup>. Data from traditional surrogacy pregnancies or outcomes are not collected by either the CDC or by the California Department of Health Services.

At our center, 45 women served as surrogates (24 gestational and 21 traditional) from January 1, 2012 until December 31, 2013. These women averaged 27 (range 20-43) years of age with a mean of 2.7 prior pregnancies prior to being a surrogate during the 24 months of our study (range 0-8 previous pregnancies). These women had an average of 2.3 living children (range 1-7) prior to the surrogate pregnancy. These data (and standard deviations) are summarized in Table 1.

According to maternity documents, prenatal care began in the 4.5 wk of embryo transfer or artificial insemination. Among women delivering at our center with embryo transfers (genetically related or not) 55.5% were with multiple embryos. Sperm from the intended father<sup>[7]</sup>, donor semen<sup>[3]</sup>, or mixed sperm from one male couple were impregnated into the 21 traditional surrogates. The cesarean section rate was 52% for surrogate gestations contrasted to 33% among women who conceived naturally. This increased operative mode of delivery may account for the increased average length of hospitalization among women who were surrogates. Table 2 documents the births as singleton or plural births, surrogate length of stay (LOS) for maternity care pre and post birth, and hospital charges as a ratio to women who delivered after natural conception. In the only triplet gestation

Table 2Maternal characteristics for surrogate pregnanciesrelated to singleton, twin or triplet delivery								
Surrogates	Maternity LOS (d)	Ratio	Hospital charges (± SD)	Ratio				
Singleton births $(n = 20)$	4.2 (1.2)	1.3	\$31115	1.2				
Twin births (22)	3.5 (0.8)	1.1	\$29692 ± 11892	1.1				
Triplet births	15	4.7	\$102673	3.8				

Hospital Length of Maternity Stay (LOS) and charges compare surrogate carrier charges related to LOS and maternity charges for naturally conceived term infants requiring normal nursery care (mean ± SD).

there was a significantly longer length of stay and her maternity charges were considerably higher than compared to either singleton, or twin gestations.

Sixty-nine live-born infants resulted from surrogate gestations. Four infants died soon after birth due to extreme prematurity (although the legalized parents refused resuscitation for 24 wk twins). There was one fetal death in a twin pair, and the surviving infant was classified as a singleton, and among a triplet gestation there was fetal reduction of one fetus, and the infants born were classified as twin. Among the 69 infants born, 78% were born prior to 37 completed wk and 17.4% were born less than 30 wk. The mortality rate was 5.7% among infant born using assisted reproduction technologies in contrast to 0.7% of naturally conceived infants and having their initial admission to the normal nursery. Table 3 documents the infant characteristics by birth weight, gestational age, length of hospitalization, and the ratio of charges compared to naturally conceived infants. Compared to naturally conceived singleton or twin infants admitted to the normal nursery with a mean length of stay of 2.1 d, infants delivered of surrogates had a substantially greater length of stay. This longer length of stay was undoubtedly associated with the greater number of infants admitted to the NICU after delivery to a surrogate. Hospital charges were increased 26 times for both singleton and twin deliveries (tabulated per infant) to surrogates, and 173 times for each triplet infant (the sole triplet set that were born alive).

#### DISCUSSION

Data regarding outcomes of surrogacy pregnancies in California using a gestational carrier and from our center (both gestational and traditional surrogates) reveal a higher rate of prematurity and lower birth weight than among pregnancies resulting from natural conception. The higher cesarean rate may be explained by the higher multiple gestation pregnancies among surrogates and is consistent with the report on the increasing cesarean section rate among twins<sup>[10]</sup>.

Charges for hospital services for these women and the infants delivered provide new information regarding the consumption of medical services

by these pregnancies. A discussion of healthcare economics is relevant to the data presented by our experience at a single center. While many healthcare economic discussions center on dwindling reimbursement, the issue is quite different with provision for services to surrogates. Commercial insurance coverage was available for all but one of the women serving as surrogates, and of the 69 infants all but 8 also had commercial insurance with the other women or infants classified as "self pay" resulting in a net profit for our center for maternity care. Newborns were similarly covered except that national health plans in France and Spain would not cover the costs of neonatal intensive care. Combining a well-insured population with a profitable service line such as neonatal intensive care at our center produces a favorable financial outcome for our center. However, in an environment where state-sponsored insurance payments are declining and more people are migrating towards lower-paying insurance exchanges, medical centers are inclined to protect their major sources of margin. This raises the concern of the "moral hazard" of surrogacy. As illustrated surrogate women and the infants delivered have greater rates of cesarean section, premature birth, and low birth weight infants at significantly higher rates than the population of infants born after natural conception. The same is true for IVF/Assisted Insemination pregnancies<sup>[8]</sup>. Kissin et al<sup>[11]</sup> recently calculated the increased medical costs attributed to Assisted Reproductive Technologies by state. California led with this economic burden for 2013 estimated at \$158800418.

A "moral hazard" occurs when the system that helps create the higher risk pregnancy also stands to profit from the additional care that the women and babies are likely to require. The interests of the 3 decision-making parties - intended parents, healthcare system and insurance system - are not aligned. Although gestational surrogacy represents a fraction of all IVF related births, these increased costs and potential profitability are not aligned with value-based health care. The overwhelming desire of prospective parents is to have a normal infant ideally delivered at term. In most cases, these couples, or even single adults will have attempted multiple other means of having a child before settling on the significantly more complicated method of hiring a surrogate. Most families will be paying cash for the surrogate pregnancy (\$20-30000 for a surrogate, if an egg donor is required another \$5-10000, the fertility clinic and reproductive endocrinologist \$15000 per cycle, the surrogacy agency \$10-20000) and attorneys fees of about \$10000<sup>[12]</sup>. However, the cost for prenatal care, maternity charges, and expenses associated with neonatal intensive care may exhaust some intended parents resources. While many intended parents may be able to afford the \$50000 or so to begin a pregnancy with the assistance of a surrogate, we have encountered many who have been unprepared for the charges associated with the care of

WJOG | www.wjgnet.com

Nicolau Y et al. Outcomes and hospital economics of surrogate pregnancies in California

Table 3 Infant characteristics after birth from surrogate pregnancy								
Infant(s)	Birth weight	GA	LOS	Hospital charges	Ratio			
Singleton ( $n = 19$ )	3798.3 ± 832.9	$35.9 \pm 2.9$	11 ± 3	\$154874 ± 326415	26.2			
Twins $(n = 44)$	$2151.5 \pm 750.5$	$33.8 \pm 4.3$	$12.7 \pm 4$	$154885 \pm 339442$	26.2			
Triplets $(n = 3)$	$1337.2 \pm 91.8$	$30.0 \pm 0$	$75.0 \pm 0$	\$1025927 ± 99097	173.8			

Hospital charges are expressed as a ratio of hospital charges for per infant compared to hospital charges for a term infant provided care in the normal nursery (mean ± SD). GA: Gestational age; LOS: Length of stay.

a complicated newborn born prematurely and requiring several days in a Neonatal Intensive Care unit. Nor are families necessarily prepared for all the implications of a multiple-birth and the associated short- and longterm costs. If a pregnancy has a lower than normal probability of success or more potential complications how extensive should physicians explain these risks? How much do intended parents need or want to know regarding potential complications in the newborns and the added financial costs associated with a premature infant or multiple births? These questions are central to the ethical debate that has surrounded surrogacy. Kissin *et al*<sup>[13]</sup> has stressed that outcomes of assisted reproductive technologies should properly be assessed on the basis of the number of singleton infants born at term not simply based on live births.

An extension of the "moral hazard" concerns with surrogacy has been the misunderstandings that arise between intended parents and surrogates, and unforeseen events during such a pregnancy. Intended parents-surrogates disputes have arisen when the intended parents demand that the surrogate terminate a pregnancy when a significant fetal malformation is identified, or intended parents change their mind midgestation, e.g., by initiating divorce proceedings, or when an intended parent dies. Surrogates may make greater demands on intended parents when multifetal gestations occur, or they may wish to engage in behaviors forbidden in their contract, or they may wish to parent the infant themselves. As noted by Andrew W. Vorzimer, a prominent attorney in arranging such contracts in Los Angeles, of 118 surrogacy cases in which a dispute arose 82 were cases in which the intended parents changes their mind and the remainder were by women serving as surrogates (many of whom were traditional surrogates providing her eggs and also carrying the infant) (Andrew W. Yorzimer, J.D., personal communication July 18, 2013).

Margalit<sup>[14]</sup>, an attorney, argues that surrogacy contracts are both desirable and necessary to ensure fairness and enforceability to the benefit of all parties involved. To increase the likelihood that these dual goals of fairness and enforceability are achieved, Margalit<sup>[14]</sup> further argues that all parties should have independent legal representation from the start of the process as well as thorough, precise, medical guidance as to the risks and probabilities of various outcomes, including catastrophic outcomes. In addition, the paper argues that both sides should receive social and psychological support, and the contract should comprehensively deal with all possible outcomes, including unhealthy newborn(s), premature birth, complications/chronic diseases, and the divorce/death of the intending parents. Finally, every effort should be made to ensure that the disparity in economic strength between the parties to the contract does not interfere with the parties decision to enter into the contract nor "interferes with their free will". Additional legal/ethical risk may arise when prospective parents turn to off-shore surrogacy agencies (primarily in India, Thailand and Mexico) in an effort to cut costs. While these agencies often charge approximately half of what United States agencies do, some are not as reputable and engage in unethical practices and sometimes out-right fraud<sup>[15]</sup>.

Finally, what is the insurance company's piece of this puzzle? By and large, families have borne the expense of the surrogacy, but the infant is now covered under the family's insurance plan even though the parents have voluntarily assumed more than the usual risk. The health insurance industry has thus far been slow to adjust premiums to risk profiles. However, as responsibility for payment continues to shift over to patients through high-deductible plans and cost-sharing, it's reasonable to expect that voluntary assumptions of greater risk will be looked at more critically by the insurance industry and by state health exchanges that must assume even greater risk.

A potential game-changer to the surrogacy moral hazard is an ongoing shift in how hospitals contract with insurers. Historically, they have been paid on a fee-for-service basis where they are paid a percentage of charges or a per diem rate. As their usage increases so does their payment. Medicare saw tremendous opportunity for abuse under their costplus reimbursement in the 70s and switched to a DRGbased case rate that also affects Medicaid (MediCal) hospital payment in California. Recently a number of state Medicaid programs followed suit with All Patient Refined DRG-based case rate payments. However, by and large, providers are still financially incentivized to increase rather than decrease the cost of care.

Increasingly health insurance policies are requiring consumers to be more accountable for their healthcare or they are charged larger premiums.

Another aspect of the "moral hazard" of surrogacy is that voluntary risk acceptance could come increasingly under extreme scrutiny. If a medical center stood not to gain, and rather potentially to lose a great deal in the care of surrogate women and the infants from these pregnancies (as may occur in some cases of international prospective patents counting on reimbursement from their countries national health plan, especially countries that deem surrogacy illegal) how might this impact the market for the care of women surrogates, or their infants? All of these dynamic considerations make it imperative that prospective parents and medical providers have a full understanding of the risks and frequently unforeseen costs associated with surrogacy decisions.

In conclusion, data from California indicate that gestational surrogacy is increasing, and data highlight the substantial increase in multiple births, often born prematurely in California. We document at our single site the extensive requirement for neonatal intensive care and associated increased hospital charges for medical services for both surrogate (both gestational and traditional) and infants from surrogate pregnancies. In a value-based health care system, the "moral hazard" associated with promotion of surrogacy and the higher charges associated with maternity and infant care raises important issues in an area of health care services lacking regulation.

#### COMMENTS

#### Background

Surrogate pregnancies result in increased maternity costs in spite of preselected for maternal reproductive health primarily associated with an increase in multiple gestations that are associated with increased cesarean section rates, more preterm deliveries, increased neonatal intensive care with added neonatal morbidities.

#### **Research frontiers**

Surrogate pregnancies are permitted in several United States states, but the outcomes of these pregnancies have not been rigorously evaluated in terms of maternity or neonatal complications or hospital associated charges.

#### Innovations and breakthroughs

California has more surrogate pregnancies of any United States states and the impact on health economics is imperative for healthcare value with significantly greater multiples births than occur have natural conception.

#### Applications

Health economists and insurance providers are focused on health care value. Given the increased charges associated with surrogate pregnancies and the infants born thereof, surrogacy may come under additional scrutiny because of the moral hazard created by these gestations and the impact on health care resources.

#### Terminology

In this paper surrogacy includes both traditional and gestational surrogacy.

#### Peer-review

The authors have performed a good study, the manuscript is interesting.

#### REFERENCES

- Mneimneh AS, Boulet SL, Sunderam S, Zhang Y, Jamieson DJ, Crawford S, McKane P, Copeland G, Mersol-Barg M, Grigorescu V, Cohen B, Steele J, Sappenfield W, Diop H, Kirby RS, Kissin DM. States Monitoring Assisted Reproductive Technology (SMART) Collaborative: data collection, linkage, dissemination, and use. J Womens Health (Larchmt) 2013; 22: 571-577 [PMID: 23829183 DOI: 10.1089/jwh.2013.4452]
- Committee on ethics. ACOG committee opinion number 397, February 2008: surrogate motherhood. *Obstet Gynecol* 2008; 111: 465-470 [PMID: 18238989 DOI: 10.1097/AOG.0b013e3181666017]
- 3 Hinson DS. State-by-State Surrogacy Law Across the US. [accessed 2014 Jul 30]. Available from: URL: http://creativefamilyconnections. com/wp-content/uploads/2015/01/surrogacy\_law.pdf
- 4 California Code Part 3: Uniform parentage act. [accessed 2013]. Available from: URL: http://codes.lp.findlaw.com/cacode/FAM/1/ d12/3
- 5 Alberta HB, Berry RM, Levine AD. Risk disclosure and the recruitment of oocyte donors: are advertisers telling the full story? *J Law Med Ethics* 2014; **42**: 232-243 [PMID: 25040386 DOI: 10.1111/jlme.12138]
- 6 American Society of Reproductive Medicine. Society for Assisted Reproductive Technology Releases New Annual Report on In Vitro Fertilization Procedures. [accessed 2014 Feb 17]. Available from: URL: http://www.sart.org/Society\_for\_Assisted\_Reproductive\_Tech nology\_Releases\_New\_Annual\_Report\_on\_In\_Vitro\_Fertilization\_ Procedures/
- 7 Sunderam S, Kissin DM, Flowers L, Anderson JE, Folger SG, Jamieson DJ, Barfield WD. Assisted reproductive technology surveillance--United States, 2009. *MMWR Surveill Summ* 2012; 61: 1-23 [PMID: 23114281]
- 8 Merritt TA, Goldstein M, Philips R, Peverini R, Iwakoshi J, Rodriguez A, Oshiro B. Impact of ART on pregnancies in California: an analysis of maternity outcomes and insights into the added burden of neonatal intensive care. *J Perinatol* 2014; 34: 345-350 [PMID: 24556981 DOI: 10.1038/jp2014.17]
- 9 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Accessing National ART Surveillance Data. [accessed 2014 Jun 30]. Available from: URL: http://www.cdc.gov/art/nas/accessData.html
- 10 Lee HC, Gould JB, Boscardin WJ, El-Sayed YY, Blumenfeld YJ. Trends in cesarean delivery for twin births in the United States: 1995-2008. Obstet Gynecol 2011; 118: 1095-1101 [PMID: 22015878 DOI: 10.1097/AOG.0b013e3182318651]
- 11 Kissin DM, Jamieson DJ, Barfield WD. Monitoring health outcomes of assisted reproductive technology. *N Engl J Med* 2014; **371**: 91-93 [PMID: 24988584 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMc1404371]
- 12 Lewin T. The New York Times: Coming to U.S. for Baby, and Womb to Carry It- Foreign Couples Heading to America for Surrogate Pregnancies. Available from: URL: http://www.nytimes. com/2014/07/06/us/foreign-couples-heading-to-america-forsurrogate-pregnancies.html? r=0
- 13 Kissin DM, Kulkarni AD, Kushnir VA, Jamieson DJ. Number of embryos transferred after in vitro fertilization and good perinatal outcome. *Obstet Gynecol* 2014; 123: 239-247 [PMID: 24402601 DOI: 10.1097/AOG.00000000000106]
- 14 Margalit Y. In Defense of Surrogacy Agreements: A Modern Contract Law Perspective. William and Mary Journal of Women and the Law 2014; 20: 1-33
- 15 Lewin T. A Surrogacy Agency That Delivered Heartache. New York Times. [accessed 2014 Jul 27]. Available from: URL: http://www. assistedfertilityblog.com/new-york-times-a-surrogacy-agency-thatdelivered-heartache-by-tamar-lewin/

P- Reviewer: Chen CP, Cosmi E, Martins WP, Zhang XQ S- Editor: Tian YL L- Editor: A E- Editor: Wang CH





WJOG | www.wjgnet.com



Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.5317/wjog.v4.i4.108 World J Obstet Gynecol 2015 November 10; 4(4): 108-112 ISSN 2218-6220 (online) © 2015 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

SYSTEMATIC REVIEWS

### Ovarian simple cysts in asymptomatic postmenopausal women detected at transvaginal ultrasound: A review of literature

Juan Luis Alcazar, Naroa Martinez, Leire Juez, Maria Caparros, Ana Salas, Tania Errasti

Juan Luis Alcazar, Leire Juez, Maria Caparros, Ana Salas, Tania Errasti, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Clínica Universidad de Navarra, School of Medicine, University of Navarra, 31008 Pamplona, Spain

Naroa Martinez, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Hospital Universitario Cruces, 48903 Bilbao, Spain

Author contributions: Alcazar JL contributed to literature search, study design, analysis of data, and writting draft; Martinez N contributed to analysis of data and draft approval; Juez L and Errasti T contributed to study design and draft approval; Caparros M and Salas A contributed to draft approval.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All authors declare having no conflict of interest.

Data sharing statement: I agree with this.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Correspondence to: Juan Luis Alcazar, MD, PhD, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Clínica Universidad de Navarra, School of Medicine, University of Navarra, Avenida Pío XII 36, 31008 Pamplona, Spain. jlalcazar@unav.es Telephone: +34-948-296234 Fax: +34-948-296500

Received: May 8, 2015 Peer-review started: May 9, 2015 First decision: July 10, 2015 Revised: September 9, 2015 Accepted: October 12, 2015 Article in press: October 13, 2015 Published online: November 10, 2015

#### Abstract

**AIM:** To answer some questions related to the problem of ovarian simple cysts in asymptomatic postmenopausal women.

METHODS: A literature search and systematic review using MEDLINE (PubMed) database from 1980 to 2014 was performed using the following terms: "simple cyst", "postmenopause", "postmenopausal", "ultrasound", "ovary", "ovarian", "asymptomatic". Papers not related to the topic, reviews, letters to editor, opinion letter, commentaries and studies published in non-English language were excluded. Two authors then reviewed the full paper of all the studies initially selected. This review does not claim to be a meta-analysis. Therefore, meta-analysis statistics were not applied and PRISMA guidelines were not strictly followed. Simple descriptive statistics were used providing absolute numbers and corresponding percentages as well as range.

**RESULTS:** Nine papers were ultimately included in this review, accounting for 98899 postmenopausal women. We have found that ovarian simple cysts are relatively common in asymptomatic postmenopausal women (prevalence: 8.7%). The risk of malignancy is very low (0.19%). More than 90% of these cysts were smaller than 5 cm. Bilaterality rate ranged from 3.7% to 15%. Histologically, most cysts are serous cystadenomas (61%). When managed conservatively, a significant number resolve spontaneously (46.1%) or remain unchanged (39%).

**CONCLUSION:** According to these data, conservative management should be the first option to offer to these women.

Key words: Ovary; Simple cyst; Diagnosis; Cancer; Management



WJOG | www.wjgnet.com

© **The Author(s) 2015.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core tip:** The problem of ovarian simple cysts in asymptomatic postmenopausal women remains a controversial issue in gynecological practice. We have performed a literature review about this topic. We have found that ovarian simple cysts are relatively common in asymptomatic postmenopausal women. The risk of malignancy is very low. Histologically, most cysts are serous cystadenomas. When managed conservatively, a significant number resolve spontaneously or remain unchanged.

Alcazar JL, Martinez N, Juez L, Caparros M, Salas A, Errasti T. Ovarian simple cysts in asymptomatic postmenopausal women detected at transvaginal ultrasound: A review of literature. *World J Obstet Gynecol* 2015; 4(4): 108-112 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/2218-6220/full/v4/i4/108.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.5317/wjog.v4.i4.108

#### INTRODUCTION

The management of adnexal simple cysts in asymptomatic postmenopausal women remains a controversial issue in gynecological practice. Albeit management of these lesions has certainly evolved from a systematic surgical removal to a more conservative approach<sup>[1]</sup>, many gynecologist are still reluctant to advise such a conservative management.

Some issues regarding to this entity remains unresolved such as the lesion's size above which surgery should be advised, the risk of torsion, what factors are associated with the appearance of this lesion and for how long follow-up should be performed in case of conservative management and which control periodicity should be advised, what factors are associated to the appearance of this lesion. Most importantly, if the lesion is left *in situ*, which is the actual risk for developing a malignancy?

For this reason we decided to conduct a systematic review on the literature in an attempt to answer the following questions: (1) What should be considered an ovarian simple cyst? (2) What is the prevalence of ovarian simple cysts in asymptomatic postmenopausal women? (3) Which are the characteristics of these lesions? (4) What are the factors associated to the appearance of these lesions? (5) What is the natural history of these lesions if conservative management is chosen? (6) What is the most frequent histology if surgery is performed? (7) What is the risk of developing a malignancy? (8) What are the features associated with malignancy? and (9) What is the role of CA-125?

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

A systematic review of the literature in MEDLINE

(PubMed) database was performed by one of the authors (JLA) from 1980 to 2014 was performed using the following terms: "simple cyst", "postmenopause", "postmenopausal", "ultrasound", "ovary", "ovarian", "asymptomatic". This author screened titles and abstracts and excluded those papers not related to the topic, reviews, letters to editor, opinion letter, commentaries and studies published in non-English language.

Two authors (JLA, NM) then reviewed the full paper of all the studies initially selected according to the following criteria:

Inclusion criteria: (1) Study design: prospective cohort study; (2) Patients: postmenopausal asymptomatic women.

Exclusion criteria: (1) Sample size < 50 women; (2) Incomplete data about patients characteristics, followup, histology and malignancy rate; and (3) Ultrasound performed by transabdominal route. We decided exclude these studies because of the possibility of missing papillary projections using this route is higher and some not truly simple cysts could be as such. Disagreement between reviewers was solved by consensus.

This review does not claim to be a meta-analysis. Therefore, meta-analysis statistics were not applied and PRISMA guidelines<sup>[2]</sup> were not strictly followed. Simple descriptive statistics were used providing absolute numbers and corresponding percentages as well as range.

Additionally, since this is a review Institutional Review Board was waived.

#### RESULTS

A total of 79 papers were found after database search. First screen excluded 62 papers for the following reasons: paper not related to the topic (n = 42), review paper (n = 12), letter to editor or commentary paper (n = 4) and non-English language (n = 4).

Full paper was reviewed for 17 studies. Eight papers were excluded for the following reasons: retrospective design (n = 3), ultrasound evaluation performed by transabdominal route (n = 2), incomplete data (n = 3).

Therefore, nine papers were ultimately included in this review  $^{\left[ 3-11\right] }.$ 

#### What should be considered as an ovarian simple cyst?

The vast majority of studies selected defined as simple cyst the presence of an oval or rounded anechoic thinwalled cyst without any irregularity in the internal wall (Figure 1)<sup>[1]</sup>. The presence of any wall irregularity or echogenic cyst's content should not be considered as a simple cyst (Figure 2).

#### What is the prevalence of ovarian simple cysts in asymptomatic postmenopausal women?

The nine studies included accounted for 98899



Alcazar JL et al. Ovarian simple cysts in postmenopausal women



Figure 1 Transvaginal ultrasound showing an ovarian simple cyst as a round anechoic thin-walled cyst with no irregularity on the internal wall.

postmenopausal women. Two studies included only women with simple cysts<sup>[3,7]</sup>. Mean age reported in six studies, ranged from 55.5 years old to 65 years old.

The total number of simple cysts reported was 8600. Therefore, overall prevalence was 8.7% (95%CI: 8.5% to 8.9%). However, prevalence varied among different studies, ranging from 2.5% to 14.1%. Two studies with long term follow-up reported that the annual incidence of simple cysts ranged from 3% to  $8\%^{[10,11]}$ .

#### Which are the characteristics of ovarian simple cysts?

Most studies included cysts smaller than 5 cm in size<sup>[3-5,10,11]</sup>. However, three studies included cysts up to 10 cm<sup>[6,8,9]</sup> and one even up to 20 cm<sup>[7]</sup>. According to data derived from these studies more than 90% of these cysts were smaller than 5 cm.

Bilaterality rate was reported in three studies<sup>[8-10]</sup>, ranging from 3.7% to 15%. Moreover, three or more cysts in the same woman has been reported in 5% of the cases<sup>[10]</sup>.

### What are the factors associated with the appearance of simple cysts?

Three studies have evaluated factors that could be associated to with the appearance of ovarian simple cysts in postmenopause.

Modesitt *et al*<sup>[8]</sup> reported that these lesions appeared more frequently in women under hormone replacement therapy (either estrogens alone or estrogens plus progestins) and in women with recent menopause.

Greenlee *et al*<sup>[10]</sup> performed a more exhaustive analysis in a large population. They found that ovarian simple cysts were associated with age (the younger the woman the higher the risk for simple cyst), nonsmoking, previous history of surgery for benign gynecologic condition, previous history of ovarian benign cyst, higher education, precocious menopause and first pregnancy before 20 years old. No association was found with use of hormone replacement therapy, use of hormonal contraception, parity or history of



Figure 2 Transvaginal ultrasound showing a lesion that should not be considered as simple cyst, since papillary projection can be seen arising from the wall.

infertility.

Sharma *et al*<sup>[11]</sup> found that previous hysterectomy, age and weight were significantly associated with simple cysts.

### What is the natural history of these lesions if conservatively managed?

Data about the natural history of ovarian simple cysts in asymptomatic postmenopausal women on followup has been reported in eight studies<sup>[3-6,8-11]</sup>. The mean follow-up ranged from 18 to 71 mo.

Ovarian simple cysts resolved spontaneously in almost half of the cases (46.1%). Spontaneous resolution rate ranged from 0% to 69.4%, depending on the study.

Factors associated to resolution were age (the younger the woman the higher the probability of resolution)<sup>[6,9]</sup>, cyst's size (the smaller the size the higher the probability of resolution)<sup>[5]</sup>, the number of cysts (more than 2 cysts was associated to a lower probability of resolution)<sup>[10]</sup>.

Among those cysts that have not resolved, many number did not change in size or aspect (39%; range 23% to  $96\%^{(3,4,5,8,9,11]}$ ). Among those that changed in appearance most of them developed septations or solid areas<sup>[5,8]</sup>.

### What is the most frequent histology in those surgically removed?

Detailed data about histology of surgically removed cysts were reported on six studies<sup>[3,5-9]</sup>. The total number of cysts removed was 525. Three hundreds and thirty-six were removed after diagnosis and 189 during follow-up. Only on study reported median time elapsed from diagnosis up to removal (27 mo)<sup>[9]</sup>.

Simple cyst and serous cystadenoma were the most frequent histologies (61%, 155/254) followed by cystadenofibroma (8%, 20/254) and para-ovarian cyst (5%, 14/254).

Other reported histologic diagnoses were endometrioma, dermoid cyst, hydrosalpinx and mucinous cystadenoma.

#### What is the risk of developing a malignancy?

Overall 16 malignancies among 8600 simple cysts were reported<sup>[7,9-11]</sup>. This represents a malignancy rate of 0.19%.

Greenlee *et al*<sup>[10]</sup> reported on 15735 women enrolled in the PLCO (Prostate, Lung, Colorectal and Ovarian Cancer) Screening Trial. Nine women (0.41%) among those 2217 diagnosed as having a simple cyst developed an ovarian cancer. Whereas, 55 out of 12638 (0.44%) without a simple cyst developed an ovarian malignancy. The relative risk for those with ovarian simple cyst was 0.93 (95%CI: 0.46-1.88).

Sharma et al<sup>[11]</sup> reported on 48230 women enrolled in the UKCTOCS (United Kingdom Collaborative Trial of Ovarian Cancer Screening) study. At first scan, 22194 women had normal ovaries visualized, 21943 women had non-visualized one or both ovaries, 1234 women had an inclusion cyst (simple cyst < 10 mm) and 197 had an inclusion cyst and a simple cyst (simple cyst > 10 mm). After a median follow-up of 3 years, and considering only women with both ovaries visualized and those with inclusion and/or simple cyst, three women (0.2%) with only inclusion cyst and one woman (0.5%) with inclusion and simple cyst developed an ovarian malignancy. Twenty nine out of 22194 women in whom both ovaries were visualized and were normal developed an ovarian cancer. The relative risk for women with inclusion cyst was 1.92 (95%CI: 0.62-5.92) and relative risk for women with inclusion cyst and simple cyst was 4.01 (95%CI: 0.69-22.92).

#### What are the features associated to malignancy?

This is probably the most interesting question. However, the information provided in the studies evaluated for this mini-review is scanty. From data reported from three studies<sup>[7,9,11]</sup> including eight ovarian cancers, we observed that most of them (6/8) were stage I and in 5/8 the size of the cyst was < 5 cm in 5 out of 8 cases.

#### What is the role of CA-125?

Tumor marker CA-125 was used in all studies but two<sup>[7,11]</sup>. Some studies established normal CA-125 level (< 35 UI/mL) as an inclusion criteria<sup>[4,8-10]</sup> and most of them assessed CA-125 during follow-up<sup>[3-6,9,10]</sup>. However, three studies did not report specific information about CA-125 levels<sup>[6,8,10]</sup>.

Those studies that reported data about CA-125 during follow-up reported no significant changes of this tumor marker during follow-up, even in those cases with sonographic changes in the ovarian simple  $cyst^{[3-5]}$ . In the study by Castillo *et al*<sup>[9]</sup>, there was one case of ovarian malignancy. In this case CA-125 raised during follow-up (45 UI/mL).

#### DISCUSSION

In this systematic review, we have addressed the issue of ovarian simple cysts in asymptomatic postmenopausal women.

We have found that this type of lesions is common in this group of women. This finding is in agreement with data from autopsy studies<sup>[12,13]</sup>. Another finding in agreement with autopsy studies is that most cysts are small and that the most common histology is simple cyst or serous cystadenoma.

Transvaginal ultrasound route is essential for ascertaining that the lesion is actually a simple cyst, since small papillary projections might be missed using transabdominal ultrasound<sup>[14]</sup>.

Patient's characteristics consistently associated with the presence of a simple ovarian cyst in postmenopausal women are age and previous history of pelvic or gynecologic surgery. This, in fact, is not surprising since younger postmenopausal women may have residual ovarian activity and many of these simple cysts could be "functional cysts" developed from this residual activity. This fact may also explain why the probability of spontaneous resolution is higher in women with recent menopause. On the other hand, previous pelvic surgery increases the risk of peritoneal cysts that may resemble ovarian simple cysts.

No study reported data about complications such as torsion or rupture. Therefore, albeit it is not possible to draw definitive conclusions regarding these complications. However, it seems that they are uncommon in ovarian simple cysts during the menopause.

Additionally no study reported information about when and for how long follow-up should be performed in those cysts that had not resolved spontaneously.

Regarding surgery in most studies there is no data reported about the surgical approach. The authors think that laparoscopic cyst removal should be the best approach when surgery is decided<sup>[15]</sup>.

Probably one of the most important findings in our review is that related to the risk of malignancy of these lesions. Actually, in the two largest studies published so far the relative risk of developing an ovarian malignancy in postmenopausal women with ovarian simple cyst was not increased as compared with those postmenopausal women without ovarian simple cyst.

#### COMMENTS

#### Background

Postmenopausal simple cysts in asymptomatic women management remains as an unsolved issue in gynecological practice. This is relevant because of surgery has been traditionally performed. However, recent data challenge this concept showing that conservative management should be offered to these women.

#### **Research frontiers**

A number of papers have been published addressing this question in the last fifteen years. However, adequate systematic reviews are lacking.



#### Innovations and breakthroughs

The paper offers an updated systematic review about this topic. According to the authors' findings in this mini-review, it could be assumed that ovarian simple cysts are common in asymptomatic postmenopausal women. The risk of malignancy is very low and having a simple ovarian cyst does not seem to increase the risk of developing an ovarian cancer. Many of them will resolve spontaneously or will remain unchanged during follow-up. The role of CA-125 at diagnosis and for following-up remains to be determined. Data about the use of CA-125 are scanty in the studies reviewed. Most studies used CA-125 as inclusion criteria and during follow-up. In most cases CA-125 did not change, even in those cysts that changed during follow-up. Only in one case of carcinoma the value of CA-125 was reported as elevated. In the authors' opinion, the role of routine CA-125 assessment in the follow-up of postmenopausal ovarian simple cyst would be arguable. The authors' review has some limitations. First, the authors did not perform a formal meta-analysis. Therefore, conclusions based on statistical inferences cannot be drawn. Second, the number of studies included is small. Third, studies are considerably heterogeneous in design and data reported. However, some questions remain unanswered and future research is needed to try to answer these questions: (1) Which cysts are at higher risk for developing a malignancy? (2) Is follow-up needed for these lesions? (3) For how long these cysts should be followed-up? and (4) Which follow-up protocol should be implemented?

#### Applications

The results of the analysis may have a relevant clinical impact since the authors have shown that ovarian simple cysts are common in asymptomatic postmenopausal women and the risk of malignancy is very low. These findings should modify the traditional surgical management of these lesions for a more conservative one. However, there is still a room for research since some questions remain unanswered (see above).

#### Peer-review

This is an interesting manuscript.

#### REFERENCES

- Goldstein SR. Postmenopausal adnexal cysts: how clinical management has evolved. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1996; 175: 1498-1501 [PMID: 8987932]
- 2 Liberati A, Altman DG, Tetzlaff J, Mulrow C, Gøtzsche PC, Ioannidis JP, Clarke M, Devereaux PJ, Kleijnen J, Moher D. The PRISMA statement for reporting systematic reviews and meta-analyses of studies that evaluate health care interventions: explanation and elaboration. *PLoS Med* 2009; 6: e1000100 [PMID: 19621070 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1000100]
- 3 Auslender R, Atlas I, Lissak A, Bornstein J, Atad J, Abramovici H. Follow-up of small, postmenopausal ovarian cysts using vaginal ultrasound and CA-125 antigen. *J Clin Ultrasound* 1996; 24: 175-178 [PMID: 8727415]
- 4 Aubert JM, Rombaut C, Argacha P, Romero F, Leira J, Gomez-

Bolea F. Simple adnexal cysts in postmenopausal women: conservative management. *Maturitas* 1998; **30**: 51-54 [PMID: 9819783]

- 5 Conway C, Zalud I, Dilena M, Maulik D, Schulman H, Haley J, Simonelli K. Simple cyst in the postmenopausal patient: detection and management. *J Ultrasound Med* 1998; 17: 369-372; quiz 373-374 [PMID: 9623473]
- 6 Bailey CL, Ueland FR, Land GL, DePriest PD, Gallion HH, Kryscio RJ, van Nagell JR. The malignant potential of small cystic ovarian tumors in women over 50 years of age. *Gynecol Oncol* 1998; 69: 3-7 [PMID: 9570990]
- 7 Ekerhovd E, Wienerroith H, Staudach A, Granberg S. Preoperative assessment of unilocular adnexal cysts by transvaginal ultrasonography: a comparison between ultrasonographic morphologic imaging and histopathologic diagnosis. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2001; **184**: 48-54 [PMID: 11174478]
- 8 Modesitt SC, Pavlik EJ, Ueland FR, DePriest PD, Kryscio RJ, van Nagell JR. Risk of malignancy in unilocular ovarian cystic tumors less than 10 centimeters in diameter. *Obstet Gynecol* 2003; 102: 594-599 [PMID: 12962948]
- 9 Castillo G, Alcázar JL, Jurado M. Natural history of sonographically detected simple unilocular adnexal cysts in asymptomatic postmenopausal women. *Gynecol Oncol* 2004; 92: 965-969 [PMID: 14984967]
- 10 Greenlee RT, Kessel B, Williams CR, Riley TL, Ragard LR, Hartge P, Buys SS, Partridge EE, Reding DJ. Prevalence, incidence, and natural history of simple ovarian cysts among women & gt; 55 years old in a large cancer screening trial. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2010; 202: 373.e1-373.e9 [PMID: 20096820 DOI: 10.1016/j.ajog.2009.11.029]
- 11 Sharma A, Gentry-Maharaj A, Burnell M, Fourkala EO, Campbell S, Amso N, Seif MW, Ryan A, Parmar M, Jacobs I, Menon U. Assessing the malignant potential of ovarian inclusion cysts in postmenopausal women within the UK Collaborative Trial of Ovarian Cancer Screening (UKCTOCS): a prospective cohort study. *BJOG* 2012; **119**: 207-219 [PMID: 21762355 DOI: 10.1111/j.1471-0528.2011.03038.x]
- Valentin L, Skoog L, Epstein E. Frequency and type of adnexal lesions in autopsy material from postmenopausal women: ultrasound study with histological correlation. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol* 2003; 22: 284-289 [PMID: 12942502]
- 13 Dørum A, Blom GP, Ekerhovd E, Granberg S. Prevalence and histologic diagnosis of adnexal cysts in postmenopausal women: an autopsy study. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2005; **192**: 48-54 [PMID: 15672002]
- 14 Valentin L. Use of morphology to characterize and manage common adnexal masses. *Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol* 2004; 18: 71-89 [PMID: 15123059]
- 15 Canis M, Rabischong B, Houlle C, Botchorishvili R, Jardon K, Safi A, Wattiez A, Mage G, Pouly JL, Bruhat MA. Laparoscopic management of adnexal masses: a gold standard? *Curr Opin Obstet Gynecol* 2002; 14: 423-428 [PMID: 12151833]

P- Reviewer: Iavazzo C, Khajehei M, Mohammed Usta I S- Editor: Ji FF L- Editor: A E- Editor: Wang CH





WJOG | www.wjgnet.com



Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.5317/wjog.v4.i4.113 World J Obstet Gynecol 2015 November 10; 4(4): 113-123 ISSN 2218-6220 (online) © 2015 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

META-ANALYSIS

### Use of hyaluronic acid for sperm immobilisation and selection before intracytoplasmic sperm injection: A systematic review and meta-analysis

Laurentiu Craciunas, Nikolaos Tsampras, Martina Kollmann, Laura Stirbu, Nicholas John Raine-Fenning

Laurentiu Craciunas, Martina Kollmann, Nicholas John Raine-Fenning, Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, School of Medicine, University of Nottingham, Nottingham NG7 2UH, United Kingdom

Nikolaos Tsampras, Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, St. Mary's Hospital, Central Manchester University Hospitals Foundation Trust, Manchester M13 9WL, United Kingdom

Laura Stirbu, Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, St. Remigius Hospital, 51379 Leverkusen, Germany

Author contributions: Craciunas L designed the review protocol; Craciunas L and Tsampras N performed the literature search and identified studies; Craciunas L and Kollmann M extracted the data from included studies; Stirbu L verified the extracted data; Craciunas L performed analysis in Review Manager; Craciunas L wriote the initial draft; Tsampras N, Kollmann M, Stirbu L and Raine-Fenning NJ contributed with comments and agreed the final version of the paper.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

Data sharing statement: Review manager file with statistical code available from the corresponding author at lcraciunas@ doctors.org.uk.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Correspondence to: Dr. Laurentiu Craciunas, Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, School of Medicine, University of Nottingham, Nottingham NG7 2UH, United Kingdom. lcraciunas@doctors.org.uk

Telephone: +44-744-7907121 Fax: +44-115-9513666 Received: March 26, 2015 Peer-review started: March 31, 2015 First decision: April 27, 2015 Revised: July 25, 2015 Accepted: August 4, 2015 Article in press: August 7, 2015 Published online: November 10, 2015

#### Abstract

**AIM:** To appraise critically the published randomised controlled trials (RCTs) reporting on the effectiveness of using hyaluronic acid (HA) for sperm immobilisation and selection before intracytoplasmic sperm injection (ICSI).

METHODS: Two authors used the PICO Method in order to perform a comprehensive literature search of the standard medical databases in June 2015. Data from the included studies was extracted independently by two authors using a predefined pro-forma. Review Manager (RevMan) was used to calculate the combined outcomes where multiple studies contributed with their results. Risk ratio (RR) with a 95%CI using the Mantel-Haenszel method was calculated for binary data variables. Heterogeneity was measured using the  $\chi^2$  test and quantified using  $I^2$ . In case of substantial heterogeneity (P < 0.10 for  $\chi^2$  test or  $I^2 > 50\%$ ) the combined outcome was calculated using the random effects model. The results from the meta-analysis were displayed as forest plots. The guideline of the Cochrane Collaboration was used to assess the risk of bias and it was illustrated as a risk of bias graph.

**RESULTS:** The systematic literature search identified 166 different studies related to sperm immobilisation and selection for ICSI. Eleven RCTs involving 13719 oocyte intracytoplasmatic injections with sperm immobilised and selected using HA or polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP)



were included in this systematic review and metaanalysis. There was low heterogeneity among the included trials ( $\chi^2 = 16.86$ , df = 11, P = 0.11;  $I^2 =$ 35%). There was no statistical difference between HA and PVP groups in terms of fertilisation rate (RR = 1.01; 95%CI: 0.99-1.03; z = 0.75; P = 0.45), good embryos rate (RR = 1.01; 95%CI: 0.96-1.06; z = 0.30; P = 0.76), live birth rate (RR = 1.15; 95%CI: 0.86-1.54; z = 0.92; P = 0.36), clinical pregnancy rate (RR = 1.04; 95%CI: 0.92-1.17; z = 0.62; P = 0.53) and implantation rate (RR = 1.17; 95%CI: 0.94-1.46; z = 0.40; P = 0.16). The quality of most of the included studies was moderate to poor because of unclear randomisation technique, inadequate allocation concealment and blinding.

**CONCLUSION:** This systematic review and metaanalysis provides evidence of similar efficiency between using HA or PVP for sperm immobilisation and selection before ICSI.

Key words: Hyaluronic acid; Sperm; Intracytoplasmic sperm injection

© **The Author(s) 2015.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core tip:** Hyaluronic acid (HA) has been proposed as a physiological alternative to polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP) for use as a selection medium to reduce sperm motility as a solution for the reported toxicity and unknown long term effects of PVP. We performed a systematic review and meta-analysis of eleven randomised controlled trials involving 13719 oocyte intracytoplasmatic injections with sperm immobilised and selected using HA or PVP. There was no difference between HA and PVP groups in terms of fertilisation, embryo quality, clinical pregnancy, implantation and live birth rates.

Craciunas L, Tsampras N, Kollmann M, Stirbu L, Raine-Fenning NJ. Use of hyaluronic acid for sperm immobilisation and selection before intracytoplasmic sperm injection: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *World J Obstet Gynecol* 2015; 4(4): 113-123 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/2218-6220/full/v4/i4/113.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.5317/wjog.v4.i4.113

#### INTRODUCTION

The success of intracytoplasmic sperm injection (ICSI), as a bypass of the natural selection processes taking place in the female reproductive tract, would be impossible without advances in the laboratory preparation and identification of sperm for use with ICSI. Several methods (ultramorphology, surface electric charge, apoptotic *vs* nonapoptotic, chromatin structure assay) have been recently proposed for optimising the sperm selection in order to reduce the risk of chromosomal anomalies associated with poor

ICSI outcome<sup>[1,2]</sup>.

Hyaluronic acid (HA) is found naturally in the women's reproductive tract and it forms a component of the cumulus-oocyte complex. It has been proposed as a physiological alternative to polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP) for use as a selection medium to reduce sperm motility as a solution for the reported toxicity and unknown long term effects of PVP<sup>[3,4]</sup>.

Furthermore, it has been shown that sperm's capacity to bind HA is a biochemical marker of maturity and function, suggesting the selection of sperm by HA binding to be an alternative to microscopic assessment of motility and morphology<sup>[3]</sup>.

Several descriptive reviews of the current advanced sperm selection methods support the use of HA for sperm immobilisation and selection for ICSI, but none of them report a quantitative measure of the effect it has on the ICSI outcome<sup>[5-8]</sup>.</sup>

The objective of this study is to appraise critically the published randomised controlled trials (RCTs) reporting on the use of HA for sperm immobilisation and selection before ICSI.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### Literature search

We used the PICO Method<sup>[9]</sup> to formulate a specific and answerable clinical question following which we performed a comprehensive literature search based on a predefined protocol. The medical subject headings (MeSH) "sperm injections, intracytoplasmic", "semen", "hyaluronic acid", "infertility", "fertilization" and "live birth" were combined with free terms "hyaluronan", "sperm", "ICSI", "PICSI", "SpermCatch", "SpermSlow", "polyvinylpyrrolidone", "PVP", "embryo quality", "pregnancy", "implantation", "costs", "adverse events" in order to search Medline/PubMed/PMC, Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL), EBSCOhost, ClinicalTrials.gov and Google Scholar from inception until June 2015. The "Related citations" function and hand search of references were used for all relevant studies in order to identify additional RCTs.

#### Study selection

We set our inclusion criteria as RCTs evaluating sperm immobilisation and selection using HA before ICSI with no filter for date, country or hospital of origin, publication language, sample size or blinding. For studies presented in more than one publication, we only included the most extensive and recent version in order to avoid overlapping data.

#### Endpoints

The primary endpoints of the present meta-analysis were defined as: fertilisation rate, embryo quality and live birth rate. Secondary endpoints were: clinical pregnancy and implantation rates, adverse events and costs.

#### Craciunas L et al. Hyaluronic acid for sperm immobilisation and selection before ICSI



Figure 1 PRISMA flow chart showing trial selection methodology. RCT: Randomised controlled trial.

#### Data extraction

Two authors extracted the data following the literature search and study selection using predefined tables. Information related to first author, year of publication, country of origin, age of participants, inclusion criteria, the day of embryo transfer, number of embryos transferred, publication type, intervention protocols, number of participants, fertilisation rate, embryo quality, clinical pregnancy rate, implantation rate, live birth rate, adverse events, costs, randomisation technique, allocation concealment, blinding and data reporting was retrieved for each of the included studies. We contacted the study authors in order to obtain more data where it was required.

#### Statistical analysis

The software package RevMan 5.2.11<sup>[10]</sup>, provided by the Cochrane Collaboration, was used for statistical analysis. We calculated the risk ratio (RR) with a 95%CI using the Mantel-Haenszel method<sup>[11]</sup> for binary data variables.

We measured the heterogeneity using the  $\chi^2$  test and quantified it<sup>[12]</sup> using  $I^2$ . In case of substantial heterogeneity (P < 0.10 for  $\chi^2$  test or  $I^2 > 50\%$ ) we reported the combined outcome calculated using the random effects model<sup>[13]</sup>. Forest plots were used for the visual display of the results from the metaanalysis. The guideline of the Cochrane Collaboration<sup>[14]</sup> was used to assess the risk of bias and it was illustrated as a risk of bias graph. GradePro (Version 3.2 for Windows) provided by the Cochrane Collaboration<sup>[15]</sup> was used to generate the summary of the evidence. We performed subgroup analysis based on publication type (full text *vs* abstract) and type of reporting of the results (per women *vs* per cycle) for each of the variables with summated outcome.

#### RESULTS

The systemic literature search identified 166 different studies related to sperm immobilisation and selection for ICSI. The PRISMA flow chart to explain the RCTs selection is shown in Figure 1. The summary of the evidence is presented in Figure 2. Eleven RCTs<sup>[5,16-25]</sup> evaluating 13719 oocyte intracytoplasmatic injections with sperm immobilised and selected using HA or PVP were included in this systematic review and meta-analysis. There were 6926 injections in the HA group and 6793 injections in the PVP group. The characteristics of the included RCTs are shown in Table 1, and the procedure protocols used for the women in all of the RCTs are shown in Table 2. Variables used to achieve a combined outcome are shown in Table 3. One RCT<sup>[17]</sup> included four arms and we analysed the data as for two studies. Seven RCTs<sup>[5,16,18,20,22,23,25]</sup> were

WJOG | www.wjgnet.com

Craciunas L et al. Hyaluronic acid for sperm immobilisation and selection before ICSI

Outcome	Illustrative comparative risk	s <sup>1</sup> (95%CI)	Relative effect	No of participants	Quality of the evidence	Comments
	Assumed risk	Corresponding risk	(95%CI)	(studies)	(GRADE)	
	Polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP)	Hyaluronic acid (HA)				
Fertilisation rate	Study population		RR 1.01	13719	$\oplus \oplus \oplus \odot$	
RR	740 per 1000	747 per 1000	(0.99 to 1.03)	(12 studies)	moderate <sup>1</sup>	
Follow-up: mean 8 wk		(733 to 762)				
	Moderate					
	745 per 1000	752 per 1000				
		(738 to 767)				
Good embryos rate	Study population		RR 1.01	5834	$\oplus \oplus \oplus \odot$	
RR	466 per 1000	471 per 1000	(0.96 to 1.06)	(8 studies)	moderate <sup>1</sup>	
Follow-up: mean 8 wk		(447 to 494)				
	Moderate					
	367 per 1000	371 per 1000				
		(352 to 389)				
Clinical pregnancy rate	Study population		RR 1.04	1367	$\oplus \oplus \oplus \odot$	
RR	417 per 1000	433 per 1000	(0.92 to 1.17)	(9 studies)	moderate <sup>1</sup>	
Follow-up: mean 8 wk		(383 to 487)				
	Moderate					
	400 per 1000	416 per 1000				
		(368 to 468)				
Implantation rate	Study population		RR 1.17	1637	$\oplus \oplus \oplus \odot$	
RR	150 per 1000	175 per 1000	(0.94 to 1.46)	(4 studies)	moderate <sup>1</sup>	
Follow-up: mean 8 wk		(141 to 219)	_			
	Moderate		-			
	164 per 1000	192 per 1000				
		(154 to 239)				
Liver birth rate	Study population		RR 1.15	473	$\oplus \oplus \oplus \odot$	
RR	253 per 1000	291 per 1000	(0.86 to 1.54)	(3 studies)	moderate <sup>1</sup>	
Follow-up: mean 37 wk		(218 to 390)	_			
	Moderate					
	263 per 1000	302 per 1000				
		(226 to 405)				

<sup>1</sup>Selection, performance and detection bias due to inadequate concealment technique, blinding of personnel and outcome assessment. RR: Risk ratio.

#### Figure 2 Summary and strength of the evidence from trials analysed on GradePro®.



Figure 3 Risk of bias generated using cochrane risk of bias assessment tool.

published as full articles and four RCTs were published as abstracts<sup>[17,19,21,24]</sup>. Two RCTs<sup>[5,22]</sup> reported the results per ICSI cycle not per woman randomised. There was complete agreement between authors in terms of included studies and extracted data.

#### Methodological quality of included studies

Based upon the guidelines suggested by the Cochrane Collaboration, the quality of most of the included studies was moderate to poor because of unclear randomisation technique, inadequate allocation concealment and blinding (Figure 3).

The combined outcome of all of the variables is given below.

#### Fertilisation rate per oocyte injected

All the included RCTs reported on this outcome with low heterogeneity [ $\chi^2 = 16.86$ , df = 11 (P = 0.11);  $I^2 = 35\%$ ] among them. The fertilisation rate was similar (RR = 1.01; 95%CI: 0.99-1.03; z = 0.75; P =0.45; Figure 4A) in the HA group compared to the PVP group. The result did not change when we excluded the two RCTs<sup>[5,22]</sup> reporting the outcomes per ICSI cycle (P = 0.47) or when we used the random effects

Craciunas L et al. Hyaluronic acid for sp	perm immobilisation and selection before ICSI
-------------------------------------------	-----------------------------------------------

Table 1 Charac	teristics of inc	luded	trials			
Trial	Country	Mean age	Inclusion criteria	Day of embryo transfer	Number of embryos transferred	Publication type
Balaban et al <sup>[16]</sup>						
HA	Sweden	NA	Male factor	Day 2-3	3.1	Full text
PVP				,	3.1	
Barak et al <sup>[5]</sup>						
HA	Israel	31.0	Male factor	Day 2-3	3.8	Full text
PVP		30.9			3.8	
Castillo-Baso et al <sup>[17]</sup>						
HA	Mexico	35.1	NA	Day 2-3 or day 5-6	NA	Abstract
PVP		35.3				
Choe et al <sup>[18]</sup>						
HA	Korea	35.4	Previous low fertilization rate	Day 3 or day 5	NA	Full text
PVP			Multiple IVF failures			
Gandhi et al <sup>[19]</sup>						
HA	Spain	NA	NA	NA	NA	Abstract
PVP						
Majumdar et al <sup>[20]</sup>						
HA	India	31.7	Unexplained infertility, normal semen	Day 2-3	2.49	Full text
PVP		31.5	analysis		2.39	
Moon et al <sup>[21]</sup>						
HA	Korea	NA	NA	Day 3 or day 5	NA	Abstract
PVP						
Parmegiani et al <sup>[22]</sup>						
HA	Italy	37.5	Sperm number $> 10^6$ and sperm	Day 2-3	2.25	Full text
PVP		37.1	motility > 5%		2.15	
Van Den Bergh et al <sup>[23]</sup>						
HA	Switzerland	NA	Women younger than 38 yr with at	Day 2-3	NA	Full text
PVP			least four metaphase II oocytes			
Worrilow et al <sup>[24]</sup>						
HA	United States	NA	NA	NA	NA	Abstract
PVP						
Worrilow et al <sup>[25]</sup>						
HA	United States	33.3	Women younger than 40 years with at	Day 2-3 or day 5-6	NA	Full text
PVP		33.7	least four metaphase II oocytes; Men			
			with sperm count > 10000/mL			

HA: Hyaluronic acid; PVP: Polyvinylpyrrolidone; NA: Not available.

model for calculation (P = 0.83).

#### Good embryos rate per oocyte injected

Eight RCTs reported on this outcome with low heterogeneity [ $\chi^2 = 12.08$ , df = 7 (P = 0.10);  $I^2 = 42\%$ ] among them. There were 2714 good quality embryos obtained from 5835 oocytes injected. No statistically significant difference was found between the HA and PVP groups (RR = 1.01; 95%CI: 0.96-1.06; z = 0.30; P = 0.76; Figure 4B). Similar results were obtained when we excluded the RCT<sup>[22]</sup> reporting the outcomes per ICSI cycle (P = 0.56) or when we used the random effects model for calculation (P = 0.59).

#### Live birth rate per cycle

Three RCTs reported on this outcome with no heterogeneity [ $\chi^2 = 0.67$ , df = 2, (P = 0.73);  $I^2 = 0\%$ ] among them. The live birth rate was similar in the HA group compared to the PVP group (RR = 1.15; 95%CI: 0.86-1.54; z = 0.92; P = 0.36; Figure 4C). Same results were obtained after excluding the RCT<sup>[22]</sup> reporting the outcomes per ICSI cycle (P = 0.68) or when we calculated using the random effects model (P = 0.41).

#### Clinical pregnancy rate per transfer

Nine RCTs reported on this outcome with no heterogeneity [ $\chi^2 = 5.50$ , df = 8, (P = 0.70);  $I^2 = 0\%$ ] among them. The clinical pregnancy rate was similar between HA group and PVP group (RR = 1.04; 95%CI: 0.92-1.17; z = 0.62; P = 0.53; Figure 5A). No difference was found by excluding the two RCTs<sup>[5,22]</sup> reporting the outcomes per ICSI cycle (P = 0.98) or by calculating the combined outcome using the random effects model (P = 0.68).

#### Implantation rate per embryo transferred

Four RCTs reported on this outcome with no heterogeneity [ $\chi^2 = 1.12$ , df = 3, (P = 0.77);  $I^2 = 0\%$ ] among them. Similar implantation rates were obtained in the HA and PVP groups (RR = 1.17; 95%CI: 0.94-1.46; z = 0.40; P = 0.16; Figure 5B). Excluding the two RCTs<sup>[5,22]</sup> reporting the outcomes per ICSI cycle (P = 0.67) or using the random effects model for calculation (P = 0.17) did not change the result.



Table 2 Treatn	nent protocol adopted in included trials	
Ref.	HA group	PVP group
Balaban <i>et al</i> <sup>[16]</sup>	Oocytes were injected with sperm exposed to, SpermCatch (NidaCon International, Gothenburg, Sweden), a viscous liquid containing hyaluronate and human serum albumin	Oocytes were injected with sperm exposed to the PVP- containing product
Barak <i>et al</i> <sup>[5]</sup>	Sperm suspension which contained motile spermatozoa was introduced into the center of viscous suspension of hyaluronic acid. Motility of the sperm cells was slowed down. After breaking the sperm tail with the injection nipette, the spermatozoa were injected into the occutes	MII oocytes were injected with sperm cells which were immobilized and aspirated for injection in 10% PVP solution
Castillo-Baso <i>et</i> al <sup>[17]</sup>	Sperm selected by PICSI (Mid Atlantic Diag. Inc.)	Sperm selected by conventional ICSI
Gandhi <i>et al</i> <sup>[19]</sup>	$2 \ \mu L$ droplet with suspension of spermatozoa was placed to a $5 \ \mu L$ droplet of HA-containing medium (SpermSlow; MediCult, Jyllinge, Denmark) and incubated for 15 min at 37 °C under oil. Spermatozoa bound to HA in the junction of the two droplets were identified and carefully detached by injecting pipette (ICSI Micropipette; TPC, Thebarton, Adelaide, South Australia) and subsequently injected into a MII oocvte	Before injection, 3 $\mu$ L of sperm suspension was transferred to 7 $\mu$ L of 7% polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP; SAGE) solution to remove debris and get better control. Spermatozoa with best morphology were selected for injection into a MII oocytes using inverted microscope equipped with micromanipulators
Gandhi <i>et al</i> <sup>[19]</sup>	Donated oocytes to avoid female infertility as a bias factor, randomly carried out with SpermSlow for sperm selection	Donated oocytes to avoid female infertility as a bias factor randomly carried out with PVP for sperm selection
Majumdar <i>et al<sup>l20</sup></i>	Sterile PICSI dishes (Origio MidAtlantic Devices, United States) with three hyaluronan microdots attached to the interior bottom, were used. 10 $\mu$ L droplets of culture medium (GMOPS, Vitrolife) were placed over the hyaluronan microdots and an elongated 10 $\mu$ L drop of PVP was made below the drops, before covering the dish with oil. 1-2 $\mu$ L of sperm suspension was then added to the hyaluronan microdot containing droplets. After 5 min of incubation at 37 °C, HA bound sperm with normal morphology were removed with an injecting micropipette (TPC, Australia) to the adjacent PVP droplet. immobilized and subsequently injected	An elongated 10 $\mu L$ poly vinyl pyrolidone drop (PVP, Medicult, Denmark) under oil, was used to select spermatozoa with normal morphology for subsequent injection
Moon et al <sup>[21]</sup>	ICSI were performed with husband spermatozoa which immobilized in 2.5 mg/mL hyaluronic acid	ICSI were performed with husband spermatozoa which immobilized in 5% PVP
Parmegiani et al <sup>[22]</sup>	Spermatozoa were selected for their ability to bind to HA: A 2-mL droplet with suspension of spermatozoa was connected with a pipette tip to a 5-mL droplet of HA-containing medium (SpermSlow; MediCult) and allowed to incubate for 15 min at 37 °C under oil (Liquid Paraffin; MediCult). Spermatozoa bound to HA in the junction zone of the two droplets were selected and easily detached by injecting pipette (ICSI Micropipette; Humagen Fertility Diagnostics) and subsequently injected into oocytes	Conventional PVP-ICSI procedure
Worrilow <i>et al</i> <sup>[24]</sup>	At the time of injection, drops were prepared in the lid of a Falcon Petri dish (353004; Becton Dickinson, Franklin Lakes, United States). In the middle of the dish a 10 $\mu$ L drop of Spermslow (Medicult) and a 10 $\mu$ L Flushing Medium drop (Medicult) were connected by a 3-4 mm junction bridge of medium and consecutively encircled by five 10 $\mu$ L drops of Flushing medium. This setup was covered with liquid paraffin (Medicult). A 2 $\mu$ L volume of prepared semen was added to the medium part of the Spermslow/Flushing medium central mixture. The spermatozoa were allowed to migrate towards the junction for a period of 15-20 min at 37 °C. Spermatozoa were carefully selected near the junction between the sperm droplet and the SpermSlow droplet	Non-bound, forward-moving spermatozoa were taken from the SpermSlow droplet
Worrilow <i>et al</i> <sup>[24]</sup> Worrilow <i>et al</i> <sup>[25]</sup>	PICSI embryos created using Hyaluron Bond-sperm The final sperm suspension of HYAL patients was placed upon microdots of hyaluronan in the PICSI Sperm Selection Device (Biocoat, Inc., Horsham, PA) and overlaid with oil. Following a 5-10 min incubation period, HB sperm were selected following the manufacturer's instructions	Standard sperm selection criteria The final sperm suspension of patients in the control group was placed into standard ICSI dishes for selection

PVP: Polyvinylpyrrolidone; ICSI: Intracytoplasmic sperm injection; HA: Hyaluronic acid.

#### Adverse events and costs

None of the studies reported on these outcomes.

#### DISCUSSION

#### Main findings

This systematic review and meta-analysis based on eleven moderate to low quality RCTs provides evidence of similar efficiency between using HA or PVP for sperm immobilisation and selection before ICSI in terms of fertilisation, embryo quality, clinical pregnancy, implantation and live birth rates. None of the studies reported on costs hence we could not perform a costeffectiveness analysis.

#### Strengths and limitations

By performing a comprehensive literature search of the standard medical databases and grey literature



WJOG www.wjgnet.com

#### Craciunas L et al. Hyaluronic acid for sperm immobilisation and selection before ICSI

Table 3 Variables u	sed for systemati	c review and meta-ar	nalysis <i>n</i> (%)			
Trial	Transfers (n)	Fertilisation rate	Good embryos	Clinical pregnancy	Implantation rate	Live birth
Balaban et al <sup>[16]</sup>	Women					
HA	48	360 (72.14)	226 (50.33)	20 (41.66)	27 (18.12)	19 (39.58)
PVP	44	337 (75.05)	211 (46.99)	19 (43.18)	27 (19.14)	18 (40.90)
Barak et al <sup>[5]</sup>	Cycles					
HA	58	525 (72.61)	NA	29 (50.00)	41 (18.55)	NA
PVP	65	484 (74.57)		25 (38.46)	35 (14.00)	
Castillo-Baso et al <sup>[17]</sup>	Women					
HA	30	143 (49.14)	87 (29.89)	16 (53.33)	-34	NA
PVP	30	134 (50.95)	84 (31.93)	12 (40.00)	-24	
Castillo-Baso et al <sup>[17]</sup>	Women					
HA	30	140 (56.91)	105 (42.68)	14 (46.66)	-25	NA
PVP	30	163 (61.97)	99 (37.64)	13 (43.33)	-22	
Choe et al <sup>[18]</sup>						
HA	18 women	81 (75.70)	13 (12.14)	NA	NA	NA
PVP		93 (83.03)	15 (13.39)			
Gandhi et al <sup>[19]</sup>	Women					
HA	77	909 (82.33)	675 (61.14)	41 (53.24)	NA	NA
PVP	77	923 (82.48)	698 (62.37)	47 (61.03)		
Majumdar <i>et al</i> <sup>[20]</sup>	Women					
HA	71	353 (64.65)	154 (43.62)	25 (35.21)	39 (22.03)	22 (30.98)
PVP	80	371 (65.66)	170 (45.82)	28 (35.00)	36 (18.84)	21 (26.25)
Moon et al <sup>[21]</sup>						
HA	1 woman	18 (81.81)	11 (50.99)	NA	NA	NA
PVP		22 (78.57)	10 (35.71)			
Parmegiani et al <sup>[22]</sup>	Cycles					
HA	125	304 (91.56)	101 (30.42)	31 (24.80)	35 (12.41)	29 (23.20)
PVP	105	236 (85.81)	55 (20.00)	22 (20.95)	23 (10.17)	19 (18.09)
Van Den Bergh <i>et al</i> <sup>[23]</sup>						
HA	44 women	154 (75.49)	NA	NA	NA	NA
PVP		142 (69.95)				
Worrilow et al <sup>[24]</sup>	Women					
HA	7	77 (61.11)	NA	4 (57.14)	NA	NA
PVP	8	98 (66.66)		2 (25.00)		
Worrilow et al <sup>[24]</sup>	Women			· · ·		
HA	237	2105 (77.21)	NA	112 (47.25)	NA	NA
PVP	245	2024 (74.41)		117 (47.75)		
Total		· /		. /		
HA		5169 (74.63)	1372 (46.44)	292 (42.75)	142 (17.12)	70 (28.68)
PVP		5027 (74.00)	1342 (46.59)	285 (41.66)	121 (14.97)	58 (25.32)

HA: Hyaluronic acid; PVP: Polyvinylpyrrolidone; NA: Not available.

with no filters for date, country or hospital of origin, publication language, sample size or blinding we were able to identify eleven RCTs including conference abstracts in order to calculate the combined outcomes. Where the reported data was insufficient we contacted the study authors to gain extended reports.

The heterogeneity was low among the included RCTs and lead to consistent results by using both fixed effect and random effects models for calculations.

Our study is limited by the moderate to poor methodological quality of the included studies because of unclear randomisation technique, inadequate allocation concealment and blinding.

Some might argue in relation to the inclusion of the two RCTs reporting the results per ICSI cycle and not per women randomised, but we performed calculations excluding them for each of the primary and secondary outcomes, without identifying any significant difference.

#### Comparison with other studies and further research

To our knowledge this is the first meta-analysis comparing HA with PVP for sperm immobilisation and selection before ICSI. By observing the forest plot for each end point one can easily notice the similarities between the RCTs as most of them cross the vertical line meaning there is no statistical difference between the groups.

Future trials should be conducted according to the CONSORT guidelines. Due to the nature of the intervention, it would be difficult to achieve blinding of the embryologist performing the sperm selection, but the risk of bias could be reduced by blinding the outcome assessors and the personnel performing the embryo transfers.

It is important to report on the possible adverse events related to less physiological immobilisation and selection of the sperm and to set live birth rate as a primary outcome for the comparisons.

Δ	н	Δ	P\	/P		Risk ratio	Risk ratio
Study or subaroup	Evente	Total	Evente	Total	Weight	M-H fixed 95%CT	M-H fixed 95%CI
1 1 1 Full texts	LVCIILS	Total	LVCIILS	iotai	weight	11 II, INCU, 55/0CI	
Balaban 2003	360	400	337	440	7 00%	0.06 (0.80, 1.04)	
Barak 2001	525	727	181	640	10 10%	0.90(0.09, 1.04)	
Choo 2012	J2J 01	107	тот 02	112	1 00/-	0.97 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.90, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.90, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.90, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.90, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.01 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.00 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.00 (0.91, 1.04) = 0.00	
CHUE 2012 Majumdar 2012	252	107 E46	95		1.0%	0.91(0.00, 1.04)	•
Parmogiani 2013	204	222	371	202	7.270 E 10/	1.07 (1.01, 1.12)	
Van Dan Barah 2000	154	204	230	2/5	5.1%	1.07 (1.01, 1.13) 1.09 (0.06, 1.23)	
Warrilow 2012	2105	204	2024	203	2.0%	1.06 (0.90, 1.22)	
	2105	2/20	2024	2/20	39.9% 72.00/	1.04 (1.01, 1.07)	
Subtotal (95%CI)	2002	5137	2607	4973	/3.9%	1.02 (0.99, 1.04)	
I otal events	12 22 4		3087	7 <sup>2</sup> F10	7		
Test for everall effect	12.23, 0	r = 6 (P	= 0.06);	1 = 51	%		
lest for overall effect	z = 1.48	S(P=0)	.14)				
1.1.2 Abstracts							
Castillo-Baso 2011 a	143	291	134	263	2.8%	0.96 (0.82, 1.14)	
Castillo-Baso 2011 b	140	246	163	263	3.1%	0.92 (0.79, 1.06) –	
Gallego 2013	909	1104	923	1119	18.1%	1.00 (0.96, 1.04)	<b>_</b>
Moon 2000	18	22	22	28	0.4%	1.04 (0.79, 1.37) —	
Worrilow 2006	77	126	98	147	1.8%	0.92 (0.77, 1.10) 🛶	<b>_</b>
Subtotal (95%CI)		1789		1820	26.1%	0.98 (0.94, 1.02)	<b>•</b>
Total events	1287		1340				-
Heterogeneity: Chi <sup>2</sup> =	2.40, df	= 4 (P =	= 0.66); i	<sup>r<sup>2</sup></sup> = 0%			
Test for overall effect	: z = 1.03	B(P=0	.30)				
<b>T</b> : 1 (0.50 ( 0.5)							
Total (95%CI)		6926		6/93	100.0%	1.01 (0.99, 1.03)	•
l otal events	5169		5027	-2 -			
Heterogeneity: Chi <sup>2</sup> =	16.86, d	f = 11 (	P = 0.11	$; I^{-} = 3$	5%		0.85 0.9 1 11 12
Test for overall effect	: z = 0.75	P = 0	.45)	1 (0	0 1 0 1 72 /		
lest for subgroup diff	erences:	Cni = 2	2.67, ar =	1(P =	(0.10); I = 0	02.6%	Favours PVP Favours HA
-				<i>(</i> <b>)</b>			<b>5</b> .1
B	Eta	A 	P\	/P 	\	RISK ratio	RISK ratio
Study or subgroup	Events	Iotai	Events	Iotai	weight	M-H, fixed, 95%CI	M-H, fixed, 95%CI
1.2.1 Full texts	226	400	211	1.10	16 50/		
Balaban 2003	226	499	211	449	16.5%	0.96 (0.84, 1.11)	
Choe 2012	13	10/	15	112	1.1%	0.91 (0.45, 1.82)	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Majumdar 2013	154	353	1/0	3/1	12.3%	0.95 (0.81, 1.12)	
Parmegiani 2010	101	332	55	2/5	4.5%	1.52 (1.14, 2.03)	
Subtotal (95%CI)	40.4	1291	45-1	1207	34.3%	1.03 (0.93, 1.14)	<b>—</b>
i otal events	494	2 (5	451	2 670			
Heterogeneity: Chi <sup>2</sup> =	9.02, df	= 3 (P =	= 0.03); 1	- = 6/%	)		
lest for overall effect	: z = 0.59	$\theta (P = 0)$	.55)				
1.2.2 Abstracts							
Castillo-Baso 2011 a	87	291	84	263	6.5%	0.94 (0.73, 1.20)	<b>_</b>
Castillo-Baso 2011 b	105	246	99	263	7.1%	1.13 (0.92, 1.40)	+ <b>-</b>
Gallego 2013	675	1104	698	1119	51.4%	0.98 (0.92, 1.05)	- <b>-</b>
Moon 2000	11	22	10	28	0.7%	1.40 (0.73, 2.68)	<b>_</b>
Subtotal (95%CI)		1663		1673	65.7%	1.00 (0.94, 1.06)	
. ,						. , ,	<b>T</b>

Total events 878 891 Heterogeneity: Chi<sup>2</sup> = 2.96, df = 3 (P = 0.40);  $I^2$  = 0% Test for overall effect: z = 0.11 (P = 0.91)

Total (95%CI)	2954	28	880	100.0%
Total events	1372	1342		
Heterogeneity: $Chi^2 = 1$	2.08, df = 7 (P	= 0.10); I <sup>2</sup> :	= 42%	D
Test for overall effect: z	$x = 0.30 \ (P = 0.3)$	76)		
Test for subgroup differ	ences: $Chi^2 = 0$ .	31, df = 1 (	( <i>P</i> = 0	.57); $I^2 = 0\%$

0.5 0.7 1 1.5 2 Favours PVP Favours HA



1.01 (0.96, 1.06)

#### Craciunas L et al. Hyaluronic acid for sperm immobilisation and selection before ICSI

С	H.	A	P١	/P		Risk ratio			Risk ratio		
Study or subgroup	Events	Total	Events	Total	Weight	M-H, fixed, 95%CI		M-H	l, fixed, 95%	6CI	
1.5.1 Full texts											
Balaban 2003	19	48	18	44	31.7%	0.97 (0.59, 1.59)			-		
Majumdar 2013	22	71	21	80	33.4%	1.18 (0.71, 1.96)					
Parmegiani 2010	29	125	19	105	34.9%	1.28 (0.76, 2.15)					
Subtotal (95%CI)		244		229	100.0%	1.15 (0.86, 1.54)					
Total events	70		58								
Heterogeneity: Chi <sup>2</sup> =	= 0.64, df	= 2 ( <i>P</i> =	= 0.73); <i>1</i>	<sup>-2</sup> = 0%							
Test for overall effect	: z = 0.92	P=0	.36)								
Total (95%CI)		244		229	100.0%	1.15 (0.86, 1.54)					
Total events	70		58						-		
Heterogeneity: Chi <sup>2</sup> =	= 0.64, df	= 2 ( <i>P</i> =	= 0.73); <i>1</i>	$^{-2} = 0\%$						I	
Test for overall effect	: z = 0.92	P = 0	.36)				0.5	0.7	1	1.5	2
Test for subgroup dif	ferences:	Not app	licable					Favours	PVP Fav	ours HA	

Figure 4 Primary endpoints. A: The forest plot showing fertilisation rate per oocyte injected. Risk ratio is shown with 95%Cl; B: The forest plot showing good embryos rate per oocyte injected, risk ratio is shown with 95%Cl; C: The forest plot showing live birth rate per cycle. Risk ratio is shown with 95%Cl. HA: Hyaluronic acid; PVP: Polyvinylpyrrolidone.

٦	H/	Ą	P٧	/Ρ		Risk ratio		Risk	ratio	
Study or subgroup	Events	Total	Events	Total	Weight	M-H, fixed, 95%CI		M-H, fixe	d, 95%CI	
1.3.1 Full texts										
Balaban 2003	20	48	19	44	7.0%	0.96 (0.60, 1.55)				
Barak 2001	29	58	25	65	8.3%	1.30 (0.87, 1.94)		-		
Majumdar 2013	25	71	28	80	9.3%	1.01 (0.65, 1.55)				
Parmegiani 2010	31	125	22	105	8.5%	1.18 (0.73, 1.91)				
Worrilow 2013	112	237	117	245	40.7%	0.99 (0.82, 1.19)				
Subtotal (95%CI)		539		539	73.9%	1.05 (0.91, 1.21)				
Total events	217		211						·	
Heterogeneity: Chi <sup>2</sup> =	= 1.86, df =	= 4 ( <i>P</i> =	= 0.76); <i>I</i>	$^{2} = 0\%$						
Test for overall effect	: z = 0.62	(P = 0	.54)							
1.3.2 Abstracts										
Castillo-Baso 2011 a	16	30	12	30	4.2%	1.33 (0.77, 2.31)				
Castillo-Baso 2011 b	14	30	13	30	4.6%	1.08 (0.62, 1.89)				
Gallego 2013	41	77	47	77	16.6%	0.87 (0.66, 1.15)				
Worrilow 2006	4	7	2	8	0.7%	2.29 (0.59, 8.91)				
Subtotal (95%CI)	-	144	_	145	26.1%	1.02 (0.82, 1.27)				
Total events	75		74			(, ,				
Heterogeneity: $Chi^2 =$	= 3.53. df =	= 3 (P =	= 0.32): 7	$^{2} = 15\%$						
Test for overall effect	:: z = 0.17	(P=0	.87)	10 /						
		602		604	100.00/	1 04 (0 02 1 17)				
10fal (95%(1)		L U J		60/	100 00/2	1 0/1 / 0 0 / 1 1 / 1				
T	202	003	205	004	100.070	1.04 (0.92, 1.17)				
Total events	292	005	285	2 004	100.070	1.04 (0.52, 1.17)				I
Total events Heterogeneity: Chi <sup>2</sup> =	292 = 5.50, df =	= 8 (P =	285 = 0.70); <i>I</i>	<sup>2</sup> = 0%	100.078		0.2	0.5	2	5
Total events Heterogeneity: Chi <sup>2</sup> = Test for overall effect	292 = 5.50, df = :: z = 0.62	= 8 (P = 0)	285 = 0.70); <i>I</i> .53)	<sup>2</sup> = 0%	24), <sup>7</sup> / <sub>2</sub> 00/		0.2	0.5 1		5
Total events Heterogeneity: $Chi^2$ = Test for overall effect Test for subgroup dif	292 = 5.50, df = :: z = 0.62 ferences: (	$(P = 0)^{000}$ $(P = 0)^{000}$ $(P = 0)^{000}$	285 = 0.70); <i>I</i> .53) ).4, df = 1	$^{2} = 0\%$ L ( $P = 0$	.84); $I^2 = 0\%$		0.2	0.5 1 Favours PVP	L 2 Favours HA	5
Total events Heterogeneity: Chi <sup>2</sup> = Test for overall effect Test for subgroup dif	292 = 5.50, df = :: z = 0.62 ferences: ( H/	003 = 8 (P = (P = 0 Chi <sup>2</sup> = 0	285 = 0.70); <i>I</i> .53) 0.4, df = 1 PV	<sup>2</sup> = 0% L ( <i>P</i> = 0 VP	.84); $I^2 = 0\%$	Risk ratio	0.2	0.5 1 Favours PVP Risk	L 2 Favours HA ratio	5
Total events Heterogeneity: Chi <sup>2</sup> = Test for overall effect Test for subgroup dif	292 = 5.50, df = :: z = 0.62 ferences: ( H/ Events	003 = 8 ( <i>P</i> = ( <i>P</i> = 0 Chi <sup>2</sup> = 0 A Total	285 = 0.70); <i>I</i> .53) 0.4, df = 1 PV Events	$P^{2} = 0\%$ $L (P = 0)$ $P$ $Total$	.84); <i>I</i> <sup>2</sup> = 0% Weight	Risk ratio M-H, fixed, 95%CI	0.2	0.5 1 Favours PVP Risk M-H, fixe	L 2 Favours HA ratio d, 95%CI	5
Total events Heterogeneity: Chi <sup>2</sup> = Test for overall effect Test for subgroup dif	292 = 5.50, df = :: z = 0.62 ferences: ( H/ Events	883 = 8 (P = 0) (P = 0) Chi <sup>2</sup> = 0 A Total	285 = 0.70); <i>I</i> .53) 0.4, df = 1 PV Events	$^{2} = 0\%$ L ( $P = 0$ $^{\prime}P$ Total	.84); <i>I</i> <sup>2</sup> = 0% Weight	Risk ratio M-H, fixed, 95%CI	0.2	0.5 1 Favours PVP Risk M-H, fixe	L 2 Favours HA ratio d, 95%CI	5
Total events Heterogeneity: Chi <sup>2</sup> = Test for overall effect Test for subgroup dif Study or subgroup 1.4.1 Full texts Balaban 2003	292 = 5.50, df = :: z = 0.62 ferences: ( H/ Events 27	= 8 (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0) (P = 0)	285 = 0.70); <i>I</i> .53) 0.4, df = 1 PV Events 27	$\frac{1}{2} = 0\%$ $\frac{1}{2} = 0\%$ $\frac{1}{2} (P = 0)$ $\frac{1}{2} (P = 0)$ $\frac{1}{2} (P = 0)$ $\frac{1}{2} (P = 0)$	$.84); I^2 = 0\%$ Weight 23.0%	Risk ratio M-H, fixed, 95%CI 0.95 (0.58, 1.53)	0.2	0.5 1 Favours PVP Risk M-H, fixe	L 2 Favours HA ratio d, 95%CI	5
Total events Heterogeneity: Chi <sup>2</sup> = Test for overall effect Test for subgroup dif Study or subgroup 1.4.1 Full texts Balaban 2003 Barak 2001	292 = 5.50, df = :: z = 0.62 ferences: ( H/ Events 27 41	$= 8 (P = 0)$ $(P = 0)$ $Chi^{2} = 0$ $A$ $Total$ $149$ $221$	285 = 0.70); <i>I</i> .53) 0.4, df = 1 PV Events 27 35	$^{2} = 0\%$ L ( <i>P</i> = 0 <u>/P</u> <u>Total</u> 141 250	$.84); I^2 = 0\%$ Weight 23.0% 27.2%	Risk ratio M-H, fixed, 95%CI 0.95 (0.58, 1.53) 1.33 (0.88, 2.00)	0.2	0.5 1 Favours PVP Risk M-H, fixe	L 2 Favours HA ratio d, 95%CI	5
Total events Heterogeneity: Chi <sup>2</sup> = Test for overall effect Test for subgroup dif Study or subgroup 1.4.1 Full texts Balaban 2003 Barak 2001 Majumdar 2013	292 = 5.50, df = :: z = 0.62 ferences: ( H/ Events 27 41 39	= 8 (P = 0) $(P = 0)$ Chi <sup>2</sup> = 0 Chi <sup>2</sup> = 0 A Total 149 221 177	285 = 0.70); <i>I</i> .53) 0.4, df = 1 PV Events 27 35 36	$2^{2} = 0\%$ L ( $P = 0$ P Total 141 250 191	.84); <i>I</i> <sup>2</sup> = 0% Weight 23.0% 27.2% 28.7%	Risk ratio M-H, fixed, 95%CI 0.95 (0.58, 1.53) 1.33 (0.88, 2.00) 1.17 (0.78, 1.75)	0.2	0.5 1 Favours PVP Risk M-H, fixe	L 2 Favours HA ratio d, 95%CI	5
Total events Heterogeneity: Chi <sup>2</sup> = Test for overall effect Test for subgroup dif Study or subgroup 1.4.1 Full texts Balaban 2003 Barak 2001 Majumdar 2013 Parmegiani 2010	292 = 5.50, df = :: z = 0.62 ferences: ( H/ Events 27 41 39 35	= 8 (P = 0) $(P = 0)$ Chi <sup>2</sup> = 0 Chi <sup>2</sup> = 0 A Total 149 221 177 282	285 = 0.70); <i>I</i> .53) 0.4, df = 1 PV <u>Events</u> 27 35 36 23	1004 $2^{2} = 0\%$ 1 (P = 0) 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 10000 10000 10000 10000 10000 10000 10000 10000 10000 10000 100000 100000 1000000000000000000000000000000000000	.84); <i>I</i> <sup>2</sup> = 0% Weight 23.0% 27.2% 28.7% 21.1%	Risk ratio M-H, fixed, 95%CI 0.95 (0.58, 1.53) 1.33 (0.88, 2.00) 1.17 (0.78, 1.75) 1.22 (0.74, 2.00)	0.2	0.5 1 Favours PVP Risk M-H, fixe	L 2 Favours HA ratio d, 95%CI	5
Total events Heterogeneity: Chi <sup>2</sup> = Test for overall effect Test for subgroup dif Study or subgroup 1.4.1 Full texts Balaban 2003 Barak 2001 Majumdar 2013 Parmegiani 2010 Subtotal (95%CI)	292 = 5.50, df = :: z = 0.62 ferences: ( H/ Events 27 41 39 35	= 8 (P = 0) $(P = 0)$ Chi <sup>2</sup> = 0 Chi <sup>2</sup> = 0 A Total 149 221 177 282 829	285 = 0.70); <i>I</i> .53) 0.4, df = 1 PV <u>Events</u> 27 35 36 23	$\frac{141}{226}$	.84); <i>I</i> <sup>2</sup> = 0% Weight 23.0% 27.2% 28.7% 21.1% 100.0%	Risk ratio M-H, fixed, 95%CI 0.95 (0.58, 1.53) 1.33 (0.88, 2.00) 1.17 (0.78, 1.75) 1.22 (0.74, 2.00) 1.17 (0.94, 1.46)	0.2	0.5 1 Favours PVP Risk M-H, fixe	L 2 Favours HA ratio d, 95%CI	5
Total events Heterogeneity: Chi <sup>2</sup> = Test for overall effect Test for subgroup dif Study or subgroup 1.4.1 Full texts Balaban 2003 Barak 2001 Majumdar 2013 Parmegiani 2010 Subtotal (95%CI) Total events	292 = 5.50, df = :: z = 0.62 ferences: ( H/ Events 27 41 39 35 142	= 8 (P = 0) $(P = 0)$ Chi <sup>2</sup> = 0 Chi <sup>2</sup> = 0 A Total 149 221 177 282 829	285 = 0.70); <i>I</i> .53) 0.4, df = 1 PV <u>Events</u> 27 35 36 23 121	$P^{2} = 0\%$ P = 0 $P^{P}$ 141 250 191 226 808	.84); <i>I</i> <sup>2</sup> = 0% Weight 23.0% 27.2% 28.7% 21.1% 100.0%	Risk ratio M-H, fixed, 95%CI 0.95 (0.58, 1.53) 1.33 (0.88, 2.00) 1.17 (0.78, 1.75) 1.22 (0.74, 2.00) 1.17 (0.94, 1.46)	0.2	0.5 1 Favours PVP Risk M-H, fixe	L 2 Favours HA ratio d, 95%CI	5
Total events Heterogeneity: Chi <sup>2</sup> = Test for overall effect Test for subgroup dif Study or subgroup 1.4.1 Full texts Balaban 2003 Barak 2001 Majumdar 2013 Parmegiani 2010 Subtotal (95%CI) Total events Heterogeneity: Chi <sup>2</sup> =	292 = 5.50, df = :: z = 0.62 ferences: ( H/ Events 27 41 39 35 142 = 1.12, df =	= 8 (P = 0) (P = 0) Chi <sup>2</sup> = 0 A Total 149 221 177 282 829 = 3 (P = 0)	285 = 0.70); <i>I</i> .53) 0.4, df = 1 PV <u>Events</u> 27 35 36 23 121 = 0.77); <i>I</i>	$P^{2} = 0\%$ L ( <i>P</i> = 0 <i>P</i> Total 141 250 191 226 808 <sup>2</sup> = 0%	.84); <i>I</i> <sup>2</sup> = 0% Weight 23.0% 27.2% 28.7% 21.1% 100.0%	Risk ratio M-H, fixed, 95%CI 0.95 (0.58, 1.53) 1.33 (0.88, 2.00) 1.17 (0.78, 1.75) 1.22 (0.74, 2.00) 1.17 (0.94, 1.46)	0.2	0.5 1 Favours PVP Risk M-H, fixe	L 2 Favours HA ratio d, 95%CI	5
Total events Heterogeneity: Chi <sup>2</sup> = Test for overall effect Test for subgroup dif Study or subgroup 1.4.1 Full texts Balaban 2003 Barak 2001 Majumdar 2013 Parmegiani 2010 Subtotal (95%CI) Total events Heterogeneity: Chi <sup>2</sup> = Test for overall effect	292 = 5.50, df = :: z = 0.62 ferences: ( H/ Events 27 41 39 35 142 = 1.12, df = :: z = 1.40	$= 8 (P = 0)$ $(P = 0)$ $Chi^{2} = (P = 0)$ $A$ $Total$ $149$ $221$ $177$ $282$ $829$ $= 3 (P = 0)$	285 = 0.70); <i>I</i> .53) 0.4, df = 1 PV <u>Events</u> 27 35 36 23 121 = 0.77); <i>I</i> .16)	$\frac{1}{2} = 0\%$ $\frac{1}{2} = 0\%$ $\frac{1}{2} = 0\%$ $\frac{1}{2} = 0\%$	.84); <i>I</i> <sup>2</sup> = 0% Weight 23.0% 27.2% 28.7% 21.1% 100.0%	Risk ratio M-H, fixed, 95%CI 0.95 (0.58, 1.53) 1.33 (0.88, 2.00) 1.17 (0.78, 1.75) 1.22 (0.74, 2.00) 1.17 (0.94, 1.46)	0.2	0.5 1 Favours PVP Risk M-H, fixe	L 2 Favours HA ratio d, 95%CI	5
Total events Heterogeneity: Chi <sup>2</sup> = Test for overall effect Test for subgroup dif Study or subgroup 1.4.1 Full texts Balaban 2003 Barak 2001 Majumdar 2013 Parmegiani 2010 Subtotal (95%CI) Total events Heterogeneity: Chi <sup>2</sup> = Test for overall effect	292 = 5.50, df = :: z = 0.62 ferences: ( H/ Events 27 41 39 35 142 = 1.12, df = :: z = 1.40	$= 8 (P = 0)$ $(P = 0)$ $Chi^{2} = (0)$ A Total 149 221 177 282 829 $= 3 (P = 0)$ 829	285 = 0.70); <i>I</i> .53) 0.4, df = 1 PV Events 27 35 36 23 121 = 0.77); <i>I</i> .16)	$P^{2} = 0\%$ P = 0 $P^{2} = 0\%$ $P^{2} = 0\%$ $P^{2} = 0\%$ $P^{2} = 0\%$ $P^{2} = 0\%$	.84); <i>I</i> <sup>2</sup> = 0% Weight 23.0% 27.2% 28.7% 21.1% 100.0%	Risk ratio M-H, fixed, 95%CI 0.95 (0.58, 1.53) 1.33 (0.88, 2.00) 1.17 (0.78, 1.75) 1.22 (0.74, 2.00) 1.17 (0.94, 1.46)	0.2	0.5 1 Favours PVP Risk M-H, fixe	L 2 Favours HA ratio d, 95%CI	5
Total events Heterogeneity: Chi <sup>2</sup> = Test for overall effect Test for subgroup dif Study or subgroup 1.4.1 Full texts Balaban 2003 Barak 2001 Majumdar 2013 Parmegiani 2010 Subtotal (95%CI) Total events Heterogeneity: Chi <sup>2</sup> = Test for overall effect Total (95%CI) Total events	292 = 5.50, df = :: z = 0.62 ferences: ( H/ Events 27 41 39 35 142 = 1.12, df = :: z = 1.40	$= 8 (P = 0)$ $Chi^{2} = 0$ $Chi^{2} = 0$ $A$ $Total$ $149$ $221$ $177$ $282$ $829$ $= 3 (P = 0)$ $829$	285 = 0.70); <i>I</i> .53) 0.4, df = 1 PV Events 27 35 36 23 121 = 0.77); <i>I</i> .16)	$\frac{1}{2} = 0\%$ $\frac{1}{2} = 0\%$ $\frac{1}{2} = 0\%$ $\frac{1}{2} = 0\%$ $\frac{1}{2} = 0\%$ $\frac{1}{2} = 0\%$	100.0 % Weight 23.0% 27.2% 28.7% 21.1% 100.0%	Risk ratio M-H, fixed, 95%CI 0.95 (0.58, 1.53) 1.33 (0.88, 2.00) 1.17 (0.78, 1.75) 1.22 (0.74, 2.00) 1.17 (0.94, 1.46) 1.17 (0.94, 1.46)	0.2	0.5 1 Favours PVP Risk M-H, fixe	L 2 Favours HA ratio d, 95%CI	5
Total (25 /0C1) Total events Heterogeneity: Chi <sup>2</sup> = Test for overall effect Test for subgroup dif Study or subgroup 1.4.1 Full texts Balaban 2003 Barak 2001 Majumdar 2013 Parmegiani 2010 Subtotal (95%CI) Total events Heterogeneity: Chi <sup>2</sup> = Test for overall effect Total (95%CI) Total events Heterogeneity: Chi <sup>2</sup> =	292 = 5.50, df =: :: z = 0.62 ferences: ( H/ Events 27 41 39 35 142 = 1.12, df =: :: z = 1.40 142 = 1.12, df =:	$= 8 (P = 0)$ $(P = 0)$ $Chi^{2} = 0$ A Total 149 221 177 282 829 $= 3 (P = 0)$ 829 $= 3 (P = 3)$	285 = 0.70); <i>I</i> .53) 0.4, df = 1 PV Events 27 35 36 23 121 = 0.77); <i>I</i> .16) 121 = 0.77); <i>I</i>	$\frac{1}{2} = 0\%$ $\frac{1}{2} = 0\%$ $\frac{1}{2} = 0\%$ $\frac{1}{2} = 0\%$ $\frac{1}{2} = 0\%$ $\frac{1}{2} = 0\%$	100.0 % Weight 23.0% 27.2% 28.7% 21.1% 100.0%	Risk ratio M-H, fixed, 95%CI 0.95 (0.58, 1.53) 1.33 (0.88, 2.00) 1.17 (0.78, 1.75) 1.22 (0.74, 2.00) 1.17 (0.94, 1.46)	0.2	0.5 1 Favours PVP Risk M-H, fixe	L 2 Favours HA ratio d, 95%CI	5
Total events Heterogeneity: Chi <sup>2</sup> = Test for overall effect Test for subgroup dif Study or subgroup 1.4.1 Full texts Balaban 2003 Barak 2001 Majumdar 2013 Parmegiani 2010 Subtotal (95%CI) Total events Heterogeneity: Chi <sup>2</sup> = Test for overall effect Total (95%CI) Total events Heterogeneity: Chi <sup>2</sup> = Test for overall effect	292 = 5.50, df =: :: z = 0.62 ferences: ( H/ Events 27 41 39 35 142 = 1.12, df =: :: z = 1.40	$= 8 (P = 0)$ $(P = 0)$ $Chi^{2} = 0$ A Total 149 221 177 282 829 $= 3 (P = 0)$ 829 $= 3 (P = 0)$ (P = 0)	285 = 0.70); <i>I</i> .53) 0.4, df = 1 PV Events 27 35 36 23 121 = 0.77); <i>I</i> .16)	$\frac{1}{2} = 0\%$ $\frac{1}{2} = 0\%$ $\frac{1}{2} = 0\%$ $\frac{141}{250}$ $\frac{141}{226}$ $\frac{191}{226}$ $\frac{2}{2} = 0\%$ $\frac{808}{2} = 0\%$	100.0 % Weight 23.0% 27.2% 28.7% 21.1% 100.0%	Risk ratio M-H, fixed, 95%CI 0.95 (0.58, 1.53) 1.33 (0.88, 2.00) 1.17 (0.78, 1.75) 1.22 (0.74, 2.00) 1.17 (0.94, 1.46) 1.17 (0.94, 1.46)	0.2	0.5 1 Favours PVP Risk M-H, fixe	L 2 Favours HA ratio d, 95%CI	5

Figure 5 Secondary endpoints. A: The forest plot showing clinical pregnancy rate per transfer. Risk ratio is shown with 95%CI; B: The forest plot showing implantation rate per embryo transferred. Risk ratio is shown with 95%CI. HA: Hyaluronic acid; PVP: Polyvinylpyrrolidone.



155

Sub-group analysis considering the quality of the sperm, previous failed ICSI cycles, infertility cause, number and quality of transferred embryos should be considered in order to eliminate confounding factors.

Until then, this review may provide reassurance of non inferiority of one method over another for embryologists and laboratory staff involved in the acquisition of laboratory materials.

#### COMMENTS

#### Background

The majority of patients undergoing intracytoplasmic sperm injection (ICSI) treatment will reach the stage of embryo transfer due to important improvements of ovarian stimulation protocols and laboratory technology, but only a small proportion of transferred embryos implant leading to an overall success rate of 10%-40%.

#### **Research frontiers**

Several methods (ultramorphology, surface electric charge, apoptotic vs nonapoptotic, chromatin structure assay) have been recently proposed for optimising the sperm selection in order to reduce the risk of chromosomal anomalies associated with poor ICSI outcome.

#### Innovations and breakthroughs

Hyaluronic acid has been proposed as a physiological alternative to polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP) for use as a selection medium to reduce sperm motility as a solution for the reported toxicity and unknown long term effects of PVP. Several studies investigated this method, but this is the first meta-analysis to assess the effect of using hyaluronic acid compared to PVP.

#### Applications

The results of this meta-analysis combining the outcomes from 11 randomised controlled trials concluded that there is no difference between hyaluronic acid and PVP for sperm immobilisation and selection before ICSI in terms of fertilisation, embryo quality, clinical pregnancy, implantation and live birth rates.

#### Terminology

Sperm immobilisation and selection is an important step in the ICSI process and refers to the use of a medium in the laboratory for reducing the speed of sperm in order to allow its manipulation in the ICSI process.

#### Peer-review

The peer-reviewers appreciated the completeness of this meta-analysis. The manuscript was assessed as being well prepared, interesting, clear and well defined.

#### REFERENCES

- Sakkas D. Novel technologies for selecting the best sperm for in vitro fertilization and intracytoplasmic sperm injection. *Fertil Steril* 2013; 99: 1023-1029 [PMID: 23357456 DOI: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.20 12.12.025]
- 2 **Henkel R**. Sperm preparation: state-of-the-art--physiological aspects and application of advanced sperm preparation methods. *Asian J Androl* 2012; **14**: 260-269 [PMID: 22138904 DOI: 10.1038/ aja.2011.133]
- 3 Huszar G, Jakab A, Sakkas D, Ozenci CC, Cayli S, Delpiano E, Ozkavukcu S. Fertility testing and ICSI sperm selection by hyaluronic acid binding: clinical and genetic aspects. *Reprod Biomed Online* 2007; 14: 650-663 [PMID: 17509211 DOI: 10.1016/S1472-6483(10)61060-7]
- 4 Kato Y, Nagao Y. Effect of polyvinylpyrrolidone on sperm function and early embryonic development following intracytoplasmic sperm injection in human assisted reproduction. *Reprod Med Biol* 2012; 11: 165-176 [PMID: 23483084 DOI: 10.1007/s12522-012-0126-9]

- 5 Barak Y, Menezo Y, Veiga A, Elder K. A physiological replacement for polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP) in assisted reproductive technology. *Hum Fertil* (Camb) 2001; 4: 99-103 [PMID: 11591264 DOI: 10.1080/ 1464727012000199371]
- 6 Said TM, Land JA. Effects of advanced selection methods on sperm quality and ART outcome: a systematic review. *Hum Reprod Update* 2011; 17: 719-733 [PMID: 21873262 DOI: 10.1093/humupd/ dmr032]
- 7 Yetunde I, Vasiliki M. Effects of advanced selection methods on sperm quality and ART outcome. *Minerva Ginecol* 2013; 65: 487-496 [PMID: 24096286]
- 8 Parmegiani L, Cognigni GE, Filicori M. Sperm selection: effect on sperm DNA quality. *Adv Exp Med Biol* 2014; **791**: 151-172 [PMID: 23955678 DOI: 10.1007/978-1-4614-7783-9\_10]
- 9 Richardson WS, Wilson MC, Nishikawa J, Hayward RS. The wellbuilt clinical question: a key to evidence-based decisions. ACP J Club 1995; 123: A12-A13 [PMID: 7582737]
- Review Manager (RevMan) [Computer program]. Version 5.2. Copenhagen: The Nordic Cochrane Centre, The Cochrane Collaboration, 2012
- 11 Egger M, Smith GD, Altman DG. Systematic reviews in healthcare. London: BMJ Publishing, 2006
- 12 Higgins JP, Thompson SG. Quantifying heterogeneity in a metaanalysis. *Stat Med* 2002; 21: 1539-1558 [PMID: 12111919 DOI: 10.1002/sim.1186]
- 13 DerSimonian R, Laird N. Meta-analysis in clinical trials. *Control Clin Trials* 1986; 7: 177-188 [PMID: 3802833 DOI: 10.1016/0197-2 456(86)90046-2]
- 14 Higgins JPT, Green S, editors. Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 5.1.0. [accessed 2011 Mar]. The Cochrane Collaboration, 2011
- 15 Brozek J, Oxman A, Schünemann HJ. GRADEpro. [Computer program]. Version 3.2 for Windows. [accessed 2010 Oct 21]. Available from: URL: http://mcmaster.flintbox.com/technology. asp?Page=3993
- 16 Balaban B, Lundin K, Morrell JM, Tjellström H, Urman B, Holmes PV. An alternative to PVP for slowing sperm prior to ICSI. *Hum Reprod* 2003; 18: 1887-1889 [PMID: 12923144 DOI: 10.1093/ humrep/deg385]
- 17 Castillo-Baso J, Garcia-Villafana G, Santos-Haliscak R, Diaz P, Sepluveda-Gonzalez J, Hernandez-Ayup S. Embryo quality and reproductive outcomes of spermatozoa selected by physiologic-ICSI or conventional ICSI in patients with Kruger <4% and >4% normomorphology. *Fertil Steril* 2011; **96**: S159 [DOI: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2 011.07.623]
- 18 Choe SA, Tae JC, Shin MY, Kim HJ, Kim CH, Lee JY, Hwang D, Kim KC, Suh CS, Jee BC. Application of sperm selection using hyaluronic acid binding in intracytoplasmic sperm injection cycles: a sibling oocyte study. *J Korean Med Sci* 2012; 27: 1569-1573 [PMID: 23255860 DOI: 10.3346/jkms.2012.27.12.1569]
- 19 Gandhi G, Allahbadia G, Kagalwala S, Allahbadia A, Ramesh S, Patel K, Hinduja R, Chipkar V, Madne M, Ramani R. Effect of sperm selection using hyaluronic acid binding on reproductive outcome with donated oocyte cycles. *Human reproduction* 2013; 28: i149-i206
- 20 Majumdar G, Majumdar A. A prospective randomized study to evaluate the effect of hyaluronic acid sperm selection on the intracytoplasmic sperm injection outcome of patients with unexplained infertility having normal semen parameters. *J Assist Reprod Genet* 2013; **30**: 1471-1475 [PMID: 24085466 DOI: 10.1007/s10815-013-0108-9]
- 21 Moon JH, Heo YS, Yoon SH, Jeong JH, Park SP, Lim JH. Effect of Hyaluronic Acid (HA) as a Substitute for Polyvinyl-Pyrrolidone (PVP) on ICSI Outcome. *Fertil Steril* 2000; 74: S163 [DOI: 10.1016/S0015-0282(00)01190-0]
- 22 Parmegiani L, Cognigni GE, Bernardi S, Troilo E, Ciampaglia W, Filicori M. "Physiologic ICSI": hyaluronic acid (HA) favors selection of spermatozoa without DNA fragmentation and with normal nucleus, resulting in improvement of embryo quality. *Fertil Steril* 2010; **93**: 598-604 [PMID: 19393999 DOI: 10.1016/j.fertnster t.2009.03.033]



- 23 Van Den Bergh MJ, Fahy-Deshe M, Hohl MK. Pronuclear zygote score following intracytoplasmic injection of hyaluronan-bound spermatozoa: a prospective randomized study. *Reprod Biomed Online* 2009; **19**: 796-801 [PMID: 20031019 DOI: 10.1016/ j.rbmo.2009.09.022]
- 24 Worrilow KC, Huynh HT, Bower J, Peters AJ, Johnston JB. The clinical impact associated with the use of PICSI TM-derived embryos. *Fertil Steril* 2006; **86**: S62 [DOI: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2006.

07.169]

25 Worrilow KC, Eid S, Woodhouse D, Perloe M, Smith S, Witmyer J, Ivani K, Khoury C, Ball GD, Elliot T, Lieberman J. Use of hyaluronan in the selection of sperm for intracytoplasmic sperm injection (ICSI): significant improvement in clinical outcomes-multicenter, double-blinded and randomized controlled trial. *Hum Reprod* 2013; 28: 306-314 [PMID: 23203216 DOI: 10.1093/humrep/des417]

P- Reviewer: Cosmi E, Messinis IE, Sandrine MLC S- Editor: Tian YL L- Editor: A E- Editor: Wang CH







#### Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc

8226 Regency Drive, Pleasanton, CA 94588, USA Telephone: +1-925-223-8242 Fax: +1-925-223-8243 E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx http://www.wjgnet.com

